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EMGOLD MINING ACHIEVES IMPORTANT PERMITTING MILESTONE  

FOR THE IDAHO-MARYLAND MINE 
 
Emgold Mining Corporation (EMR-TSX Venture) (the “Company” or “Emgold”) is pleased to announce 
that the City of Grass Valley (“City”) has issued a Letter of Completeness to the Idaho-Maryland Mining 
Corporation (“IMMC”), the US subsidiary of Emgold Mining Corporation, engaged in permitting and 
subsequently re-developing the Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine located in Grass Valley, California .  
 
In June of 2006 the City completed a Master Environmental Assessment (“MEA”).  The MEA outlined items 
regarding the development of the Idaho-Maryland and was the initial basis for local community input.  
Emgold’s submission of revised application documents contained responses to City and local resident input, 
including modifications to the original application to address community interests.  The process of 
submitting original documents and then revising them, based on community input, is a standard and integral 
part of any mine permitting process throughout the world regardless of jurisdiction, and it is provided for 
under the California Environmental Permitting Act (“CEQA”).  
 
With receipt of the Letter of Completeness, Emgold is looking forward to initiating the next step of the 
permitting process, which includes the preparation of the Initial Study by the City’s consultants which should 
take approximately four months to complete.  Upon completion of the Initial Study, the City and their 
consultants can begin the Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”).  This phase of the permitting process is 
expected to take about six months to complete.  Following acceptance of the EIR, the City will determine if a 
Conditional Mine Use Permit (a full mine operation permit) will be issued to IMMC.  Currently Emgold 
Mining Corporation anticipates the Permit may be issued in approximately one year’s time.  
 
For more information about Emgold, the Stewart, Rozan and Jazz Properties in British Columbia, the Idaho-
Maryland Project and the Ceramext™ process, please visit www.emgold.com or www.sedar.com. 
 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, 

William J. (Bill) Witte, P.Eng. 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

For further information please contact: 
Michael O’Connor, Manager, Investor Relations  

Tel:  (604) 687-4622  Fax:  (604) 687-4212 
Email: info@emgold.com 

 
No regulatory authority has approved or disapproved the information contained in this news release. 

This news release includes certain statements that may be deemed "forward -looking statements". All statements in this release, other than statements 
of historical facts, that address future production, reserve potential, exploration drilling, exploitation activities and events or developments that the 
Company expects are forward-looking statements. Although the Company believes the expectations expressed in such forward looking statements are 
based on reasonable assumptions, such statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results or developments may differ materially 
from those in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in forward -looking statements 
include market prices, exploitation and exploration successes, and continued availability of capital and financing, and general economic, market or 
business conditions. Investors are cautioned that any such statements are not guarantees of future performance and that actual results or 
developments may differ materially from those projected in the forward -looking statements. For more information on the Company, Investors should 
review the Company's filings that are available at www.sedar.com or the Company's website at www.emgold.com. 
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EMGOLD ACHIEVES IMPORTANT MILESTONE IN 

GOLD MINE PERMIT APPLICATION 

Emgold Mining Corporation (EMR-TSX Venture) (the “Company” or “Emgold”) is pleased to announce 
the completion of an important milestone in the permit application to reopen and operate the Idaho-Maryland 
Gold Mine located in Grass Valley, California. The Idaho-Maryland Gold mine historically was the second 
largest producing gold mine in California. From 1862 to 1956, the Idaho-Maryland Mine produced 
approximately 2.4 million ounces of gold at an average grade of 0.43 ounce per ton including 1 million 
ounces of gold contained in one million tons from the Idaho #1 Stope, the third largest bonanza ore shoot in 
the world. 

The City of Grass Valley (“City”) has completed the “Idaho-Maryland Mine Project Initial Study.” 
Completion of the Initial Study marks the successful conclusion of Phase Two of the three Phase mine 
permitting process to reopen and operate the mine. Completion of the Initial Study is a significant 
achievement by Emgold and the City. Phase three of the permitting process, the preparation of the 
Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”), has commenced. 

David Watkinson, President and COO of Emgold stated, “We are very pleased to see the permitting process 
progress to the third and final stage for the Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine. The Company’s focus over the 
coming year will be to complete the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) process, complete the 
Final Environmental Impact Report, and obtain the Conditional Mine Use Permit (CMUP) from the City. We 
are very fortunate to be applying under CEQA, a well defined and controlled process through which over 40 
gold mines have obtained their CMUP’s since the early 1960’s. In 2004, based on the latest statistics 
available, the National Mining Association reported that California was the largest non-fuel mineral 
producing state in the U.S., with 590 operating mines, employing 12,840 people, and contributing $3.7 
billion directly to the state economy.  Directly and indirectly, the mining industry in California contributed 
75,900 jobs and $14.4 billion to the state economy. Emgold is developing the Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine in 
an environmentally and socially responsible manner, and is looking forward to making a positive 
contribution to the City of Grass Valley and the State of California.” 

ABOUT EMGOLD 

Emgold Mining Corporation is a gold exploration and emerging production-company. Emgold is focused on 
the permitting, exploration and re-opening of the Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine, located in Grass Valley, 
California. The Grass Valley Mining District produced 17million ounces of gold from 1850 until 1956 at 
which time mines started shutting down due to the fixed gold price of $35 per ounce and rising labour costs 
following World War II. The Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine historically was the second largest underground 
gold mine in California and is located adjacent to the Empire/Northstar Mine which was last operated by 
Newmont Mining Corporation and produced 5.8 million ounces of gold. Over its operating life, the Idaho-
Maryland Gold Mine produced 2.4 million ounces of gold.  Emgold has a significant NI 43-101 compliant 
resource and has identified 26 large exploration targets and 216 resource blocks with significant additional 



 

exploration potential amongst a total of 754 exploration targets.  To learn more about Emgold and to read a 
recent Wall Street Journal article please visit www.emgold.com. 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, 

Sargent H. Berner 
Co-Executive Chairman 

 
For further information please contact: 

Michael O’Connor, Manager, Investor Relations 
Tel:  (604) 687-4622  Fax:  (604) 687-4212 

Email: info@emgold.com 
 

No regulatory authority has approved or disapproved the information contained in this news release. 
 

This news release includes certain statements that may be deemed "forward-looking statements". All statements in this release, other than statements 
of historical facts, that address future production, reserve potential, exploration drilling, exploitation activities and events or developments that the 
Company expects are forward-looking statements. Although the Company believes the expectations expressed in such forward-looking statements are 
based on reasonable assumptions, such statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results or developments may differ materially 
from those in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in forward-looking statements 
include market prices, exploitation and exploration successes, and continued availability of capital and financing, and general economic, market or 
business conditions. Investors are cautioned that any such statements are not guarantees of future performance and that actual results or 
developments may differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. For more information on the Company, Investors should 
review the Company's filings that are available at www.sedar.com  or the Company's website at www.emgold.com . 
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EMGOLD RECEIVES DRAFT ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT 
FOR THE IDAHO-MARYLAND MINE PROJECT 

 
Emgold Mining Corporation (“Emgold” or the “Company”) is pleased to announce that the City of 
Grass Valley has published the Draft Environmental Impact Report (DEIR) for the Idaho-Maryland 
Project (the “Project”).  This is another major milestone in the permitting process necessary to reopen 
the historic Idaho-Maryland Mine, located in Grass Valley, CA.  The City of Grass Valley is the Lead 
Agency overseeing review of the Project under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and 
the California Surface Mining and Reclamation Act (SMARA). 

The Idaho-Maryland Mine was historically California’s second largest underground gold mine 
producing 2.4 million ounces of gold from 1862 to 1956 at an average grade of 0.43 ounces per ton 
grade.  It is adjacent to the historic Empire Mine, which was Newmont Mining Corporation’s first 
operating mine.  The Empire Mine produced 5.8 million ounces of gold from 1850 to 1956.  Newmont 
retains the mineral rights to this property.  The Grass Valley Mining District produced over 17 million 
ounces of gold and is historically one of the richest gold districts in North America. 

Emgold’s plans are to permit, dewater, rehabilitate, explore, and reopen the Idaho-Maryland Mine.  
Current NI 43-101 compliant resources, based on historic data from previous mine operations, include 
472,000 ounces of measured and indicated resources (1.67 million tons at 0.28 opt gold) and 1,002,000 
ounces of inferred resources (2.57 million tons at 0.39 opt gold).  Emgold believes the exploration 
potential at the Idaho-Maryland Mine is significant and could be comparable to gold resources and 
reserves found at the similar mines in the Red Lake gold district of Ontario, subject to additional 
exploration activities that will occur at the Idaho-Maryland Mine once dewatering of the mine 
workings is complete. 

Emgold is pleased to announce that the DEIR indicates that, in all areas except air quality, the 
Company has been able to successfully mitigate potential impacts of the Project so they have no 
impact, less than a significant impact, or less than a significant impact with mitigation measures in 
place.  These areas include aesthetics; biological resources; cultural resources; geology, soil, 
seismicity, and mineral resources; hazards and hazardous materials; hydrology and water quality; land 
use planning; noise; population and housing; public services; recreation; transportation and traffic; 
utilities and services systems; and energy.  This is a major accomplishment for any mining and/or 
industrial project, regardless of the jurisdiction. 

In the area of air quality, significant and unavoidable impacts were determined for oxides of nitrogen 
only.  Potentially significant impacts were determined for reactive organic gases and respirable 
particulate matter.  Emgold has worked with the City and their consultants to reduce these potential 
impacts through mitigation measures and potential project alternatives, but impacts would remain 



 
significant and unavoidable for oxides of nitrogen during construction and operation of the mine.  An 
Offsite Air Emission Reduction Plan will be implemented to mitigate onsite emissions.   

In the area of cumulative impacts, the Project would have significant and unavoidable cumulative 
impacts in the area of greenhouse gas emissions.  This is because the Project could conflict with state 
goals for reducing greenhouse gas emissions.  At the same time, the Project would not individually be 
likely to have any impact on global climate change.  A Greenhouse Gas Reduction Plan will be 
implemented to mitigate greenhouse gas emissions.   

The Project would also have significant and unavoidable cumulative impacts by contributing to 
regional criteria pollutants.  Any project that would individually have a significant air quality impact 
(the oxides of nitrogen, reactive organic gases, and respirable particulate matter outlined above) would 
also be considered to have a cumulatively considerable contribution to a significant cumulative air 
quality impact. The Offsite Air Emission Reduction Plan will be implemented to mitigate onsite 
cumulative emissions. 

Four project alternatives were analyzed as part of the CEQA process including the No Project 
Alternative (required by law), Electrification of Mine Operations, Reduced Ceramics Plant Production, 
and Electrification of Mine Operations and Reduced Ceramics Plant Production (combined).  The last 
three project alternatives were determined to be feasible and will reduce air quality impacts. 

David Watkinson, President and Chief Operating Officer for Emgold, said, “After an initial review of 
the Draft Environmental Impact Report, we are elated that we have been able to reduce the potential 
impacts of the Project to such a degree where only air quality is a significant and unavoidable impact.  
For the size and scope of a project like the Idaho-Maryland Mine, this is a major accomplishment.  The 
City and their consultants have worked hard to come up with mitigations to offset the potential impacts 
of the Project and to ensure the Project is a good one for the community of Grass Valley.  Given the 
recent economic conditions in the U.S., and especially in California, this Project will have many 
positive impacts for Grass Valley and Nevada County, including 400 quality high paying jobs, 
diversification of the economy, revenue for local government, and clean up of a historic legacy mine 
site.  We look forward to the Project moving forward through the Planning Commission and City 
Council, and are thankful for the continued support we get from the residents of Grass Valley.  Our 
goal is to build a project that benefits the community as well as the shareholders of Emgold”. 

The DEIR will now be reviewed by the City of Grass Valley Planning Commission to determine if it is 
adequate and meets the requirements of CEQA.  This will include a 45 day public comment period that 
commenced on October 30, 2008.  The Planning Commission completed a site visit on October 21, 
2008, and the City will now hold public meetings and a public workshop as part of the Planning 
Commission’s review of the DEIR.  At the end of the 45 day public comment period, the City and its 
consultants will address public comments received during the public comment period and then finalize 
the Environmental Impact Report.  The Final Environmental Impact Report (FEIR) will then be 
published and the Planning Commission will be requested to approve it as being adequate and meeting 
the requirements of CEQA.   

The Planning Commission will be asked to review the entitlements for the Project which include a 
Conditional Mine Use Permit (CMUP), Reclamation Plan, General Plan Application, Rezone/Prezone 
Application, and Annexation Application.  These are additional applications that were included as 
submissions to the City that also require formal approval to allow the Project to move forward.  Public 
meetings and a public workshop will be held by the City as part of the entitlements review.  The 
Planning Commission will then be requested to approve the entitlement applications as complete.   



 
The City Council will then review the FEIR and entitlements together.  Public meetings and a public 
workshop will be held as part of the City Council’s review of the Project.  At the end of this process, 
the City Council will be asked to certify the FEIR as complete according to CEQA and approve the 
entitlements.  Assuming the FEIR is certified and entitlements approved by City Council, final 
operating permits would be obtained for the Project.  

Emgold is permitting the operation of a 2,400 ton per day gold mine and gold processing facility as 
part of the Idaho-Maryland Project.  Upon successful completion of mine permits, Emgold’s plan is to 
become a mid-tier producing gold company within the next 5 years.  Information on the company can 
be found at www.emgold.com. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
David Watkinson, P. Eng. 
President, COO and Director 
 
For further information please contact: 
Jeffery Stuart, Manager of Business Development and Investor Relations  
Tel: (604) 687-4622 or 1-888-267-1400 ext. 248   Email: info@emgold.com 
 
No regulatory authority has approved or disapproved the information contained in this news release.  
 
This news release includes certain statements that may be deemed "forward-looking statements". All statements in this release, other than 
statements of historical facts, that address future production, reserve potential, exploration drilling, exploitation activities and events or 
developments that the Company expects are forward-looking statements. Although the Company believes the expectations expressed in 
such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, such statements are not guarantees of future performance and 
actual results or developments may differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results 
to differ materially from those in forward-looking statements include market prices, exploitation and exploration successes, and 
continued availability of capital and financing, and general economic, market or business conditions. Investors are cautioned that any 
such statements are not guarantees of future performance and that actual results or developments may differ materially from those 
projected in the forward-looking statements. For more information on the Company, Investors should review the Company's filings that 
are available at www.sedar.com or the Company's website at www.emgold.com  
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EMGOLD MINING CORPORATION – SHAREHOLDER UPDATE 

 
February 23, 2009, Vancouver, BC - Emgold Mining Corporation (EMR - TSX Venture) (the 
“Company” or “Emgold”) is pleased to provide its shareholders with the following update: 

The Idaho-Maryland Project, located in Grass Valley, CA 

Emgold announces that the Company has negotiated an extension to the Mining Lease and Option 
to Purchase Agreement for the Idaho-Maryland Mine located in Grass Valley, California.  The 
revised agreement extends the purchase option exercise date from December 31, 2008, to February 
1, 2011.  As part of the revised agreement all other conditions of the original Option and Lease 
Agreement, including the option purchase price and net smelter royalty, remain unchanged.  The 
quarterly lease payments of US$75,000 have been reduced beginning February 1, 2009, to 
US$30,000 per quarter for four quarters and commencing on February 1, 2010, the quarterly lease 
payment shall be US$60,000 per quarter through to and including February 1, 2011. 

"We are very pleased that the owners of the Idaho-Maryland Mine agreed to the extension of the 
purchase option date to February 1, 2011, and reduced the quarterly lease payments," said David 
Watkinson, President and COO of Emgold Mining Corporation.  "The revised lease payments will 
reduce Emgold’s operating costs over the next two years allowing us to focus our expenditures on 
completing the permitting process for the Idaho-Maryland Mine." 

On January 20th, 2009, the public comment period for the Draft Environmental Impact Report 
(“EIR”) was completed.  The City of Grass Valley (the “City”) and their consultants Environmental 
Science Associates (“ESA”) are now compiling and analyzing the comments received from the 
public.  Mr. Watkinson stated, “Many good comments were received from the public, all of which 
will be addressed prior to publishing the Final EIR.  We will work with the City of Grass Valley 
and their consultants to determine what additional work, if any, will be required to complete the 
Final EIR.  We look forward to building a project that will benefit community of Grass Valley 
including job creation, economic diversity, and clean up of an existing legacy mine site.” 

The Idaho-Maryland Mine will bring up to 400 permanent jobs to the City, approximately half of 
which are expected to be local hires.  Including construction jobs, there will be over 20 years of 
employment in excess of 400 people.  Given the state of the U.S. economy and that of California, 
this project will generate significant local, state, and federal tax dollars.  In addition, the project will 
have the environmental benefit of cleaning up an existing legacy mine site.  At closure, the site will 
be reclaimed and the buildings and property will be transferred to an alternative business park use 
for future economic benefit for the City.  The project also includes an Education Center and 
Outdoor Historical Mining Display Park that will be a tourist attraction for the City. 



 
Projected Total Staffing for the Idaho-Maryland Project 

Year Temporary 
Construction 
Employees 

Permanent 
Employees 

Reclamation 
Employees 

Total 
Employees 

Year 1 265   265 
Year 2 265 210  475 
Year 3 265 210  475 
Year 4 350 210  560 
Year 5 350 210  560 
Year 6 350 310  660 
Year 7 140 310  450 
Year 8 140 400  450 
Year 9-22  400  400 
Year 23   20 20 

 
 
Mr. Watkinson stated, “As the U.S. economy has worsened, we have seen increasing gold prices 
now approaching US$1,000 per ounce.  The Idaho-Maryland Project would be an ideal opportunity 
for the state of California at this time, given its financial crisis.  In the last year, the City has 
experienced the closure or relocation of two major car dealerships as well as the closure of a 
number of local businesses.  Additionally, the City has had to furlough employees due to decreased 
revenue.  The Idaho-Maryland Project will help support the local and state economy, and it will be 
built in an environmentally and socially responsible manner.” 

Appointment of Chief Financial Officer 

Emgold is pleased to announce the appointment of Mr. Kenneth R. Yurichuk as the Company’s 
Chief Financial Office to replace Mr. Jonathan Fogg, who has submitted his resignation in order to 
pursue other opportunities.  Mr. Yurichuk has served as a member of the Company’s Board of 
Directors since June 2006, and as Co-Executive Chairman and Co-CEO of the Company since July 
2007, positions shared with Mr. Sargent H. Berner.  As prescribed by applicable TSX Venture 
Exchange policy, which does not allow the same person to hold both CEO and CFO positions, Mr. 
Yurichuk has resigned his position as the Company’s Co-CEO effective as of the date of his 
appointment as CFO.   

Mr. Yurichuk is a Chartered Accountant and senior partner in the public accounting firm of Bobot 
& Yurichuk LLP, Chartered Accountants, Toronto.  Mr. Yurichuk has been in public practice for 
over 30 years and has served as director and officer of private and publicly-traded corporations 
involved in a wide range of businesses including mining, real estate development, investment and 
manufacturing. Mr. Yurichuk holds a B.Com degree as well as the CA designation. 

The Company’s Board of Directors and Management thank its outgoing CFO, Mr. Jonathan Fogg, 
for his contribution during his tenure and wish him every success in his future endeavours. 



 
Private Placement Financing 

Emgold is pleased to announce, that subject to TSX Venture Exchange acceptance, it is proceeding 
with a non-brokered private placement offering (the “Offering”) to raise gross proceeds of up to 
US$800,000 through the offer and sale of units (the “Units”) of the Company at a price of US$0.04 
per Unit.  This Offering may be closed in one or more tranches. 

Each Unit will be comprised of one fully paid and non-assessable common share of the Company (a 
“Common Share”) and one non-transferable common share purchase warrant (a “Warrant”).  Each 
Warrant will entitle the subscriber to subscribe for one additional previously unissued common 
share (a “Warrant Share”) in the capital of the Company for a period of 24 months following the 
date of issue at an exercise price of US$0.12 per Warrant Share for the first twelve month period 
from the date of issue of the Warrant and at a price of US$0.16 per Warrant Share for the remaining 
12 month period.  All securities issued or issuable in connection with the Offering will be subject to 
a hold period and may not be traded for four months plus one day from the date of closing. 

Emgold may pay finder’s fees in accordance with TSX Venture Exchange policies, on subscriptions 
received pursuant to the Offering in the form of cash equal to 10% of the proceeds raised from the 
sale of Units in the Offering to subscribers arranged by eligible finders.   

The securities offered have not been registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, 
as amended, and may not be offered or sold in the United States absent registration or an 
available exemption from the registration requirements.  This press release shall not 
constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy nor shall there be any sale of the 
securities in any State in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful. 

The proceeds of the Offering will be used primarily to cover ongoing costs associated with the 
Company’s permitting application for the Idaho-Maryland Mine and for general working capital. 

 
 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 
 

Sargent H. Berner 
Co-Executive Chairman & CEO 

 
For further information please contact: 

Jeff Stuart, Manager, Business Development & Investor Relations 
Tel: 604-687-4622  Toll Free: 1-888-267-1400 

Email: info@emgold.com 
 
 
This release was prepared by the Company’s management.  Neither TSX Venture Exchange nor its Regulation Services Provider (as 
the term is defines in the policies of the TSX Venture Exchange) accepts responsibility for the adequacy or accuracy of this release. 
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY 
 

To the Shareholders of Emgold Mining Corporation: 

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying Consolidated Financial 
Statements, including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting principles 
and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is 
required. 

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial statements, 
management designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records are properly 
maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements. 

The Board of Directors and the Audit Committee are composed primarily of Directors who are neither 
management nor employees of the Company. The Board is responsible for overseeing management in the 
performance of its financial reporting responsibilities. The Board fulfills these responsibilities by reviewing the 
financial information prepared by management and discussing relevant matters with management and external 
auditors. The Audit Committee has the responsibility of meeting with management, and external auditors to 
discuss the internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing matters and financial reporting issues. 
The Board is also responsible for recommending the appointment of Emgold’s external auditors. 

We draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements which indicates the existence of a material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

MNP LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, is appointed by the shareholders to audit the 
consolidated financial statements and report directly to them; their report follows.  The external auditors have full 
and free access to, and meet periodically and separately with, both the Audit Committee and management to 
discuss their audit findings. 

 

30 April 2013 

 

 

“David Watkinson”  “Grant T. Smith” 

David Watkinson, President & CEO  Grant T. Smith, CFO 

 



  
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
To the Shareholders of Emgold Mining Corporation: 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Emgold Mining Corporation and its subsidiaries, 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2012 and the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss, changes in equity, and cash flows for the year then ended and the related notes, 
which comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors' Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Emgold Mining Corporation and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2012, and the results of their financial performance 
and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going 
concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations 
and has accumulated deficit that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management's 
plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 1. The financial statements do not include any adjustments 
that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. 
 
Other Matter 
The financial statements of Emgold Mining Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2011, were audited by another 
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on April 19, 2012. 

 

 

 

 
April 30, 2013 

Vancouver, British Columbia Chartered Accountants 

 

ACCOUNTING  ›  CONSULTING  ›  TAX
2300, 1055 DUNSMUIR STREET, BOX 49148, VANCOUVER, BC  V7X 1J1

1.877.688.8408  P: 1.877.688.8408  F: 604.685.8594  mnp.ca



EMGOLD MINING CORPORATION 
Statement 1 

US Dollars 

 
 

 

1 | P a g e  
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

     As at   

 
 

Note    
31 December 

2012  
31 December 

2011 

ASSETS        

Current Assets        
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 62,053 $ 965,102 
Amounts receivable      85,178  79,225 
Due from related parties (11)    -  28,531 
Prepaid amounts and deposits     34,908  42,966 

     182,139  1,115,824 

Non-current Assets        
Reclamation bonds     21,216  11,932 
Marketable securities (7)    -  17,071 
Property and equipment (8)    10,307  18,176 
Exploration and evaluation assets (9)    1,464,274  1,035,163 

    $ 1,677,936 $ 2,198,166 

LIABILITIES        

Current Liabilities        
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    $ 706,137 $ 303,019 
Due to related parties (11)    388,519  160,965 
Warrant liability – current portion (10)    10,815  - 

     1,105,471  463,984 

Non-current Liabilities        
Warrant liability (10)    19,596  1,079,253 

     1,125,067  1,543,237 

EQUITY        
Share capital (10)    43,390,203  42,817,739 
Share purchase warrants (10)    686,349  1,219,617 
Contributed surplus  (10)    7,035,197  6,800,722 
Deficit     (50,558,880)  (50,183,149) 

     552,869  654,929 

    $ 1,677,936 $ 2,198,166 

Nature of operations and going concern (1) Capital disclosures (13) 

Basis of preparation - Statement of Compliance (2) Income taxes (14) 

Related parties (11) Contingent liability (15) 

Segmented disclosure (12) Subsequent events (16) 

 
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 April 2013 and were signed 
on its behalf by: 

“David Watkinson”  “Andrew MacRitchie” 

David Watkinson, Director  Andrew MacRitchie, Director 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
     Year ended  Year ended 

 Note    
31 December 

2012  
31 December 

2011 

EXPENSES        

Exploration and evaluation        

Resource property expense (9)   $ 1,145,129 $ 1,293,974 

Stock-based compensation  (10)    42,200  13,166 

        

General and administrative        

Salaries and benefits     159,679  213,358 

Shareholder communications     128,043  62,202 

Office and administration     110,071  90,011 

Stock-based compensation (10)    88,501  45,812 

Management and consulting fees     99,047  42,634 

Professional fees     85,659  175,381 

Insurance     17,244  - 

Amortization     10,925  14,478 

Listing and filing fees     3,025  - 

Travel     1,688  - 

Banking costs     1,088  - 

        

Other (income) loss        

Realized (gain) on sale of marketable securities     (3,311)  - 

Gain on sale of equipment     (3,850)  (1,000) 

Foreign exchange (gain)     (17,309)  (40,297) 

Unrealized (gain) loss on warranty liability     (1,492,098)  379,336 

Unrealized loss (gain) on marketable securities     -  49,005 

Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss    $ (375,731) $ (2,338,060) 

Net Loss per Common Share – Basic and Diluted    $ (0.01) $ (0.06) 

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding     59,089,573  40,189,279 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011 

  Shares  Amount Warrants  Amount Options  Amount  Deficit  
Shareholders’ 

Equity 

BALANCE 01 JANUARY 2011  38,552,444 $ 41,490,268 21,315,017 $ 1,271,008 3,113,998 $ 6,629,389 $ (47,845,089) $ 1,545,576 

Stock based compensation  -  - -  - -  58,978  -  58,978 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for 
the period  -  - -  - -  -  (380,185)  (380,185) 

BALANCE 31 MARCH 2011  38,552,444 $ 41,490,268 21,315,017 $ 1,271,008 3,113,998 $ 6,688,367 $ (48,225,274) $ 1,224,369 

Warrants expired, unexercised  -  - (511,500)  (48,520) -  48,520  -  - 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for 
the period  -  - -  - -  -  (412,693)  (412,693) 

BALANCE 30 JUNE 2011  38,552,444 $ 41,490,268 20,803,517 $ 1,222,488 3,113,998 $ 6,736,887 $ (48,637,967) $ 811,676 

Share subscriptions  -  212,541 -  - -  -  -  212,541 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for 
the period  -  - -  - -  -  (689,679)  (689,679) 

BALANCE 30 SEPTEMBER 2011  38,552,444 $ 41,702,809 20,803,517 $ 1,222,488 3,113,998 $ 6,736,887 $ (49,327,646) $ 334,538 

Shares issued for property  106,290  13,341 -  - -  -  -  13,341 

Subscription shares  -  (212,541) -  - -  -  -  (212,541) 

Private placements, less share issue 
costs  20,055,770  1,314,130 18,054,884  60,964 -  -  -  1,375,094 

Warrants expired, unexercised  -  - (350,000)  (63,835) -  63,835  -  - 

Options expired  -  - -  - (65,500)  -  -  - 

Options cancelled and forfeited  -  - -  - (175,833)  -  -  - 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for 
the period  -  - -  - -  -  (855,503)  (855,503) 

BALANCE 31 DECEMBER 2011  58,714,504 $ 42,817,739 38,508,401 $ 1,219,617 2,872,665 $ 6,800,722 $ (50,183,149) $ 654,929 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012 

  Shares  Amount Warrants  Amount Options  Amount  Deficit  
Shareholder 

Equity 

BALANCE 01 JANUARY 2012  58,714,504 $ 42,817,739 38,508,401 $ 1,219,617 2,872,665 $ 6,800,722 $ (50,183,149) $ 654,929 

Shares issued for property  100,000  10,000 -  - -  -  -  10,000 

Net loss and comprehensive gain for 
the period  -  - -  - -  -  24,437  24,437 

BALANCE 31 MARCH 2012  58,814,504 $ 42,827,739 38,508,401 $ 1,219,617 2,872,665 $ 6,800,722 $ (50,158,712) $ 689,366 

Warrants expired, unexercised  -  - (3,192,000)  (21,146)   21,146  -  - 

Stock based compensation  -  - -  - 2,700,000  158,172  -  158,172 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for 
the period  -  - -  - -  -  (516,751)  (516,751) 

BALANCE 30 JUNE 2012  58,814,504 $ 42,827,739 35,316,401 $ 1,198,471 5,572,665 $ 6,980,040 $ (50,675,463) $ 330,787 

Warrants exercised  70,000  7,000          7,000 

Fair value of warrants exercised  -  203 (70,000)  (203) -  -  -  - 

Warrants expired, unexercised  -  - (112,000)  (4,246) -  4,246  -  - 

Share subscriptions  -  114,289 -  - -  -  -  114,289 

Stock based compensation  -  - -  - -  13,413  -  13,413 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for 
the period  -  - -  - -  -  (406,122)  (406,122) 

BALANCE 30 SEPTEMBER 2012  58,884,504 $ 42,949,231 35,134,401 $ 1,194,022 5,572,665 $ 6,997,699 $ (51,081,585) $ 59,367 

Private placement issuances  6,642,857  452,041 3,321,428  - -  -  -  452,041 

Warrants exercised  1,124,101  112,410 -  - -  -  -  112,410 

Fair value of warrants exercised  -  3,260 (1,124,101)  (3,260) -  -  -  - 

Fair value of warrants re-priced  -  - -  (424,807) -  -  -  (424,807) 

Share issuance costs  -  (12,450) -  - -  -  -  (12,450) 

Options expired  -  - -  - (603,000)  -  -  - 

Warrants expired  -  - (1,835,944)  (79,606) -  79,606  -  - 

Share subscriptions  -  (114,289) -  - -  -  -  (114,289) 

Share based compensation  -  - -  - -  (42,108)  -  (42,108) 

Net income and comprehensive 
income for the period  -  - -  - -  -  522,705  522,705 

BALANCE 31 DECEMBER 2012  66,651,462 $ 43,390,203 35,495,784 $ 686,349 4,969,665 $ 7,035,197 $ (50,558,880) $ 552,869 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
     Year Ended  Year Ended 

     
31 December 

2012  
31 December 

2011 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES        

Loss for the Year    $ (375,731) $ (2,338,060) 

Items not Affecting Cash        
Stock-based compensation     130,701  58,978 
Amortization     10,925  14,478 
Effect of currency translation     (1,066)  (10,791) 

Gain on sale of equipment     (3,850)  (1,000) 
Realized / unrealized loss on marketable securities     6,831  49,005 
Unrealized (gain) loss on warranty liability     (1,492,098)  379,336 

    $ (1,724,288) $ (1,848,054) 

Net Change in Non-cash Working Capital        
Accounts receivable     (5,953)  (65,989) 
Prepaid expenses and deposits     8,058  9,226 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities     403,118  (25,037) 
Due to/from related parties     256,085  12,905 

    $ (1,062,980) $ (1,916,949) 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES        
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities     10,240  - 
Proceeds from sale of equipment     3,850  1,000 
Acquisition of property     (3,056)  - 
Purchase of reclamation deposit     (9,500)  - 
Resource property expenditures     (419,053)  - 

    $ (417,519) $ 1,000 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES        
Proceeds from share issuances     589,900  1,963,556 
Share issuance costs     (12,450)  - 

    $ 577,450 $ 1,963,556 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash     (903,049)  47,607 
Cash position – beginning of year     965,102  917,495 

Cash Position – End of Year    $ 62,053 $ 965,102 

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURE         
Cash paid for interest    $ - $ - 
Cash paid for income taxes    $ - $ - 

Fair value transfer on warrant expiry    $ 104,998 $ 112,355 
Fair value transfer on warrant exercise    $ 3,463 $ - 
Shares issued for mineral property    $ 10,000 $ 13,341 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1) Nature of operations and going concern 

Emgold Mining Corporation (“the Company”) is incorporated under the British Columbia Corporations Act and the 
principal place of business is located at 1010 - 789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 1H2.  The 
Company is in the process of exploring its mineral property interests and has not yet determined whether its 
mineral property interests contain mineral reserves that are economically recoverable.  The Company’s shares are 
traded on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) and the OTCQX. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the accounting principles applicable to 
a going concern, which assumes the Company’s ability to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and to 
realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations.  

There are several adverse conditions that cast significant doubt upon the soundness of this assumption. The 
Company has negative working capital, has incurred operating losses since inception, has no source of revenue, is 
unable to self-finance operations and has significant on-going cash requirements to meet its overhead and 
maintain its mineral interests.  Further, the business of mining and exploration involves a high degree of risk and 
there can be no assurance that current exploration programs will result in profitable mining operations.  The 
recoverability of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent upon several factors. These include the discovery 
of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the 
development of these properties, and future profitable production or proceeds from disposition of mineral 
properties.   

For the Company to continue to operate as a going concern it must obtain additional financing; although the 
Company has been successful in the past at raising funds, there can be no assurance that this will continue in the 
future. 

If the going concern assumption were not appropriate for these consolidated financial statements then 
adjustments would be necessary to the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and the 
statement of financial position classifications used and such adjustments could be material. 

2) Basis of preparation – Statement of Compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and related IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC’s”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial instruments 
classified as financial instruments (note 3) at fair value through profit and loss, which are stated at their fair value. 
In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting 
except for cash flow information. 

The policies set out were consistently applied to all the periods presented unless otherwise noted below. The 
preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IAS 1 requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the Company’s accounting 
policies. 

Rounded (‘000’s)  
31 December 

2012  
31 December 

2011 

Working capital  $ (923,000) $ 652,000 
Accumulated deficit $ (50,559,000) $ (50,183,000) 
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The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, profit and 
expenses.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making the 
judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period 
of the revision and further periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

The functional and reporting currency of the Company is the United States dollar. 

3) Summary of significant accounting policies 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the 
revaluation of certain financial instruments. The Company's principal accounting policies are outlined below: 

a) Basis of presentation 

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and the entities 
controlled by the Company.  These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and 
its wholly-owned subsidiaries: 

 Idaho-Maryland Mining Corporation 

 Emgold (US) Corp. 

 Golden Bear Ceramics Company 

Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that 
control ceases. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

Non-controlling interest in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the 
Company’s equity.  Non-controlling interest consists of the non-controlling interest at the date of the original 
business combination plus the non-controlling interest’s share of changes in equity since the date of acquisition.  
The Company has no non-controlling interests. 

b) Business combinations 

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the 
business combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, 
liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Company in exchange for control of the 
acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree's identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that 
are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations, which are recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell. 

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the 
cost of the business combination over the Company's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.   
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If the Company's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss.  
The interest of non-controlling shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the non-controlling 
shareholders' proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. 

c) Foreign currency  

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars (“$”), which is the Company’s 
functional and presentation currency. References to CDN$ represent Canadian dollars. The functional currency 
for the Company’s subsidiaries is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates 
which is United States dollars. Transactions entered into by the Company’s subsidiary in a currency other than 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates (its "functional currency") are recorded 
at the rates ruling when the transactions occur except depreciation and depletion which are translated at the 
rates of exchange applicable to the related assets, with any gains or losses recognized in the consolidated 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss.  

Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at current rates of exchange with the resulting 
gain or losses recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. Exchange differences arising on 
the retranslation of unsettled monetary assets and liabilities are recognized immediately in the consolidated 
statement of loss and comprehensive loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated using historical 
exchange rates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rate at the date when the fair value is determined. 

d) Measurement uncertainty 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements, in conformity with IFRS, requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  

The Company’s key estimates relate to the valuation and estimated useful lives of equipment, the measurement 
of stock-based compensation, the valuation of warrants, the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets and 
liabilities, valuation and recoverability of resource properties, and the valuation of shares issued for resource 
property.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Depreciation and depletion of property, plant and equipment assets are dependent upon estimates of useful 
lives and reserve estimates, both of which are determined with the exercise of judgment. The assessment of any 
impairment of property, plant and equipment is dependent upon estimates of recoverable amounts taking into 
account factors such as reserves, economic and market conditions and the useful lives of assets. Provisions for 
environmental rehabilitations are recognised in the period in which they arise and are stated as the fair value of 
estimated future costs. 

The Company bases its estimates and assumptions on current facts, historical experience, and various other 
factors that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making 
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the accrual of costs and expenses that are not 
readily apparent from other sources.  These estimates require the extensive use of judgment about the nature, 
cost and timing of the work to be completed, and may change with future changes to costs, environmental laws 
and regulations and remediation practices.  The actual results experienced by the Company may differ materially 
and adversely from the Company’s estimates. To the extent there are material differences between the 
estimates and the actual results, future results of operations will be affected. 
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e) Share based payments 

The Company grants stock options to buy common shares of the Company to directors, officers, employees and 
service providers.  The Board of Directors grants such options for periods of up to five years, with vesting periods 
determined at its sole discretion and at prices equal to or greater than the closing market price on the day 
preceding the date the options were granted.   

The fair value of the options is measured at grant date, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and is 
recognized over the period that the options are earned.  The fair value is recognized as an expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity.  The amount recognized as expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share 
options expected to vest.   

f) Financial instruments 

All financial instruments must be recognized, initially, at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial 
position.  The Company has classified each financial instrument into the following categories: “fair value through 
profit or loss,” “loans and receivables,” and “other liabilities.” Subsequent measurement of the financial 
instruments is based on their respective classification.  Unrealized gains and losses on held for trading 
instruments are recognized in earnings.  The other categories of financial instruments are recognized at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method.  The Company had made the following classifications: 

Financial Asset or Liability Category 

Cash and cash equivalents Fair value through profit or loss 
Marketable securities Fair value through profit or loss 
Amounts receivable and due from related parties Loans and receivables 
Prepaid amounts and deposits Loans and receivables 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  Other liabilities 
Warrant liability Fair value through profit or loss 
Due to related parties Other liabilities 

g) Income taxes  

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax is recognized in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income (loss) except to the extent it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity.   

Current income tax  

Current tax expense is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items that are not taxable or not 
deductible.  Current tax is calculated using tax rates and laws that were enacted or substantively enacted at the 
end of the reporting period.  Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.  Provisions are established where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
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Deferred tax  

Deferred taxes are the taxes expected to be payable or recoverable between the carrying amounts of assets in 
the consolidated statement of financial position and their corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable profit, and are accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.  Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and their 
corresponding tax bases.  Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized.  Such assets and liabilities are 
not recognized if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets in a transaction that affects neither the 
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities:  

 are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences;  

 are recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries except where 
the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future; and  

 are not recognized on temporary differences that arise from goodwill which is not deductible for tax 
purposes.   

Deferred tax assets:  

 are recognized to the extent it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences can be utilized; and  

 are reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of an asset to be recovered.   

h) Earnings (loss) per share 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net earnings (loss) available to common shareholders 
by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting year.  Diluted earnings per share is 
computed similar to basic earnings per share except that the weighted average shares outstanding are increased 
to include additional shares for the assumed exercise of stock options and warrants, if dilutive.  The number of 
additional shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised if in the 
money and that the proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire common stock at the average market 
price during the reporting periods. 

i) Comprehensive profit (loss) 

Comprehensive profit (loss) is the change in the Company's net assets that results from transactions, events and 
circumstances from sources other than the Company's shareholders and includes items that would not normally 
be included in net profit such as unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale investments, gains or losses on 
certain derivative instruments and foreign currency gains or losses related to self-sustaining operations.  The 
Company's comprehensive profit (loss) is presented in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Profit 
(Loss) and the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity. 
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j) Property, plant and equipment  

Plant and equipment assets are depreciated using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives, 
which generally range from 1 to 5 years.  Land is not depreciated.   

Where an item of plant and equipment is comprised of major components with different useful lives, the 
components are accounted for as separate items of plant and equipment.  Expenditures incurred to replace a 
component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for separately, including major 
inspection and overhaul expenditures, are capitalized.  Directly attributable expenses incurred for major capital 
projects and site preparation are capitalized until the asset is brought to a working condition for its intended use.  
These costs include dismantling and site restoration costs to the extent these are recognized as a provision.   

The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate portion of 
normal overheads.   

The costs of day-to-day servicing are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.  These costs are more commonly 
referred to as "maintenance and repairs."  

Financing costs directly associated with the construction or acquisition of qualifying assets are capitalized at 
interest rates relating to loans specifically raised for that purpose, or at the average borrowing rate where the 
general pool of group borrowings is utilized.  Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when the asset is 
substantially complete.   

The depreciation method, useful life and residual values are assessed annually. 

Leased assets  

Leases in which the Company assumes substantially all risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases.  Finance leases are recognized at the lower of the fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  

Subsequent costs  

The cost of replacing part of an item within property, plant and equipment is recognized when the cost is 
incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably.  All other costs are recognized as an expense as incurred.   

Impairment  

The Company's tangible and intangible assets are reviewed for an indication of impairment at each statement of 
financial position date.  If indication of impairment exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.   

An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset, or its cash-generating unit, exceeds its 
recoverable amount.  A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash 
inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.  Impairment losses 
are recognized in profit and loss for the period.   

Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other 
assets in the unit on a pro-rata basis.   
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The recoverable amount is the greater of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For an 
asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Reversal of impairment  

An impairment loss is reversed if there is an indication that there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.  An impairment loss with respect to goodwill is never 
reversed. 

k) Exploration and evaluation  

The Company is currently in the exploration stage with all of its mineral interests.  Exploration and evaluation 
costs include the costs of acquiring licenses, costs incurred to explore and evaluate properties, and the fair value, 
upon acquisition, of mineral properties acquired in a business combination.   

Exploration and evaluation expenditures are expensed in the period they are incurred except for expenditures 
associated with the acquisition of exploration and evaluation assets through a business combination or an asset 
acquisition.  Significant property acquisition costs are capitalized only to the extent that such costs can be 
directly attributed to an area of interest where it is considered likely to be recoverable by future exploitation or 
sale.  Development costs relating to specific properties are capitalized once management has made a 
development decision.   

From time to time, the Company may acquire or dispose of mineral interests pursuant to the terms of option 
agreements.  Due to the fact that options are exercisable entirely at the discretion of the optionee, the amounts 
payable or receivable are not recorded.  Option payments are recorded in the period that the payments are 
made or received.  The Company does not accrue costs to maintain mineral interests in good standing.   

Restoration provisions  

The Company recognizes liabilities for legal obligations associated with the reclamation or rehabilitation of 
mineral property interests that the Company is required to settle.  The Company recognizes the fair value of 
liabilities for such obligations in the year in which they occur or in the year in which a reasonable estimate of 
such costs can be made.  The obligation is recorded as a liability with a corresponding charge to operations.  The 
Company has determined that it has no material restoration obligations as at 31 December 2012. 

l) Impairment Loss  

An impairment loss is reversed if there is an indication that there has been a positive change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.  An impairment loss with respect to goodwill is never 
reversed.   

m) Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, deposits in banks and highly liquid investments with an 
original maturity of three months or less.  
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n) Environmental  

The Company recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations associated with the 
retirement of property, plant and equipment when those obligations result from the acquisition, construction, 
development or normal operation of the assets.  The net present value of future rehabilitation cost estimates is 
capitalized along with a corresponding increase in the rehabilitation provision in the period incurred.  Discount 
rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of money are used to calculate the net present value.  The 
rehabilitation asset is depreciated on the same basis as mining assets.   

The Company's estimates of reclamation costs could change as a result of changes in regulatory requirements 
and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of the future expenditures.  These changes are recorded 
directly to mining assets with a corresponding entry to the rehabilitation provision.  The Company's estimates are 
reviewed annually for changes in regulatory requirements, effects of inflation and changes in estimates.   

Changes in the net present value, excluding changes in the Company's estimates of reclamation costs, are 
charged to profit and loss for the period.   

The costs of rehabilitation projects that were included in the rehabilitation provision are recorded against the 
provision as incurred.  The cost of on-going current programs to prevent and control pollution is charged against 
profit and loss as incurred.   

o) Provisions and decommissioning liabilities 

Provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of past events where it 
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.   

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the statement of financial position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.  When some or all of the economic benefits required to 
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is 
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount receivable can be measured reliably. 

Decommissioning liabilities include an estimate of the future cost associated with the abandonment and 
reclamation of property and equipment, discounted to its present value, and capitalized as part of the cost of 
that asset.  The estimated costs are based on the present value of the expenditure expected to be incurred.  
Changes in the discount rate, estimated timing of decommissioning costs, or cost estimates are dealt with 
prospectively by recording a change in estimate, and a corresponding adjustment to equipment.  The accretion 
on the decommissioning provision is included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.   

Actual expenditures incurred are charged against the decommissioning liability. 

p) Financial liabilities and equity  

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement.   

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities.  Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.   
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Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognized on an 
effective yield basis.   

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expenses over the corresponding period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments over the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, 
a shorter period.   

The Company derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire. 

q) Flow-through shares 

Canadian tax legislation permits a company to issue flow-through shares whereby the deduction for tax purposes 
relating to qualified resource expenditures is claimed by the investors rather than the Company.  Recording these 
expenditures for accounting purposes gives rise to taxable temporary differences.   A liability is recognized for 
the premium on the flow-through shares and is subsequently reversed as the Company incurs qualifying 
Canadian exploration expenses.  When flow-through expenditures are renounced to the investors, a portion of 
the deferred income tax assets that were not recognized in previous years, due to the recording of a deferred tax 
asset not recognized, are recognized as a recovery of income taxes in the statement of comprehensive loss.  

4) Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, management is required to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount and classification of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.   

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revisions affect only that period, or in the period 
of the revision and future periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods.   

The following are the critical judgments and areas involving estimates, that management have made in the process 
of applying the Company’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amount recognized 
in the consolidated financial statements. 

a) Critical judgments in applying accounting policies  

Going concern assumption 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the accounting principles applicable 
to a going concern, which assumes the Company’s ability to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and 
to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations.  There are several adverse 
conditions that cast significant doubt upon the soundness of this assumption.  Refer to note 1 for more details. 

Determination of functional currency  

In accordance with IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, management determined that the 
functional currency of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries is the US dollar. 
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Mineral Properties 

The company owns land and surface rights which is part of the Idaho-Maryland property in the amount of 
$747,219.  This land is adjacent to the property which the company leases that expired on February 1, 2013 (see 
note 16).  The company assessed that no impairment was necessary on the land and surface rights that they own 
as they are still negotiating to extend the lease however if the lease were not extended the land will still be of 
value as its location is strategic to the operating of the surface mine. 

b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty  

Useful life of plant and equipment 

As discussed in note 3, the Company reviews the estimated lives of its plant and equipment at the end of each 
reporting period.  There were no material changes in the lives of plant and equipment for the years ended 31 
December 2012 and 2011. 

Decommissioning liability 

The estimated costs are reviewed annually by management including changes in the discount rate, estimated 
timing of decommissioning costs, or cost estimates. 

Share based payments and fair value of warrants 

Management assesses the fair value of stock options granted in accordance with the accounting policy stated in 
note 3.  The fair value of stock options granted is measured using the Black-Scholes option valuation model 
(“BkS”), which was created for use in estimating the fair value of freely tradable, fully transferable options.  The 
Company’s stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and changes in 
the highly subjective input assumptions can materially affect the calculated values.  The fair value of stock 
options granted using the BkS do not necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair value of the Company’s 
stock option awards.  The same model is used by the Company is order to arrive at a fair value for the issuance of 
warrants.  

Income taxes 

Provisions for income taxes are made using the best estimate of the amount expected to be paid based on a 
qualitative assessment of all relevant factors.  The Company reviews the adequacy of these provisions at the end 
of the reporting period.  However, it is possible that at some future date an additional liability could result from 
audits by taxing authorities.  Where the final outcome of these tax-related matters is different from the amounts 
that were originally recorded, such differences will affect the tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made. 

Exploration and evaluation asset 

The Company makes certain estimates and assumptions regarding the recoverability of the carrying values of 
exploration and evaluation assets.  These assumptions are changed when conditions exist that indicate the 
carrying value may be impaired, at which time an impairment loss is recorded. 
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5) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective 

The following accounting standards have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) 
but are not yet effective for the Company; both the effective date and the expected impact are noted, based on 
the information currently available.   

a) IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

The Standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2013, with earlier adoption 
permitted.  The Company has not early-adopted the standard and is currently assessing the impact it will have on 
the consolidated financial statements. 

b) IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

The Standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2015, with earlier adoption 
permitted.  The standard is the first part of a multi-phase project to replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement.  The Company has not early-adopted the standard and is currently assessing the 
impact it will have on the consolidated financial statements. 

c) IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements  

IFRS 10 establishes principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an 
entity controls one or more other entities.  IFRS 10 supersedes IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements” and Standing Interpretation Committee (“SIC”)-12 “Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities,” and is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2013.  Earlier application is permitted.  The 
Company does not expect the standard to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements. 

d) IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements  

IFRS 11 establishes principles for financial reporting by parties to a joint arrangement.  IFRS 11 supersedes 
current IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities-Non – Monetary Contributions by 
Venturers and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2013.  Earlier application is 
permitted.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial 
statements.   

e) IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities  

IFRS 12 applies to entities that have an interest in a subsidiary, a joint arrangement, an associate or an 
unconsolidated structured entity.  IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2013.  
Earlier application is permitted.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its 
consolidated financial statements.   

f) IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurements  

IFRS 13 defines fair value, sets out a single IFRS framework for measuring value and requires disclosures about 
fair value measurements.  IFRS 13 applies to IFRSs that require or permit fair value measurements or disclosures 
about fair value measurements (and measurements, such as fair value less costs to sell, based on fair value or 
disclosures about those measurements), except in specified circumstances.  IFRS 13 is to be applied for annual 
periods beginning on or after 01 January 2013.  Earlier adoption is permitted.  The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact of the standard on its consolidated financial statements.   
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g) Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements  

The amendments introduce changes to presentation of items of other comprehensive income.  The amendments 
require that an entity present separately the items of other comprehensive income that would be reclassified to 
profit and loss in the future if certain conditions are met from those that would never be reclassified to profit and 
loss.  The amendments are to be applied effective 01 July 2012 and may be early adopted.  The amendments are 
to be applied retroactively in accordance with IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the amendments on its consolidated financial 
statements. 

h) IAS 19, Employee Benefits (amended standard)  

The amended standard introduces various changes in accounting and disclosure requirements for defined 
benefit plans.  The amended standard also finalizes proposals on accounting for termination benefits; under the 
amended standard the termination benefits are recognized at the earlier of when the entity recognizes costs for 
a restructuring within the scope of IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, that includes 
the payment of a termination benefit, and when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination 
benefit.  The amended standard is to be applied for periods beginning on or after 01 January 2013.  Early 
adoption is permitted.  The amendments to the standard do not impact the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements.   

i) IAS 27 - Separate financial statements  

IAS 27, "Separate financial statements" (IAS 27) was re-issued by the IASB in May 2011 to only prescribe the 
accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates when an 
entity prepares separate financial statements.  The consolidation guidance will now be included in IFRS 10.  The 
amendments to IAS 27 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2013.  The standard 
does not impact the consolidated financial statements.   

j) IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (amended standard)  

The standard was updated to incorporate the accounting for joint ventures because the equity method is now 
applicable to both joint ventures and associates.  The disclosure requirements from IAS 28 (as revised in 2003) 
have been included in IFRS 12.   

k) IAS 32, Financial instruments: Presentation  

IAS 32, “Financial Instruments: Presentation” provides further clarity around details relating to the right of set-off 
and the application of offsetting criteria under certain circumstances. The amendments to IAS 27 are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2014.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this 
standard on the consolidated financial statements.   

l) IFRIC 20, Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine  

IFRIC 20 is a new interpretation on the accounting for waste removal activities.  The interpretation considers 
when and how to account separately for the benefits arising from a stripping activity, as well as how to measure 
such benefit.  The interpretation generally requires that costs from a stripping activity which improve access to 
ore to be recognized as a non-current asset when certain criteria are met and should be accounted as an 
addition to the related asset.  The Company does not expect the standard to impact its consolidated financial 
statements. 
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6) Financial instruments and risk management  

a) Financial instrument classification and measurement  

Financial instruments of the Company are carried on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at 
amortized cost with the exception of cash, marketable securities and warrant liability, which are carried at fair 
value.  There are no significant differences between the carrying value of financial instruments and their 
estimated fair values as at 31 December 2012 due to the immediate or short-term maturities of the financial 
instruments.   

The fair value of the Company’s cash and marketable securities are quoted in active markets.  The Company 
classifies the fair value of these transactions according to the following hierarchy:  

Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical financial instruments.   

Level 2 – quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and 
significant and significant value drivers are observable in active markets.   

Level 3 – valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value 
drivers are unobservable.   

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents have been assessed using the fair value hierarchy described above and 
classified as Level 1.  The warrant liability has been classified as Level 3. 

b) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities  

The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, due to/from related 
parties, marketable securities, deposits, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and warrant liability.  At 31 
December 2012, the carrying value of cash, marketable securities, and warrant liability is fair value.  Amounts 
receivable, due to/from related parties deposits and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their 
fair value due to their short-term nature.   

c) Market risk  

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Company’s earnings or the value of its financial 
instruments.  Market risk is comprised of commodity price risk and interest rate risk.  The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control exposures within acceptable limits, while maximizing returns.  The 
Company is not exposed to significant market risk. 

d) Credit risk  

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the 
other party to incur a financial loss.  The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is on its bank accounts.  The 
Company’s bank accounts are held with major banks in Canada, accordingly the Company believes it is not 
exposed to significant credit risk.   

e) Interest rate risk  

Interest rate risk is the risk of losses that arise as a result of changes in contracted interest rates.  The Company is 
nominally exposed to interest rate risk.   
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f) Currency risk  

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates.  To manage this risk the Company maintains only the minimum amount of 
foreign cash required to fund its on-going exploration expenditures.  The Company is not exposed to significant 
foreign currency risk, as a 5% shift in foreign exchange rates would result in an impact of $2,700.  At 31 
December 2012 the Company held currency totalling the following: 

Rounded (‘000’s)  
31 December 

2012  
31 December 

2011 

Canadian dollars $ 54,000 $ 877,000 

United States dollars $ 8,000 $ 88,000 

g) Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk arises through the excess of financial obligations over available financial assets due at any point in 
time.  The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available reserves in 
order to meet its liquidity requirements at any point in time.  As the Company has no significant source of cash 
flows this is a significant risk. 

7) Marketable securities 

Pursuant to the terms of the Lease and Option to Purchase Agreement, on 13 January 2011, Valterra issued to the 
Company 50,000 units consisting of one common share and one share purchase warrant per unit.  Each warrant 
entitles the holder to purchase one common share of Valterra at $0.10 for a five year period.  On the date of issue 
the common shares were valued at $3,268 and the warrants were valued at $1,637 using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model with the following assumptions: 2 year term, 99% volatility, risk free interest rate of 1.64% and a 
dividend rate of Nil.  

Pursuant to an amendment of the Lease and Option to Purchase Agreement, on 08 February 2011, Valterra issued 
to the Company 600,000 units consisting of one common share and one share purchase warrant per unit.   Each 
warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of Valterra at $0.10 for a two year period.  On the date 
of issue the common shares were valued at $42,870 and the warrants were valued at $18,301 using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: 2 year term, 99% volatility, risk free interest 
rate of 1.64% and a dividend rate of Nil.   

As at 31 March 2012, the common shares and warrants of Valterra were revalued at fair market value of $16,627 
resulting in an unrealized loss on marketable securities of $1,437.  The $2,585 fair value of the warrants was 
determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: 1.46 
year term, 135% volatility, risk free interest rate of 1.01% and a dividend rate of Nil.   

During the quarter ended 31 December 2012, the Company liquidated all marketable securities resulting in a 
realized loss of $6,831.  The Company still holds a nominal number of warrants issued from Valterra; their value is 
not material and has not been included in the records of the Company. 
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8) Property and equipment 

 

 Plant and 
Field 

Equipment  

Furniture 
and 

Equipment  
Computer 
Hardware  

Asset Under  
Capital Lease  Total 

COST OR DEEMED COST           

Balance at 01 January 2011 $ 39,306 $ 63,668 $ 80,002 $ 38,833 $ 221,809 
Disposals  (23,650)  (17,504)  (8,057)  -  (49,211) 

Balance at 31 December 2011 $ 15,656 $ 46,164 $ 71,945 $ 38,833 $ 172,598 

Balance at 01 January 2012 $ 15,656 $ 46,164 $ 71,945 $ 38,833 $ 172,598 
Additions  3,056  -  -  -  3,056 

Balance at 31 December 2012 $ 18,712 $ 46,164 $ 71,945 $ 38,833 $ 175,654 

DEPRECIATION           

Balance at 01 January 2011 $ 39,253 $ 53,722 $ 63,171 $ 33,008 $ 189,154 
Depreciation for the year  53  3,267  5,334  5,825  14,479 
Disposals  (23,650)  (17,504)  (8,057)  -  (49,211) 

Balance at 31 December 2011 $ 15,656 $ 39,485 $ 60,448 $ 38,833 $ 154,422 

Balance at 01 January 2012 $ 15,656 $ 39,485 $ 60,448 $ 38,833 $ 154,422 
Depreciation for the year  611  3,712  6,602  -  10,925 

Balance at 31 December 2012 $ 16,267 $ 43,197 $ 67,050 $ 38,833 $ 165,347 

CARRYING AMOUNTS           

At 01 January 2011 $ 53 $ 9,946 $ 16,831 $ 5,825 $ 32,655 

At 31 December 2011 $ - $ 6,679 $ 11,497 $ - $ 18,176 

At 31 December 2012 $ 2,445 $ 2,967 $ 4,895 $ - $ 10,307 
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9) Exploration and evaluation assets 

PROPERTY ACQUISITION COSTS  
Idaho – 

Maryland  

Buckskin 
Rawhide & 

Koegel  
Stewart 

 Property  Rozan Gold  Total 

Balance at 01 January 2011 $ 747,219 $ 25,233 $ 199,667 $ 115,301 $ 1,087,420 
Acquisitions  -  13,819  -  (66,076)  (52,257) 

Balance at 31 December 2011 $ 747,219 $ 39,052 $ 199,667 $ 49,225 $ 1,035,163 
Acquisitions  -  420,059  9,052  -  429,111 

Balance at 31 December 2012 $ 747,219 $ 459,111 $ 208,719 $ 49,225 $ 1,464,274 

a) Idaho-Maryland Property, California 

In fiscal 2002, the Company renegotiated a lease with the owners of the Idaho-Maryland Property (“I-M 
Property”) and surrounding areas in the Grass Valley Mining District, California. 

The owners granted to the Company the exclusive right and option to purchase all of the leased property.  The 
property is subject to a 3% Net Smelter Royalty (“NSR”) from production if the property is still being leased.  Any 
royalty payments made prior to exercising the purchase option may be deducted from the purchase price.  
During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company extended the lease and option agreement from 01 
February 2011, for an additional two years to 01 February 2013.  Lease payments during the extension period are 
$30,000 per quarter.  In conjunction with the extension, the lessors agreed to defer payments for 2010 totalling 
$120,000.  Under the terms of the deferral, this amount was added to the purchase price of the I-M Property, the 
first instalment of which becomes due on 01 February 2013.  The $120,000 will be subject to interest calculated 
at 5.25% compounded annually.  Provided that payments are kept current, the Company may purchase the 
property at any time.  The purchase price at 01 February 2013, would be $6,154,717. 

On 01 February 2013, subsequent to year ended 2012, the Lease Option to Purchase Agreement for 91 acres of 
surface rights and 2,750 aces of mineral rights associated with the I-M Property expired.  The Company is in 
negotiations with the owners to extend this Agreement.  Refer to note 16 for further details. 

b) Buckskin Rawhide Property, Nevada 

In November 2009 the Company entered into a lease and option to purchase agreement to acquire 100% of the 
rights to the Buckskin Rawhide East mineral claims (46 claims), a gold prospect located near Fallon, Nevada.  The 
Company agreed to lease the property from Nevada Sunrise, LLC subject to the following advance royalty 
payments: $10,000 annually for the years 2009 to 2011; $20,000 in 2012; $40,000 in 2013, and $60,000 from 
2014 to 2019.  During the lease period, the Company could conduct exploration and, if warranted, complete a NI 
43-101 compliant feasibility study.  On completion of the feasibility study, the Company could acquire 100% 
ownership of the property by paying Nevada Sunrise, LLC an additional amount of $250,000.  Nevada Sunrise, 
LLC was required to use these funds to purchase a retained 25% interest in the property from Maurice and 
Lorraine Castagne, pursuant to an underlying property agreement, and to transfer that title to the Company.  
Upon commercial production and after acquisition of 100% interest in the property, Nevada Sunrise, LLC will be 
entitled to a 2.5% NSR on production from the property.  The annual lease payments of $10,000 due in 
December 2011 and 2010 were paid by the issuance of 106,290 and 49,424 common shares, respectively.  

On 11 April 2011, the Company announced it had staked six additional claims, increasing the size of the Buckskin 
Rawhide East Property to 52 claims. 
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On 24 January 2012, the Company signed a Lease and Option to Purchase Agreement with Jeremy C. Wire to 
acquire the PC and RH mineral claims, located 0.3 miles west of Emgold’s existing Buckskin Rawhide Property, in 
Mineral County, Nevada.  The PC and RH claims, called Buckskin Rawhide West, comprise 21 unpatented lode 
mining claims totalling 420 acres.  Pursuant to the lease agreement, advance royalty payments will be payable by 
the Company to Jeremy C. Wire in the amount of $10,000 per year during years 2013 to 2014, $20,000 in 2015 
and $30,000 per year in years 2016 to 2018. Payments may be made in cash or shares, based on the discretion of 
the Company or the owner, depending on the Year.  In 2012, consideration in the amounts of $5,000 cash and 
$5,000 equivalent in common shares (50,000 shares) was paid, as per the Agreement, upon TSX-Venture 
Exchange approval. 

On 14 and 19 November 2012, the Company announced a series of transactions involving its Buckskin Rawhide 
East Property in Nevada.  The Company announced it had signed an Option Agreement to complete an early 
buyout of all underlying property rights, including royalty rights, for its Buckskin Rawhide East Property.  The 
Option provides that Emgold will pay two arm’s length parties (Nevada Sunrise LLC and the Castagne) an 
aggregate of $510,000 to allow the Company to consolidate a 100% interest in the 52 unpatented mineral claims, 
totalling 835 acres, that make up Buckskin Rawhide East Property.  The Company also announced that it had 
signed an Agreement with Rawhide Mining LLC (“RMC”) pursuant to which the Company would issue to RMC, on 
a private placement basis, shares and warrants in an amount of CDN$1.0 million, part of which would be used to 
fund the above transaction.  Also pursuant to the Agreement, upon completion of the title transfer of the 100% 
of the Buckskin Rawhide East Property to Emgold. the Company will subsequently lease the property to RMC.  
This transaction is occurring in a number of steps. 

On 28 December 2012, the Company announced the first step of the above transaction.  The first tranche of the 
private placement was closed for proceeds totalling CDN$465,000.   A total of $400,000 from this tranche of the 
financing was used to acquire a 100% interest in 6 unpatented mining claims and a 75% interest in 40 
unpatented mineral claims, including royalty interests, from one of the underlying property owners mentioned 
above.  

Subsequent to year end 2012, on 01 February 2013, Emgold announced the closing of the second step of the 
above transaction, which included a second private placement, for proceeds of CDN$285,000.  The Company is 
currently working on the third step of the transaction, which will involve the acquisition of the remaining 25% of 
40 unpatented mineral claims that make up part of the Buckskin Rawhide East Property.  As part of this step, the 
remaining CDN$250,000 private placement will be completed with RMC, of which $110,000 will be used to 
acquire the 25% interest.  

The fourth and final step with RMC will involve completion of a Lease Agreement.  RMC has agreed to lease the 
Buckskin Rawhide East Property from Emgold based on the following terms: 

1. The Lease Term is 20 years.  
2. Advance royalty payments will be $10,000 per year, paid by RMC to Emgold, with the first payment due at 

signing and subsequent payments due on the anniversary of the Lease Agreement.  
3. During the Lease Term, RMC will make all underlying claim fees to keep the claims in good standing.  
4. RMC will conduct a minimum of US$250,000 in exploration activities by the end of Year 1.  
5. RMC will conduct an additional minimum of US$250,000 in exploration activities by the end of Year 3, for 

a total of US$500,000 in exploration activities by the end of Year 3.  
6. RMC will have the option of earning a 100% interest in the Property by bringing it into commercial 

production.  
7. Upon bringing the property into commercial production, RMC will make "Bonus Payments" to Emgold.  

Bonus Payments will be US$15 per ounce of gold when the price of gold ranges between US$1,200 per 
ounce and US$1,799 per ounce. If the price of gold exceeds US$1,800 per ounce, the Bonus Payment will 
increase to US$20 per ounce  
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8. After meeting its exploration requirements, should RMC subsequently elect to drop the Property or 
decide not to advance it, the Property will be returned to Emgold. Should Emgold subsequently advance 
the Property into production, RMC shall then be entitled to the same type of Bonus Payments as 
contemplated in 7 above.  

The Company has met all commitments on this property as of the year ended 31 December 2012 and up to the 
date of this report, and issued 118,000 common shares subsequent to year end. 

c) Koegel Rawhide , Nevada 

On 13 February, 2013, the Company announced it had signed a Lease and Option to Purchase Agreement with 
Jeremy C. Wire to acquire the RHT and GEL claims, located four miles south of the Company’s Buckskin Rawhide 
Claims in Mineral County, Nevada.  The RHT and GEL claims “Koegel Rawhide Property” comprise 19 unpatented 
lode mining claims totalling 380 acres.   Pursuant to the lease agreement, advance royalty payment will be 
payable by the Company to Jeremy C. Wire in the amount of $10,000 per year during years 2013 to 2014, 
$20,000 in 2015 and $30,000 per year in years 2016 to 2018.  Payments may be made in cash or shares, based on 
the discretion of the Company or the owner, depending on the Year.  In 2012, consideration payable in the 
amounts of $5,000 cash and $5,000 equivalent in common shares (50,000 shares) were paid, as per the 
Agreement, upon TSX-Venture Exchange Approval. 

On 15 February 2012, the Company announced it has staked an additional 17 unpatented claims to expand this 
property to 36 unpatented mineral claims totalling 720 acres.   

The Company has met all commitments on this property as of the year ended 31 December 2012 and up to the 
date of this report, and issued 118,000 common shares subsequent to year end. 

d) Rozan Gold Property, British Columbia 

In 2000, the Company entered into an option agreement to acquire the rights to the Rozan Gold Property, a 
prospect located in British Columbia.  The Company holds a 100% interest in the property, subject to a 3.0% NSR.  
The Company has the right to purchase 66% of the royalty for the sum of CDN$1,000,000 and has the first right 
of refusal to purchase the remaining 33%.  

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company entered into a Lease and Option to Purchase 
Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Valterra Resource Corporation (“Valterra”).  The Agreement called for 
cumulative work commitments of $1,000,000 over 5 years, with a commitment of $50,000 in 2010, $200,000 in 
2011, and $250,000 in each of years 3 to 5.  

In January 2012, after failing to meet its work commitments on the Rozan Gold Property, Valterra announced 
that it has elected to terminate the Agreement with the Company and the property was returned to Emgold. 

e) Stewart Property, British Columbia 

Pursuant to an option agreement entered into in 2001 and completed in 2008, the Company acquired the rights 
to the Stewart mineral claims, a prospect located close to Nelson in south eastern British Columbia.  The 
Company holds a 100% right, title and interest in and to the property, subject only to a 3% NSR payable to the 
optionors. The Company has the right to purchase 66% of the royalty for the sum of CDN$1,000,000 and has the 
first right of refusal to purchase the remaining 33%.  The Company has staked 21 claims contiguous to the 
Stewart Property located in south-eastern British Columbia. 
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f) Exploration and evaluation expenditures 

 

 

   

 
For the Year 

Ended 31 
December 2012  

For the Year 
Ended 31 

December 2011  

Cumulative 
Total of 

31 December 
2012 

Idaho – Maryland Property, California 
   

     

Geological & geochemical     $ 279,912 $ 309,385 $ 4,977,460 
Land lease and taxes      167,244  153,954  1,827,350 
Mine planning      77,168  298,995  4,819,000 
Transportation      9,330  -  137,580 
Community relations      2,380  -  82,941 
Assay and analysis      1,023  -  101,163 
Site activities      827  -  1,673,217 
Drilling      -  -  1,039,920 
Consulting      -  -  209,713 
Stock-based compensation      42,200  13,166  642,144 

Incurred during the year     $ 580,084 $ 775,500 $ 15,510,488 

Buckskin Rawhide and Koegel Properties, Nevada       
Geological & geochemical      -  26,890  28,165 
Site activities      -  1,206  5,116 

Incurred during the year     $ - $ 28,096 $ 33,281 

Rozan Gold Property, BC           
Drilling      221,721  -  285,771 
Assays and analysis      63,052  -  74,855 
Geological & geochemical      33,082  -  156,470 
Site activities      175  -  22,219 
Transportation      64  -  12,418 
Stock-based compensation      -  -  16,055 
Trenching      -  -  4,666 
Assistance and recovery      -  -  (7,322) 

Incurred during the year     $ 318,094 $ - $ 565,132 

Stewart Property, BC           
Drilling       227,913  321,087  1,079,056 
Geological & geochemical      53,406  101,844  376,399 
Assays and analysis      3,036  60,555  159,748 
Claim fees      2,332  -  2,332 
Transportation      1,796  10,223  57,857 
Site activities      668  9,835  32,013 
Stock-based compensation      -  -  16,055 
Trenching      -  -  19,318 
Assistance and recovery      -  -  (29,692) 

Incurred during the year     $ 289,151 $ 503,544 $ 1,713,086 

Total Exploration Expenditures $ 1,187,329 $ 1,307,140 $ 17,821,987 
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10) Share capital 

a) Authorized 

Unlimited - Number of common shares without par value 

Unlimited -Number of preference shares without par value 

b) Common shares, issued and fully paid 

In December 2012 the Company closed the first tranche of a private placement, issuing 6,642,857 Units at 
CDN$0.07 per Unit for gross proceeds of CDN$465,000.  Each Unit consists of one common share of the 
Company and one half common share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant entitles the holder to purchase, for a 
period of 24 months, one additional common share at a price of CDN$0.12 per share.  No finder’s fees were 
payable in connection with this part of the financing.  The share issued, along with any shares issued upon the 
exercise of warrants, will be subject to a four month and one day hold period, expiring 29 April 2013. 

In December 2011 the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of flow-through units for gross 
proceeds of $767,750.  A total of 5,905,769 units were issued at a price of CDN$0.13 per unit.  Each unit consists 
of one “flow-through” common share of the Company and one half of one common share purchase warrant.  
Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase, for a period of 18 months, one additional common share of the 
Company at a price of CDN$0.20 per share.  The share purchase warrants were valued using a Black-Scholes 
option pricing model using the following assumptions: weighted average risk free interest rate of 1.23%, volatility 
factors of 109% and an expected life of 2 years.  The total value ascribed to the share purchase warrants was 
$117,359.  A $NIL flow-through premium related to this private placement. 

Finder’s fees of CDN$49,920 and 383,999 finder’s warrants were awarded in relation to the flow-through 
financing.  The finder’s warrants entitle the holder to purchase, for a period of 18 months, one additional 
common share of the Company - 269,230 are exercisable at a price of CDN$0.15 and 114,769 are exercisable at a 
price of CDN$0.20.  The finder warrants were valued using a Black-Scholes option pricing model using the 
following assumptions: weighted average risk free interest rate of 1.23%, volatility factors of 109% and an 
expected life of 1.5 years.  The total value ascribed to the finder's warrants was $18,514.  The Company has filed 
the renunciation of flow-expenditures as required by the Canadian tax authorities. 

The Shares issued in connection with these non-brokered private placements, including any issued on the 
exercise of the warrants, will be subject to a minimum hold period of four months. 
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c) Stock options 

The Company has a rolling stock option plan for its directors and employees to acquire common shares of the 
Company at a price determined by the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant.  The maximum 
aggregate number of common shares reserved for issuance pursuant to the plan is 10% of the issued and 
outstanding common shares.   

Stock option activity during the year is summarized as follows: 

STOCK OPTION ACTIVITY 
31 December 

2012  

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
31 December 

2011  

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 

Balance – beginning of year 2,872,665 $ 0.23 3,113,998 $ 1.37 
Granted 2,700,000  0.15 -  - 
Expired (603,000)  0.175 (65,500)  0.175 
Cancelled and forfeited -  - (175,833)  0.21 

Balance – end of year 4,969,665 $ 0.19 2,872,665 $ 0.23 

Details of stock options outstanding as at 31 December 2012 are as follows: 

Expiry Date  
Exercise 

Price (CDN$) 
31 December 

2012 
31 December 

2011 

11 December 2012 $ 0.175  600,000 
12 May 2013 $ 0.175 97,500 97,500 
19 November 2013 $ 0.175 141,500 143,500 
12 July 2014 $ 0.175 64,000 65,000 
17 March 2015 $ 0.25 466,665 466,665 
08 December 2015 $ 0.25 1,500,000 1,500,000 
01 May 2017 $ 0.15 700,000 - 
07 May 2017 $ 0.15 1,800,000 - 
22 May 2017 $ 0.15 200,000 - 

   4,969,665 2,872,665 

The outstanding options have a weighted-average exercise price of $0.19 (31 December 2011 - $0.23) and the 
weighted-average remaining life of the options is 2.51 years (31 Dec 2011 – 2.94) years.  As at 31 December 
2012, a total of 4,736,332 (31 December 2011 – 2,872,665) of these outstanding options had vested.  As at 31 
December 2012, none (31 December 2011 – none) of the outstanding options were in the money. 

During the year ended 31 December 2011, a total of 405,700 incentive stock options granted to directors, 
officers, employees and consultants of the Company with exercise prices ranging from CDN$1.00 to CDN$10.00 
were re-priced to $0.175 per share.  The expiry dates remained unchanged. 
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d) Warrants 

Warrant activity during the year is summarized as follows: 

WARRANT ACTIVITY 
30 December 

2012 
(i)

  

Weighted 
Average 

exercise price 
31 December 

2011
(i)

  

Weighted 
Average 

exercise price 

Balance – beginning of year 38,508,401 $ 0.27 21,315,017 $ 0.35 
Issued 3,321,428  0.12 18,054,884  0.16 
Exercised (1,194,101)  0.10 -  - 
Expired (5,139,944)  0.33 (861,500)  1.60 

Balance – end of year 35,495,784 $ 0.25 38,508,401 $ 0.27 
(i) The number of warrants is expressed in equivalent number of common shares, which may be issuable upon exercise of the warrants. 

 

Issued Expiry  
Exercise 

Price 
31 December 

 2012 
31 December 

2011 

06 April 2010 06 April 2012 $ 0.35 - 1,600,000 
06 April 2010 06 April 2012  0.25 - 80,000 
06 April 2010 23 April 2012  0.35 - 1,400,000 
06 April 2010 23 April 2012  0.25 - 112,000 
09 September 2010 09 September 2015  0.35 2,813,575 2,813,575 
23 September 2010 23 September 2012  0.35 - 5,315,856 
23 September 2010 23 September 2013

(ii)
  0.35 735,714  

23 September 2010 23 September 2013
(i)

  0.15
(iii)

 3,344,041 - 
14 October 2010 14 October 2012  0.35 - 7,836,633 
14 October 2010 14 October 2013

(i)
  0.15

(iii)
 7,226,142 - 

21 December 2010 21 December 2012  0.30
(iii)

 - 1,136,363 
21 December 2010 21 December 2012  0.22

(iii)
 - 159,090 

22 June 2011 22 June 2013  0.25
(iii)

 2,235,577 2,235,577 
22 June 2011 23 June 2013  0.15

(iii)
 269,230 269,230 

28 June 2011 28 June 2013  0.20
(iii)

 717,308 717,308 
28 June 2011 28 June 2013  0.20

(iii)
 114,769 114,769 

18 November 2011 18 November 2013  0.15
(iii)

 12,156,000 12,156,000 
22 December 2011 22 December 2013  0.15

(iii)
 2,530,000 2,530,000 

22 December 2011 22 December 2013  0.15
(iii)

 32,000 32,000 
28 December 2012 28 December 2014  0.15

(iii)
 3,321,428 - 

    35,495,784 38,508,401 
(i) The Company completed a re-pricing and extension of the expiry date of certain existing common share purchase warrants 

(“warrants”).  A total of 11,764,284 warrants, the original exercise price of which was US$0.35, have been re-priced at CDN$0.15 per 
share and been given a 12 month extension. These re-priced warrants were also able to elect an early conversion option whereby 
they could convert their warrants to shares at CDN$0.10 per share, if exercised by 31 August 2012.  A total of 1,194,101 warrants 
were exercised at CDN$0.10. No other warrants have been exercised subsequent to the re-price. 

(ii) These warrants were part of the extension as noted above, but were not re-priced. 
(iii) The exercise prices of these warrants are stated in Canadian funds. 
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In accordance with IFRS, an obligation to issue shares for a price that is not fixed in the Company’s functional 
currency, and that does not qualify as a rights offering, must be classified as a derivative liability and measured at 
fair value with changes recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss as they arise.  The 
Company has issued such share purchase warrants.  As a result, these share purchase warrants must be 
accounted for as a liability.  As at 31 December 2012, the Company recorded a warrant liability in the amount of 
$30,411 (31 December 2011 - $1,079,253).  The warrants were valued upon issuance and subsequently revalued 
on 31 December 2012 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, with the following assumptions: weighted 
average risk free rate of 1.13%, volatility factors of 50% - 70% and an expected life of 6 months – 24 months.  An 
unrealized gain on warrant liability of $1,492,098 has been recorded in the consolidated statement of loss and 
comprehensive loss for the year ended 31 December 2012. 

Movement related to the warrant liability is as follows: 

 31 December 2012 
 

31 December 2011 

WARRANT LIABILITY 
Number of 
Warrants

(i)
  Fair Value 

 Number of 
Warrants

(i)
  Fair Value 

Balance – beginning of year 19,350,337 $ 1,079,253 
 

1,295,453 $ 111,458 
Issued 3,321,428  18,449  18,054,884  588,459 
Warrants re-priced 11,764,284  153,075  -  - 
Expired (1,295,453)  -  -  - 
Fair value of warrants exercised (1,194,101)  (3,463)  -  - 
Fair market value adjustment (gain)/loss -  (1,492,098)  -  379,336 
Reclassification of warrant liability from warrant reserve -  275,195  -  - 

Balance – end of year 31,946,495 $ 30,411 
 

19,350,337 $ 1,079,253 

(i) Number of warrants priced in the Canadian Dollar 
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e) Stock-based compensation 

For the years ended 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, the Company issued stock options to its 
directors, officers, employees, and consultants and recognized stock-based compensation as follows: 

   
31 December 

2012  
31 December 

2011 

Total options granted   2,700,000  405,700
(i)

 

Average exercise price  $ 0.15 $ 0.175 

Estimated fair value of compensation  $ 130,701 $ 58,797 

Estimated fair value per option  $ 0.05 $ 0.19 

The fair value of the stock-based compensation of options to be recognized in the accounts has been estimated 
using the Black-Scholes Model with the following weighted-average assumptions: 

   
31 December 

2012  
31 December 

2011 

Risk free interest rate   1.20% - 1.60%  1.68% 
Expected dividend yield   0.00%  0.00% 
Expected stock price volatility   112%  101% 
Expected option life in years   5  2.18 
Expected maturity rate   70-100%  70-100% 

Stock-based compensation for the options that vested during the year is as follows: 

   
31 December 

2012  
31 December 

2011 

Number of options vested   2,466,667  - 

Compensation recognized  $ 130,701 $ 58,978 

The Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model was created for use in estimating the fair value of freely tradable, fully 
transferable options.  The Company’s employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from 
those of traded options, and because changes in the highly subjective input assumptions can materially affect the 
calculated values, management believes that the accepted Black-Scholes model does not necessarily provide a 
reliable measure of the fair value of the Company’s stock option awards. 
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11) Related party transactions 

Related party transactions and balances not disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements are as 
follows: 

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE  
 

 
 

 

Name and Principal Position Period 
(i)

  
Remuneration 

or fees
(ii)

  
Share-based 

awards 

CEO and President - management fees 
2012 
2011 

$ 
 

185,000 
185,000 

$ 
 

40,598 
- 

A company of which the CFO is a director 
(iii)

 – management 
fees 

2012 
2011  

12,095 
-  

- 
- 

A company of which the CFO is a director 
(iii)

 – accounting 
2012 
2011  

4,089 
-  

- 
- 

759924 Ontario Ltd. 
(iv)

 – consulting fees 
2012 
2011  

24,400 
42,634  

10,826 
- 

Quorum Management 
2012 
2011  

139,250 
186,109  

- 
- 

Directors 
2012 
2011  

- 
-  

40,580 
- 

i)
 For the year ended 31 December 2012 and 2011. 

ii)
 Amounts disclosed were paid or accrued to the related party. 

iii)
 A company of which the CFO, Grant T. Smith, is a director. 

iv)
 A company of which a director, Kenneth Yurichuk, is a director. 

At 31 December 2012, fees of $462,767 (2011 – $244,033) payable to David Watkinson; fees of $14,022 (2011 – 
$Nil) payable to Clearline; fees of $27,286 (2011 – $7,997) payable to 759924 Ontario Ltd.; and fees of $Nil (2011 – 
$28,531) refundable from Quorum Management and Administrative Services Inc. were included in accounts 
payable or due to related parties.  Also, amounts of $12,756 (2011 – $40,033) are receivable from Stephen 
Wilkinson at the year-end date. 

During the year the Company received services from Quorum Management and Administrative Services Inc. 
(“Quorum”); refer to note 15 for further details.   

Related party balances are non-interest bearing and are due on demand, with no fixed terms of repayment. These 
transactions occurred in the normal course of operations and are measured at their exchange amount, which is the 
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 
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12) Segmented disclosure 

The Company operates in one operating segment, which is the acquisition, exploration, and development of 
mineral property interest.  The following table provides segmented disclosure on assets and liabilities as reviewed 
by management regularly: 

Rounded to 000’s   Canada  United States  Total 

31 December 2012        

Current assets  $ 157,000 $ 25,000 $ 182,000 

Long-term Assets        
Property and equipment   -  10,000  10,000 
Resource properties acquisition costs   717,000  747,000  1,464,000 
Other   18,000  3,000  21,000 

Liabilities        
Current liabilities   (513,000)  (582,000)  (1,095,000) 
Warrant liability  $ (30,000) $ - $ (30,000) 

31 December 2011        

Current assets  $ 1,069,000 $ 47,000 $ 1,116,000 

Long-term Assets        
Property and equipment   -  18,000  18,000 
Resource properties acquisition costs   288,000  747,000  1,035,000 
Other   26,000  3,000  29,000 

Liabilities        
Current liabilities   (107,000)  (357,000)  (464,000) 
Warrant liability  $ (1,079,000) $ - $ (1,079,000) 

 

13) Capital disclosures 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the 
Company, in order to support the acquisition and exploration of mineral properties. The Board of Directors does 
not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the 
Company’s management to sustain future development of the business. The Company defines capital that it 
manages as share capital.  

Management reviews its capital management approach on an on-going basis and believes that this approach, given 
the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. 

The Company is in the business of mineral exploration and has no source of operating revenue. Operations are 
financed through the issuance of capital stock or liability instruments.  Capital raised is held in cash in an interest 
bearing bank account until such time as it is required to pay operating expenses or resource property costs. The 
Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital restrictions. Its objectives in managing its capital are to 
safeguard its cash and its ability to continue as a going concern, and to utilize as much of its available capital as 
possible for exploration activities. The Company’s objectives have not changed during the year ended 31 
December 2012. 
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14) Deferred taxes 

The following table reconciles the expected income taxes expense (recovery) at the Canadian statutory income tax 
rates to the amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended 31 December 
2012 and 2011: 

   
31 December 

2012  
31 December 

2011 

Loss before income taxes  $ (375,731) $ (2,338,060) 
Statutory income tax rate   25.00%  26.50% 

Expected tax recovery   (93,933)  (619,586) 

Differences resulting from:      
Non-deductible items   33,272  411,586 
Change in estimates   (234,880)  - 
Share issuance costs   (3,113)  - 
Change in fair value of warrant liability   (110,814)  277,000 
Change in enacted tax rate   249,003  (42,300) 
Differences in foreign exchange rates   -  673,700 
Foreign tax rate difference   (64,841)  197,600 
Change in deferred tax asset not recognized   225,306  (898,000) 

Provision for income taxes  $ - $ - 

Deferred taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting and tax purposes. Deferred tax assets at 31 December 2012 and 2011 are 
comprised of the following: 

   
31 December 

2012  
31 December 

2011 

Fixed assets  $ 56,311 $ 64,891 
Mineral properties   6,799,599  7,141,606 
Financial instruments   10,095  - 
Financing costs   79,579  106,689 
Capital losses   4,934  45,129 
Non-capital losses   8,594,955  8,010,955 
Investment tax credits   73,344  24,242 

   15,618,817  15,393,512 
Deferred tax asset not recognized   15,618,817  15,393,512 

Net deferred tax asset (liability)  $ - $ - 
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The Company has non-capital loss carryforwards of approximately $10,487,095 which may be carried forward to 
apply against future year income tax for Canadian income tax purposes, subject to the final determination by 
taxation authorities, expiring in the following years: 

Year of Expiry  Taxable Loss 

2014 $ 983,024 
2015  1,727,884 
2026  1,569,577 
2027  1,852,381 
2028  1,170,217 
2029  1,128,429 
2030  728,100 
2031  801,494 
2032  525,988 

Total $ 10,487,095 

In addition, the Company has capital losses of approximately $39,471, which may be carried forward indefinitely to 
reduce future capital gains. 

The Company has net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $17,605,344 which may be carried forward to 
apply against future year income tax for US tax purposes, as follows: 

Year of Expiry  EMU  IM  GB  Total 

2017 $ - $ 966,432 $ - $ 966,432 
2018  -  419,779  -  419,779 
2019  -  363,828  -  363,828 
2020  1,774  266,513  -  268,287 
2021  1,173  153,755  -  154,928 
2022  23,703  289,940  -  313,643 
2023  25,932  228,989  -  254,921 
2024  1,086,121  546,964  887  1,633,972 
2025  137,391  918,706  113,114  1,169,211 
2026  88,741  975,106  355,087  1,418,934 
2027  70,479  1,371,071  510,174  1,951,724 
2028  25,444  1,973,795  480,772  2,480,011 
2029  18,319  1,316,443  513,341  1,848,103 
2030  10,269  1,690,173  540,137  2,240,579 
2031  8,653  (203,759)  505,384  310,278 
2032  3,935  1,326,141  480,638  1,810,714 

Total $ 1,501,934 $ 12,603,876 $ 3,499,534 $ 17,605,344 

The deferred tax assets have not been recognized because at this stage of the Company’s development, it is not 
determinable that future taxable profit will be available against which that Company can utilize such deferred tax 
assets. 
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15)  Contingent liability 

During the year the Company received services from Quorum Management and Administrative Services Inc. 
(“Quorum”).  Quorum is a private company held jointly by the Company and other public companies, created to 
provide services on a full cost recovery basis to the various public entities currently sharing certain personnel costs, 
office space, and overhead with the Company. In April 2012, the partners of Quorum made the decision to wind up 
its administrative operations effective 31 August 2012.  Management is aware of the possibility that there may be 
a future cost associated with the conclusion of this agreement.  At the year ended 31 December 2012 and at the 
date of this report, the Company is unable to make a reliable estimate of the cost or likelihood of them being 
incurred.  Accordingly, no provision has been made in these consolidated financial statements. 

16) Subsequent events 

Subsequent to the 31 December 2012 year end, the Company’s current extension of the Lease and Option to 
Purchase Agreement (the “BET Agreement”) expired on 01 February 2013.  The BET Agreement, signed in 2002, 
originally had a five year term.  It has been extended three times to date, in two year increments, with the last 
extension taking effect on 01 February 2011.  The Company is currently in discussions with the BET Trust to extend 
and/or negotiate a new agreement, which would cover the lease and option to purchase of approximately 2,750 
acres of mineral rights and 91 acres of surface rights associated with the Project.  Refer to note 9 of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

On 01 February 2013, the Company announced that it closed a previously reported private placement for gross 
proceeds of CDN $285,000.  The private placement involved the issuance of 5,700,000 units ("Units") to RMC at a 
price of CDN$0.05 per Unit.  Each Unit consists of one common share (a "Share") of the Company and one half of 
one non-transferable share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant entitles RMC to purchase, for a period of 24 
months, one additional Share at a price of CDN$0.12.  The Shares are subject to a minimum hold period of four 
months plus one day, expiring 02 June 2013.  No finder’s fees were paid as part of this private placement.  Refer to 
note 9 of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Project Details

Commodity:  Gold
Location:  California, USA
Terms:  For Sale
Price:  $2.75 Million

The Wayback Machine - https://web.archive.org/web/20150117000302/http://minelistings.com:80/mines-for-sale/historic-idaho-maryland-gold-mine-for-sale

Historic California Gold Mine For Sale
 Idaho Maryland Gold Mine

 

Summary:

145 +/- Acres which includes the site of the historic, underground Idaho Maryland Gold Mine. The land is configured in 18 Assessor parcels.
109 +/- Acres of the offering are contiguous with the City limits of Grass Valley.
2750+/- Acres of mineral rights mostly contiguous below 200’ of surface.
An extensive collection of core samples from the Idaho Maryland Mine is included.

Location and Access:
Located approximately 60 miles north east of Sacramento, California, USA, in the heart of California's Gold Country. Located at the edge of Grass Valley and a mile from
CA State Highway 49, the parcels are accessed from Idaho-Maryland Rd, Centennial Dr, Brunswick Rd, and E. Bennett St

Description:
Define the future or reclaim the past on these 145 acres configured in 18 Assessor parcels located in California's Gold Country. Approximately 109 acres of the offering are
contiguous within Grass Valley City Limits and adjacent to industrial, business park and residential uses. Close to State Highway 49, bounded by city streets or major
thoroughfares, the parcels have varying topography, meadows, gorgeous tree cover, outstanding southern exposure and Wolf Creek running through. This land is home to
the historic, highly productive Idaho Maryland Gold Mine. The listing includes approximately 2750 acres of mineral rights plus an extensive collection of Idaho Maryland
core samples . Previous efforts to re-open the mine produced a 43-101 Technical Reports evidencing strong gold reserves, a Draft EIR (2008), a Phase 1 Environmental
(2007) and Assays, all available upon request.

Geology:
The Idaho-Maryland project is a structurally controlled, mesothermal gold deposit situated in the northern portion of the Sierra Nevada Foothills Gold Belt. This belt
averages 50 miles in width and extends for 320 miles in a north-northwest orientation along the western slope of the Sierra Nevada range.

The rock units underlying the Idaho-Maryland mine property include early Jurassic meta-sediments of the Fiddle Creek Complex; early Jurassic meta-volcanics and
interflow sediments of the Lake Combie Complex; middle Jurassic ophiolitic
assemblage of the Spring Hill Tectonic Mélange; later Jurassic Tectonic Mélange of the Weimar Fault Zone; and late Jurassic dioritic intrusives. The most important of
these units for gold exploration is the Spring Hill Tectonic mélange.

The varying styles of mineralization present at the Idaho-Maryland Project are typical of those commonly found in mesothermal lode gold deposits worldwide. At least four
basic types of mineralization have been recognized to contain significant gold deposits. In order of importance, these include (1) gold-quartz veins, (2) mineralized black
slate bodies, (3) mineralized diabasic slabs, and (4) altered, mineralized ultramafic schists. The veins consist primarily of quartz, which is milky white, massive to banded,
sheared, and brecciated. Gold occurs as native gold, ranging from very fine grains within the quartz to leaves or sheets along fractures.

History:
The Idaho-Maryland Mine property is located in Grass Valley; California, in the historic “Northern Mines District” which is one of the most famous and productive mining
districts in California. The principal mines in the area include the Empire, Idaho-Maryland, North Star, Pennsylvania and W.Y.O.D. mines.

The original claim on the Idaho-Maryland Mine Property was staked in 1851 and high-grade gold mineralization was discovered in 1863. The Idaho Maryland Mine
operated from 1862 until it shut down in 1956 because of the fixed price of gold at $35. USD per ounce and rising labor and supply costs. During its operation, the Idaho-
Maryland Mine Property yielded 2.38 million ounces (74 million grams) of gold from 5,546,000 short tons or a recovered grade of 0.43 ounces of gold per short ton. The
Idaho Maryland Mine was mined to a depth of 3,280-foot (1,000m) level. The Idaho Maryland Mine is reputed to be the second largest and second most productive
underground gold mine in California history, a runner-up to the adjacent Empire Mine.

From 2002 to 2012, Idaho Maryland Mining Corporation, a subsidiary of Emgold Mining Corp., under agreement with the mine owners, conducted studies, investigations,
sampling, testing, etc. at the Idaho Maryland Mine and applied to California and local regulating agencies for permission to reopen the mine. These efforts produced a Draft
Environmental Impact Report, Phase 1 Environmental Report, Technical Reports, Assays and numerous other studies and data. About two thirds of the way through the
regulatory process, Emgold, citing equity market conditions and funding difficulties, withdrew its application to re-open the Idaho Maryland Mine.

Additional Information:
Additional information and reports available upon request. Listed for sale with Charles Brock, CA BRE Lic # 00328328, Coldwell Banker Grass Roots Realty, Grass Valley,
CA 95945. Information deemed reliable but not guaranteed, all representations are approximate, and individual verification is recommended.

Photos:

https://web.archive.org/web/20150117000302/http://minelistings.com/commodity/gold-mines-for-sale
https://web.archive.org/web/20150117000302/http://minelistings.com/country/usa-mines-for-sale/california-mines-for-sale
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Idaho Maryland Gold Mine For Sale 5

For More Information Please Use The Form Below:
Name *

Email Address *

Phone Number

Message *

Accept Terms of Service?
All information is provided by the Seller and is NOT verified by MineListings.com. By submitting your request for
information, you agree that it is your sole responsibility to verify the accuracy of all claims and perform your own due
diligence to your own satisfaction. MineListings.com will not be responsible for damages financial or otherwise to you
and/or associates resulting from information listed on this site. You hereby agree to hold harmless, defend, and
indemnify MineListings.com from any and all liability, damages, and/or claims resulting from your use and/or receipt
of information from this site. For more information please see our Terms of Use *

 I agree to the Terms of Use

Please verify you're human by typing what you see/hear below:

Submit  
n 

Privacy & Terms

Type the text

https://web.archive.org/web/20150117000302/http://minelistings.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/Idaho-Maryland-Gold-Mine-For-Sale-1.jpg
https://web.archive.org/web/20150117000302/http://minelistings.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/Idaho-Maryland-Gold-Mine-For-Sale-2.jpg
https://web.archive.org/web/20150117000302/http://minelistings.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/Idaho-Maryland-Gold-Mine-For-Sale-3.jpg
https://web.archive.org/web/20150117000302/http://minelistings.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/Idaho-Maryland-Gold-Mine-For-Sale-4.jpg
https://web.archive.org/web/20150117000302/http://minelistings.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/Idaho-Maryland-Gold-Mine-For-Sale-5.jpg
https://web.archive.org/web/20150117000302/http://minelistings.com/terms-use
https://web.archive.org/web/20150102194035/http://www.google.com/intl/en/policies/


EXHIBIT 308 

   



 
 

 

RISE PURCHASES MAJOR PAST PRODUCING GOLD MINE 

 

 Rise purchases Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine. 

 Total past production of 2.4M oz gold at 15g/t after dilution and recovery. 

 Production reached 129,000 oz gold per year in 1940 before forced shutdown for 

WWII. 

 Significant historic mineral resource calculation by previous operator. 

 

January 25, 2017 – Vancouver, British Columbia – Rise Resources Inc. (CSE: UPP, OTC: 

RYES) (“Rise” or the “Company”) is pleased to announce that it has purchased the Idaho-

Maryland Gold Mine (the “I-M Mine”) located near Grass Valley, California, USA. The I-M Mine 

is a major past producing high grade gold mine. The acquisition represents the exercise of the 

Company’s option to purchase the I-M Mine first referenced in the Company’s news release dated 

October 6, 2016. 

 

Based on historic records, the I-M Mine produced a total of 2.4M oz gold at a grade of 15g/t after 

mining dilution and recovery. The I-M Mine was reportedly the second largest gold mine in the 

United States in 1941,1 producing up to 129,000 oz gold per year2 before being forced to shut down 

by the U.S. government in 1942. At that time, the government deemed gold mining as non-essential 

to wartime production and shut down almost all gold mines in order to reallocate miners, 

equipment, and supplies to increase production of base metals necessary for the war effort. 

 

The Company has purchased fee simple land upon which the I-M Mine is situated (the 

“Property”), which includes approximately 93 acres of surface land and approximately 2,750 

acres of mineral rights, for a purchase price of US$2,000,000. The Property includes all of the 

mineral rights assembled by Errol MacBoyle, a highly regarded mining engineer and a then-

prominent mining executive in the United States, and the Idaho Maryland Mines Corporation 

(“IMMC”) over a thirty-year period from 1920. The Property includes the surface rights at the 

Brunswick vertical shaft, which extends to over 3,000 ft depth and was the main production shaft 

for the historic mining operation. The Company owns a 100% interest in the Property and there 

are no royalties on future gold production. 

 

The I-M Mine was a profitable operation before the forced closure in 1942. In the period from 

1937 to 1941 the all-in cost of mining averaged ~US$24 per oz3. The I-M Mine was known for 

having mineralized veins with remarkable continuity. A single vein, the Eureka Vein, produced 

                                                 
1 Clark, Jack. Gold in Quartz: The Legendary Idaho Maryland Mine (2005). 
2 U.S. Bureau of Mines.  Minerals Yearbook 1941 (1942). Pg.252. 
3 Clark, Jack. Gold in Quartz: The Legendary Idaho Maryland Mine (2005). 



~1M oz gold at a grade of 34g/t after dilution and recovery. The Eureka Vein was continuously 

mined from surface over a pitch length of 1.6km with strike lengths from 150m-300m. 

Metallurgical recovery during the late years of production was high and ranged from 94-97% gold 

recovery.4 Approximately 65% of gold was recovered by gravity processes with the remainder 

recovered by flotation.  

 

The I-M Mine reached production of 129,000 oz gold per year in 19405 before it was ordered to 

be shut down by the U.S. government in 1942 due to the onset of World War II. In 1942, just prior 

to the wartime shutdown, Mr. MacBoyle had completed the installation of a brand new headframe 

and hoist, crushing plant, and complete refit of the processing plant in order to increase production 

to 2,000 tons per day6 which would have allowed production of approximately 240,000 oz gold 

per year. 

 

The I-M Mine was restarted on a commercial basis in 1946 but production was severely impacted 

by lack of working capital. Prior to the shutdown, from 1936 to 1942, over 96% of post-tax income 

was reportedly paid out to shareholders as dividends.7 MacBoyle suffered a serious stroke in 1943 

and was left partially paralyzed and unable to speak. Proxy battles and dissent among members of 

the board of directors of IMMC compounded the leadership crisis initiated by MacBoyle’s illness 

which led to his death in 1949. High inflation of costs after World War II, in conjunction with the 

fixed price of gold at US$35 per oz, resulted in the cessation of gold production at the I-M Mine 

in 1954.    

 

Due to the circumstances under which the I-M Mine was shut down, the Company believes there 

is significant potential for additional gold resources left unmined in the existing workings and 

exploration potential to expand the mineral resources below the historic mine workings. Included 

in the sale of the Property are the complete historic records of the I-M Mine. The comprehensive 

records include thousands of documents and maps which show mine workings, production data, 

drill results, assays, and other important information. 

 

Approximately 70,000 meters of core drilling and 36,000 assays were completed by IMMC. 

Historic drill results in unmined areas include assay composites of 16g/t gold over 9m and 6g/t 

gold over 17m. Chip samples taken in unmined areas range up to 1,375g/t Au (40oz/ton gold).8 

 

Emgold Mining Corporation held an option on the I-M Mine Property from approximately 1991 

to 2013 and completed a mineral resource calculation which is displayed in Table 1. The Company 

believes this historic resource estimate is relevant but the Company has not verified the mineral 

resource calculation. A full analysis of all historic production and sampling data will be required 

in order to verify the historic mineral resource. 

 

TABLE 1 – HISTORIC MINERAL RESOURCE (AMEC, 2002) 

 

                                                 
4 AMEC E&C Services Limited (AMEC). Idaho-Maryland Mine Technical Report (2002). 
5 U.S. Bureau of Mines.  Minerals Yearbook 1941 (1942). Pg.252. 
6 U.S. Bureau of Mines.  Minerals Yearbook 1942 (1943). Pg.288. 
7 Clark, Jack. Gold in Quartz: The Legendary Idaho Maryland Mine (2005). 
8 AMEC E&C Services Limited (AMEC). Idaho-Maryland Mine Technical Report (2002). 



Category Tonnes Au (g/t) Au (oz) 

Measured 999,000 6.5 212,000 

Indicated 433,000 15.1 211,000 

Total M&I 1,432,000 9.1 423,000 

    

Category Tonnes Au (g/t) Au (oz) 

Inferred 2,194,000 12.7 898,000 
 

Historic Mineral Resource for Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine reported by Emgold Mining 

Corporation on November 1st 2002 in a report titled “Idaho-Maryland Mine Technical Report" 

authored by AMEC E&C Services, S.J. Juras, P.Geo and S.K.. Morris, P.Geo, Mineral Resource 

is stated at a 3g/t gold cut-off grade. AMEC used mineral resource categories which are consistent 

with current NI 43-101 disclosure requirements. 

 

Rise Resources Inc. has not done sufficient work to classify the historical mineral resources 

estimated for the Idaho-Maryland Property as a current mineral resource. Rise is not 

treating these historical mineral estimates as a current estimate for mineral resources. 

 

The Company cautions that mineral resources that are not mineral reserves do not have 

demonstrated economic viability. Rise Resources Inc. has not established mineral reserves 

supported by a NI 43-101 compliant technical report and feasibility study. The Company 

cautions readers that production may not be economically feasible. 

 

Benjamin Mossman, CEO of Rise, commented “We have been extremely fortunate to acquire what 

we believe is a Tier 1 gold deposit. The I-M Project was forced to shutdown due to WWII just when 

it was reaching its full potential. While other great gold deposits have been discovered and mined 

out over the last 70 years the I-M Mine has been frozen in time. We are excited by this unique 

opportunity and feel privileged to be a part of the rich history of the Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine.” 

 

The Company’s immediate plans are to commence work on the historical data from the I-M Mine. 

Company engineers and geologists will process all of the relevant historical data into a digital 

database and model. The Company intends to complete a NI 43-101 technical report as soon as 

possible to analyze and consolidate historic production and exploration work and define priority 

exploration targets. The Company will also commence preliminary engineering studies to define 

a strategy towards longer term permitting and production goals.  

 

  



Private Placement Closed 

 

The Company is also pleased to announce that it has closed the non-brokered private placement 

announced in its December 28, 2016 news release (the “Financing”). The Company has raised a 

total of $268,000 through the sale of 1,340,000 units (each a “Unit”) at a price of $0.20 per Unit 

where each Unit consists of one common share (a “Share”) and one common share purchase 

warrant (a “Warrant”). Each Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one additional Share at an 

exercise price of $0.40 until January 24, 2019. In connection with the Financing, the Company 

agreed to pay finders’ fees of a total of $5,220 and issue a total of 26,100 finders’ warrants (each 

a “Finders’ Warrant”) where each Finders’ Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one Share a 

price of $0.40 until January 24, 2019. 

 

Concurrent with the closing the Financing, Rise also issued 920,000 Units at a deemed price of 

$0.20 per Unit to one individual in consideration for introducing the Company to the optionors of 

the I-M Mine.  The Units were issued pursuant to a debt conversion by the individual in the amount 

of US$140,000, representing a cash commission equal to 7% of the US$2,000,000 purchase price 

of the Property.   

 

Each of the foregoing securities is subject to a statutory hold period of a minimum of six months 

in accordance with applicable United States and Canadian securities laws. 

 

This press release does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy 

securities in the United States. The securities referenced herein have not been and will not 

be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “U.S. Securities 

Act”), or any state securities laws and may not be offered or sold in the United States except 

in compliance with one or more exemptions from the registration requirements of the U.S. 

Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. 
 

About Rise Resources Inc. 

 

Rise is a junior mining company. The Company’s principal asset is the historic past producing 

Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine located in California, USA, and its focus is on advanced mineral 

projects with demonstrated continuity and the majority of its value in precious metals. Rise also 

has several exploration properties in British Columbia, Canada. Rise was incorporated in Nevada, 

USA in 2007 and maintains its head office in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada.  

 

Mr. Benjamin Mossman P.Eng, CEO of Rise Resources is the qualified person who reviewed 

and approved the contents of this news release. 

 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors: 

 

Benjamin Mossman 

CEO and Director 

Rise Resources Inc. 

 



For further information, please contact: 

 

RISE RESOURCES INC. 

Suite 488, 1090 West Georgia Street 

Vancouver, BC V6E 3V7 

T: 604.260.4577 

www.risecapitalresources.com 

 

Forward-Looking Statements 

 

This press release contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable 

securities laws. Forward-looking statements are frequently characterized by words such as “plan”, 

“expect”, “project”, “intend”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “estimate” and other similar words or 

statements that certain events or conditions “may” or “will” occur.   

 

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements 

are reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. Such 

forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions related to certain 

factors including, without limitation, obtaining all necessary approvals, meeting expenditure and 

financing requirements, compliance with environmental regulations, title matters, operating 

hazards, metal prices, political and economic factors, competitive factors, general economic 

conditions, relationships with vendors and strategic partners, governmental regulation and 

supervision, seasonality, technological change, industry practices, and one-time events that may 

cause actual results, performance or developments to differ materially from those contained in the 

forward-looking statements.  Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-

looking statements and information contained in this release. Rise undertakes no obligation to 

update forward-looking statements or information except as required by law. 

 

Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors 

  

 The terms “mineral resource,” “measured mineral resource,” “indicated mineral resource,” and 

“inferred mineral resource” as used in this news release are Canadian mining terms that are defined 

in accordance with NI 43-101. These Canadian terms are not defined terms under United States 

Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Industry Guide 7 and are normally not permitted 

to be used in reports and registration statements filed with the SEC by U.S. registered 

companies. The SEC permits U.S. companies, in their filings with the SEC, to disclose only those 

mineral deposits that a company can economically and legally extract or produce. Accordingly, 

note that information contained in this news release describing the Company’s “mineral resources” 

is not directly comparable to information made public by U.S. companies subject to reporting 

requirements under U.S. securities laws.  U.S. investors are cautioned not to assume that any 

part or all of the mineral resources in these categories will ever be converted into Mineral 

Reserves. U.S. investors are urged to consider closely the disclosure in Rise’s Form 10-K which 

may be obtained from the Company, or online at http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml.   

 

http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml
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EXPLORATION DRILLING HAS COMMENCED AT IDAHO-MARYLAND 

 

 

October 23, 2017 – Vancouver, British Columbia – Rise Gold Corp. (CSE: RISE, OTC: RYES) 

(“Rise” or the “Company”) is pleased to announce that exploration core drilling from surface has 

commenced at the Idaho-Maryland Gold Project located in Nevada County, California. The first 

exploration drill hole has been collared, cased to bedrock, and the rock core is now being logged.  

The first drill hole will drill through the Brunswick “Porphyrite” Block and terminate in the 

surrounding serpentinite which hosts the Idaho mineralization. The first hole is expected to pierce 

a number of Brunswick style gold-quartz veins and stock-work zones. The end of hole target is the 

downward extension of the Idaho #1 Vein. Past production of the Idaho #1 Vein is estimated at 

935,000 oz gold at an average mill head grade of 38.6 gpt gold.  

The Company is drilling a series of widely spaced holes to test a target area on the western side of 

the I-M Deposit below the area where the historic operator ceased operations upon the mine’s 

shutdown in 1942 and 1955. Details on the drilling program were previously disclosed by news 

release on September 21st 2017. 

The Company will provide further updates on results as drilling progresses to depth.  

 

About Rise Gold Corp 

 

Rise is an exploration-stage mining company. The Company’s principal asset is the historic past 

producing Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine located in California, USA. The Idaho-Maryland Gold 

Mine is one of the United States’ greatest past producing gold mines with total past production of 

2,414,000 oz of gold from 1866-1955. Rise is a US corporation incorporated in Nevada, USA and 

maintains its head office in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. 

 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors: 

 

 

Benjamin Mossman 

President, CEO and Director 



Rise Gold Corp. 

 

 

For further information, please contact: 

 

RISE GOLD CORP 

Suite 488, 1090 West Georgia Street 

Vancouver, BC V6E 3V7 

T: 604.260.4577 

info@risegoldcorp.com  

www.risegoldcorp.com 

 

 

Benjamin Mossman, P.Eng, CEO of the Rise Gold Corp, is the Qualified Person responsible for 

the content of this news release. The CSE has not reviewed, approved or disapproved of the 

contents of this news release. 

 

 

Forward-Looking Statements 

 

This press release contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable 

securities laws. Forward-looking statements are frequently characterized by words such as “plan”, 

“expect”, “project”, “intend”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “estimate” and other similar words or 

statements that certain events or conditions “may” or “will” occur.   

 

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements 

are reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. Such 

forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions related to certain 

factors including, without limitation, obtaining all necessary approvals, meeting expenditure and 

financing requirements, compliance with environmental regulations, title matters, operating 

hazards, metal prices, political and economic factors, competitive factors, general economic 

conditions, relationships with vendors and strategic partners, governmental regulation and 

supervision, seasonality, technological change, industry practices, and one-time events that may 

cause actual results, performance or developments to differ materially from those contained in the 

forward-looking statements.  Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-

looking statements and information contained in this release. Rise undertakes no obligation to 

update forward-looking statements or information except as required by law. 

 

mailto:info@risegoldcorp.com
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RISE ANNOUNCES CHANGE OF NAME AND TRADING SYMBOL ON CSE 

 

 

April 7, 2017 – Vancouver, British Columbia – Rise Gold Corp. (CSE: RISE (formerly UPP), 

OTC: RYES) (the “Company”) announces that the Company has completed its name change to 

Rise Gold Corp. and that the Company trading symbol on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the 

“CSE”) has been changed to RISE (CSE:RISE).  To effect this change, trading on the CSE will 

be temporarily halted until official confirmation of CDS and DTC eligibility is received.  

Notification is expected to be received shortly at which time the Company’s shares will resume 

trading on the CSE.  

 

The Company’s trading symbol on the US OTC market will remain RYES. 

  

About Rise Gold Corp. 

Rise is an exploration stage mining company.  The Company’s principal asset is the historic past 

producing Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine located in California, USA.  Rise was incorporated in 

Nevada, USA in 2007 and maintains its head office in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors: 

 

Benjamin Mossman 

CEO and Director 

Rise Resources Inc. 

 

For further information, please contact: 

 

RISE GOLD CORP. 

Suite 488, 1090 West Georgia Street 

Vancouver, BC V6E 3V7 

T: 604.260.4577 

www.risegoldcorp.com 

 

INVESTOR RELATIONS 

Skanderbeg Capital Advisors Inc. 
Mario Vetro 



T: 604.687.7130 

Email: mario@skanderbegcapital.com 

 

 

Forward-Looking Statements 

 

This press release contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable 

securities laws. Forward-looking statements are frequently characterized by words such as 

“plan”, “expect”, “project”, “intend”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “estimate” and other similar words 

or statements that certain events or conditions “may” or “will” occur.   

 

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements 

are reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct.  Such 

forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions related to certain 

factors including, without limitation, obtaining all necessary approvals, meeting expenditure and 

financing requirements, compliance with environmental regulations, title matters, operating 

hazards, metal prices, political and economic factors, competitive factors, general economic 

conditions, relationships with vendors and strategic partners, governmental regulation and 

supervision, seasonality, technological change, industry practices, and one-time events that may 

cause actual results, performance or developments to differ materially from those contained in 

the forward-looking statements.  Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on 

forward-looking statements and information contained in this release.  Rise undertakes no 

obligation to update forward-looking statements or information except as required by law. 

mailto:mario@skanderbegcapital.com
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Rise Gold Intersects 149 gpt Gold over 6.8 meters at Idaho-Maryland 
 
• 1st drill hole in 52 Vein area assays 149.3 gpt gold over 6.8 m  
• Confirms the 52 Vein area as a significant exploration target 
• Drilling of the Idaho #1 Vein target currently in-progress 

December 13, 2018 – Vancouver, British Columbia – Rise Gold Corp. (CSE: RISE, OTCQB: 
RYES) (the “Company”) is pleased to announce additional assay results from on-going diamond 
core drilling at the Idaho-Maryland (“I-M”) Gold Project. 

The exploration drill program at the Idaho-Maryland continues to be successful and recent drilling 
tested several new targets which produced the highest-grade gold intercept to-date. 

Very high-grade gold mineralization was encountered in the first hole to test the 52 Vein area. The 
52 Vein area lies above the Idaho #1 Vein target and most drill holes are expected to pierce the 52 
Vein target en route to the Idaho #1 Vein target.  

Drill hole I-18-10 intersected a quartz shear vein and a wide zone of extensional veining. This 
intersection is interpreted to be a continuation of the 52 Vein where historic mining and exploration 
were conducted prior to mine shut-down in the 1950’s. 

The mineralization in the I-18-10 intercept consists of a quartz shear vein and zones of extensional 
quartz veins in the hanging wall and footwall of the vein.  

• Hanging wall stringers of the 52 Vein assayed 1.8 gpt gold over 7.6 m. 
• The 52 shear vein assayed 3.2 gpt gold over 6.4 m. 
• An extensional vein in the footwall with visible gold assayed 97.3 gpt gold over 0.5 m. 
• A series of stringers in the footwall of the 52 Vein assayed 149.3 gpt gold over 6.8 m 

including an extensional vein in the footwall which contained visible gold and assayed 
2,190 gpt gold over 0.5 m. 

The mineralization encountered in the I-18-10 intercept is similar to mineralization annotated on 
historic mining maps and detailed in reports produced at the time. The historic operator conducted 
mining and exploration in the 52-Vein area in both the regular shear veins and zones of extensional 
veining in both the hanging wall and footwall of the 52 Vein. 

The 52 Vein area is a significant exploration target. Historic exploration drifting and mining in 52 
Vein mineralization to the east of the I-18-10 intercept and historic drill holes and mining to the 
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north outline a lateral area to be explored of approximately 365 m x 495 m. Further drilling is 
required to determine the extent and nature of mineralization in the 52 Vein exploration target 
area. The casing for drill hole I-18-10 was left in-place and further testing in the area of the high-
grade intercept can be done efficiently using branch holes in the future. 

A summary of drill hole assay results from recent exploration diamond drilling are presented in 
Table 1 and illustrated in Figure 1. Collar orientation data for the drill holes are detailed in Table 2.  
A detailed summary of the 52 Vein area is outlined in Section 9.1.2 of the Technical Report on the 
Idaho-Maryland Project dated June 1st, 2017 and available on the Company website and at 
www.sedar.com. 

Additional drawings showing the 52 Vein drill hole intercepts can be downloaded from the 
following link. 

https://riseg.sharefile.com/d-s32dcc87347e42ffb  

http://www.sedar.com/
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TABLE 1 – New Drill Hole Intercept Highlights 

Hole From 
(m) To (m) Gold (gpt) Intercept 

Length (m)  
Estimated True 

Width (m) * Vein 

B-18-06 682.8 688.6 2.6 5.8 4.1 B10 
B-18-06 766.5 775.5 4.9 9.0 8.2 B41 

B-18-07 733.3 736.4 3.0 3.0 2.4 B6 
B-18-07 746.5 750.1 4.0 3.7 2.8 B10 HW 
B-18-07 757.0 760.8 1.9 6.8 5.4 B10 FW 
Z-18-08 No significant mineralization 

Z-18-09 309.7 316.4 3.3 6.7 ? Zebra 

I-18-10 171.1 174.6 4.7 3.5 ? Zebra 

I-18-10 958.0 965.6 1.8 7.6 ? 52 HW “Stringers” 

I-18-10 965.6 972.0 3.2 6.4 ? 52 Shear Vein 

I-18-10 978.0 978.5 97.3 0.5 ? 52 FW “Stringer” 

I-18-10 987.8 994.6 149.3 6.8 ? 52 FW “Stringers” 

     Including 993.4 993.9 2190 0.5 ?  

 
* Estimated true widths for the B6, B10, & B41 Veins are based on modeling from previous drill intercepts and historic mining. 
The Company is not able to reliably estimate true widths for the 52 Vein mineralization and for the Zebra Zone until further drilling 
is completed. 
 

TABLE 2 – Drill hole Orientations at Collar 

Hole Depth (m) Azimuth 
(degrees) 

Inclination 
(degrees) 

B-18-06 981 40 -73 
B-18-07 807 331 -60 

Z-18-08 318 90 -64 
Z-18-09 321 80 -64 
I-18-10 1025 314 -61 
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FIGURE 1 – 52 Vein Intercept – Plan View 
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FIGURE 2 – 52 Vein Intercept – Section View 
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52 Vein Area 

In October 1940, the historic operator completed the deepening of the 30 Winze from the I2000 
level to the I2700 level and commenced drifting on the Idaho #2 Vein to the south west. Drifting 
through mineralization continued beyond the expected limit of the Idaho #2 Vein into the 
Brunswick “Porphyrite” Block and at the forced wartime shut down in 1942 the company had 
completed over 400 meters of exploration drifting in continuous mineralization on an apparent 
new vein structure.  The mineralization discovered was unusual as it had never been encountered 
in this area before and had an unusually flat dip in comparison to the other veins of the mine. The 
historic operator remarked that the discovery constituted a “wholly new development in the 
geology of the mine”1.  

After the mine reopened following WWII, the historic operator continued exploration in the area 
with significant additional mineralization discovered in 1948 showing widths up to 9 meters and 
assays up to 55 gpt gold. By 1951, the 52 Vein had become one of the most important areas in the 
mine. Abundant “specimen ore” was reported in addition to the regular gold content of quartz vein 
mineralization. Reports in 1951 indicate over 1400 oz of gold in “specimen ore” alone was 
removed from the mine in less than 2 months. Data from train car sampling is available from 1950 
– 1952 which show an average diluted mine grade of ~10.6 gpt gold from mining in the 52 Vein 
area234.  

The 52 Vein area presented logistical difficulties due to the lack of infrastructure in the area. 
Moving rock to surface required a 450 m tram along I2700 level to 30 Winze, hoisting via 30 
Winze from I2700 to I2000 level, a 1200 m tram on I2000 level to the Idaho shaft, and then hoisting 
of the ore to surface through the inclined Idaho shaft5. The difficulty in moving rock impeded the 
development of the area and was not resolved until 1954 when a connection was made to the New 
Brunswick Shaft on B3280 level6.  
 
Mineralization in the 52 Vein area consists of gently dipping shear veins with substantial 
extensional veining or “stringer” mineralization in the footwall and hanging wall of the veins. 
Stoping of the shear veins was undertaken by the historic operators with overlapping stopes and 
slashing of the adjacent stringer mineralization. The shear veins generally ranged in width from 
2 – 3 m but mining widths exceeded 12 m in some areas where adjacent “stringer” mineralization 
was present. Much drifting was done in the stringer mineralization located in the footwall of the 
52 Vein and in the final year of the mine’s operation the 17 cross-cut was driven 110 meters into 
the footwall of the 52 Vein where it was reported to be well mineralized1.  

Drill hole I-18-10 intersected multiple mineralized horizons believed to correlate with the historic 
52 Vein area. The intercept shows extensional veins persisting into the footwall of the 52 Vein for 
a significant distance with some of these veins showing visible gold. 

Two historic exploration diamond drill holes are located north of the I-18-10 intercept and assayed 
up to 16.5 gpt gold over 9.1 m. The historic drill holes were drilled at a poor orientation to the 
mineralization as they were drilled sub-horizontally into the flat-lying to gently dipping structure. 
These historic drill holes likely did not pierce the entire 52 Vein mineralized horizon7.  
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Historic exploration drifting and mining in 52 Vein mineralization to the east and historic drill 
holes and mining to the north outline a potential exploration area of approximately 365 m x 495 m. 
The 52 Vein area has exploration potential in both the shear veins and in areas where extensional 
veins are sufficiently concentrated to allow bulk mining.  Further drilling is required to determine 
the extent and nature of mineralization in the 52 Vein exploration target area. Many of the drill 
holes that are planned for testing of the Idaho #1 Vein will also pierce the 52 Vein target area.  

 

Zebra Zone Drilling 

Two drill holes, Z-18-08 and Z-18-09, targeted the Zebra Zone target. The Zebra Zone is a unique 
area of the Brunswick Mine where gold and quartz veins are hosted in a large block of calcareous 
meta-sediments, historically referred to as “black slates”. Drill hole I-18-10 intersected “Zebra” 
style mineralization in similar meta-sedimentary rocks. Further drilling is required in this area to 
determine the orientation of the mineralization and properly test the target. Drill hole Z-18-09 
intersected 3.3 gpt gold over 6.7 m and drill hole I-18-10 intersected 4.7 gpt gold over 3.5 m in 
"Zebra” type host rocks.  

 

Brunswick Zone Drilling 

Drill holes B-18-06 and B-18-07 successfully expanded several previously intersected Brunswick 
veins at depth. (See Rise Gold news releases dated August 7th, July 23rd, June 28th, and January 
3rd, 2018) 

Drill hole B-18-06 intersected the B41 Vein below the B2300 level, with an intercept of 4.9 gpt 
gold over 9.0 m and B-18-07 extended the B10 Veins below the B1880 level.  

The B41 Vein is believed to be a significant target at the Brunswick Mine due to is exceptional 
width and increasing grade with proximity to the 6-3 Fault. 

The Company’s exploration program is currently focussed on the Idaho #1 Vein target and further 
drilling of the Brunswick veins will be done in the future. 

Drawings showing the Brunswick drill hole intercepts can be downloaded from the following link. 

https://riseg.sharefile.com/d-sb5ba2faabf345869 

 

Quality Control and Assay Methods 

Richard Lippoth, M.Sc, CPG, the qualified person for the exploration drill results disclosure 
contained in this news release, has studied the drill core discussed in this news release and has 
reviewed the analytical and quality control results. Mr. Lippoth has reviewed and approved the 
scientific and technical contents of this news release. 

https://riseg.sharefile.com/d-sb5ba2faabf345869
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Benjamin Mossman, P.Eng, CEO of Rise Gold, is the qualified person for the historic production 
disclosure contained in this news release. Historic production at the Idaho-Maryland Mine is 
disclosed in the Technical Report on the Idaho-Maryland Project dated June 1st, 2017 and 
available on www.sedar.com.  

Rise has implemented a quality control program for its drill program to ensure best practice in the 
sampling and analysis of the drill core. This includes the insertion of blind blanks, duplicates and 
certified standards. HQ- and NQ-sized drill core is saw cut with half of the drill core sampled at 
intervals based on geological criteria including lithology, visual mineralization, and alteration. The 
remaining half of the core is stored on-site at the Company’s warehouse in Grass Valley, 
California. Drill core samples are transported in sealed bags to ALS Minerals analytical assay lab 
in Reno, Nevada. 

All gold assays were obtained using a method of screen fire assaying. This procedure involves 
screening a large pulverized sample of up to 1 kg at 100 microns. Any +100 micron material 
remaining on the screen is retained and analyzed in its entirety by fire assay with gravimetric finish 
and reported as the Au (+) fraction result. The –100 micron fraction is homogenized and two sub-
samples of 30-50 grams are analyzed by fire assay with AAS finish. If the grade of the material 
exceeds 10 gpt the sample is re-assayed using a gravimetric finish. The average of the two results 
is taken and reported as the Au (-) fraction result. All three values are used in calculating the 
combined gold content of the plus and minus fractions. 

Detailed production information from the internal records of the Idaho Maryland Mine are 
available for the period from 1926-1955. In general, the Idaho Maryland Mines Co. appears to 
have been a well-run company with excellent record keeping. The qualified person believes this 
information is reliable but some of the source documents used by the authors of these documents 
are not available for reconciliation.  

 

About Rise Gold Corp. 

Rise Gold is an exploration-stage mining company. The Company’s principal asset is the historic 
past-producing Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine located in Nevada County, California, USA. The 
Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine is a past producing gold mine with total past production of 2,414,000 
oz of gold at an average mill head grade of 17 gpt gold from 1866-1955. Historic production at the 
Idaho-Maryland Mine is disclosed in the Technical Report on the Idaho-Maryland Project dated 
June 1st, 2017 and available on www.sedar.com. Rise Gold is incorporated in Nevada, USA and 
maintains its head office in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors: 
 
 
Benjamin Mossman 
President, CEO and Director 
Rise Gold Corp. 
 

http://www.sedar.com./
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For further information, please contact: 

 
RISE GOLD CORP. 
Suite 650, 669 Howe Street 
Vancouver, BC V6C 0B4 
T: 604.260.4577 
info@risegoldcorp.com  
www.risegoldcorp.com 
 
 
The CSE has not reviewed, approved or disapproved the contents of this news release. 
 
Forward-Looking Statements 
 
This press release contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable 
securities laws. Forward-looking statements are frequently characterized by words such as “plan”, 
“expect”, “project”, “intend”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “estimate” and other similar words or 
statements that certain events or conditions “may” or “will” occur.   
 
Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements 
are reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. Such 
forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions related to certain 
factors including, without limitation, obtaining all necessary approvals, meeting expenditure and 
financing requirements, compliance with environmental regulations, title matters, operating 
hazards, metal prices, political and economic factors, competitive factors, general economic 
conditions, relationships with vendors and strategic partners, governmental regulation and 
supervision, seasonality, technological change, industry practices, and one-time events that may 
cause actual results, performance or developments to differ materially from those contained in the 
forward-looking statements.  Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements and information contained in this release. Rise undertakes no obligation to 
update forward-looking statements or information except as required by law. 
 

1 Idaho Maryland Mines Co. Geologist Monthly Status Reports (Internal Reports). (1940-1954) 
2 Grass Valley Union. New Vein at Idaho May Go 30 Feet Wide. (Dec 1948) 
3 Los Angeles Times. New Grass Valley Gold Find Shows Vast Promise. (May 1951) 
4 Idaho Maryland Mines Co. Weekly Muck Car Sampling (Internal Records). (Mar 1950 – Dec 1952) 
5 Idaho Maryland Mines Co. Mine Manager Monthly Summary Reports (Internal Reports). (1940-1953) 
6 Clark, Jack. Gold in Quartz: The Legendary Idaho Maryland Mine. (2005) 
7 Kulla, Greg (AMEC). Technical Report on the Idaho-Maryland Project. (June 2017) 

                                                 

mailto:info@risegoldcorp.com
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RISE COMPLETES ACQUISITION OF INDUSTRIAL LAND AT IDAHO-MARYLAND 

GOLD PROJECT 
 

 
May 23, 2018 – Vancouver, British Columbia – Rise Gold Corp. (CSE: RISE, OTCQB: RYES) 
(“Rise Gold” or the “Company”) announces it has completed the purchase of 82 acres of fee-
simple land (the “Mill Site Property”) adjacent to the historic New Brunswick mine shaft. The 
final payment of US$400,000 was made in May 2018. Total payments to acquire an undivided 
100% interest in the Mill Site Property were US$1,900,000. Rise Gold has invested a total of 
US$3,900,000 for the purchase of private land in Nevada County, California. 

The Company has purchased the Mill Site Property to support the exploration and future 
development of the Idaho-Maryland Gold Project. The Mill Site Property is located adjacent to the 
New Brunswick mine shaft. Prior to 1991, the Mill Site Property hosted a major commercial 
lumber mill and 55,000 ft2 of industrial buildings. All buildings have subsequently been removed. 
The Property has a leveled area of approximately 40 acres and a large water-recycle pond which 
was constructed in 1988. The pond has a surface area of approximately 3.7 acres and a design 
capacity of approximately 40 acre-feet. Records indicate that the pond is lined with a 2 ft layer of 
clay and was designed by a registered civil engineer. 

Rise Gold Corp. is a significant industrial land holder and owns 175 acres of industrial zoned fee-
simple land in Nevada County, California along with the 2,800 acres of private mineral rights 
which encompasses the Idaho-Maryland Gold Project.  

 

About Rise Gold Corp 

Rise Gold is an exploration-stage mining company. The Company’s principal asset is the historic 
past producing Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine located in Nevada County, California, USA. The 
Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine is one of the United States’ greatest past producing gold mines with 
total past production of 2,414,000 oz of gold at an average mill head grade of 17 gpt gold from 
1866-1955. Rise Gold is incorporated in Nevada, USA and maintains its head office in Vancouver, 
British Columbia, Canada. Historic production at the Idaho-Maryland Mine is disclosed in the 
Technical Report on the Idaho-Maryland Project dated June 1st, 2017 and available on 
www.sedar.com.  

 



On behalf of the Board of Directors: 
 
 
Benjamin Mossman 
President, CEO and Director 
Rise Gold Corp. 
 
 
For further information, please contact: 
 
RISE GOLD CORP. 
Suite 650, 669 Howe Street 
Vancouver, BC V6C 0B4 
T: 604.260.4577 
info@risegoldcorp.com  
www.risegoldcorp.com 
 
 
Benjamin Mossman, P.Eng, CEO of Rise Gold Corp., is the Qualified Person responsible for the 
technical content of this news release. The CSE has not reviewed, approved or disapproved the 
contents of this news release. 
 
 
Forward-Looking Statements 
 
This press release contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable 
securities laws. Forward-looking statements are frequently characterized by words such as “plan”, 
“expect”, “project”, “intend”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “estimate” and other similar words or 
statements that certain events or conditions “may” or “will” occur.   
 
Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements 
are reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. Such 
forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions related to certain 
factors including, without limitation, obtaining all necessary approvals, meeting expenditure and 
financing requirements, compliance with environmental regulations, title matters, operating 
hazards, metal prices, political and economic factors, competitive factors, general economic 
conditions, relationships with vendors and strategic partners, governmental regulation and 
supervision, seasonality, technological change, industry practices, and one-time events that may 
cause actual results, performance or developments to differ materially from those contained in the 
forward-looking statements.  Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements and information contained in this release. Rise undertakes no obligation to 
update forward-looking statements or information except as required by law. 

mailto:info@risegoldcorp.com
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Rise Gold Announces Significant Exploration Target at the Idaho-Maryland Gold 
Project 

 
June 28, 2019 – Vancouver, British Columbia – Rise Gold Corp. (CSE: RISE, OTCQB: RYES) (the 
“Company”) is pleased to announce the successful completion of the initial surface exploration drilling 
program, the estimation of a significant Initial Exploration Target based on recent exploration drilling, 
and the Company’s strategy to advance the Idaho-Maryland (“I-M”) Gold Project towards the re-opening 
of the mine. 

The Company has completed 19 drill holes, totalling 20,584 meters, over the past 20 months in the 
Company’s initial surface exploration drilling program at the Idaho-Maryland Gold Project. 

Drilling has confirmed the presence of significant extensions of previously mined veins and structures. 
Numerous high-grade gold intercepts have been encountered, both near the existing mine workings and 
to depths of over 1 km below historic mining areas. 

The Company has calculated an Initial Exploration Target based on Rise Gold’s exploration drill results 
supported by historic data from the Idaho-Maryland Gold Project. The initial target represents the 
mineralized material in close proximity to and accessible from the existing mine workings that can be 
readily drilled from surface and/or underground to define a mineral resource. 

The Initial Exploration Target provides a basis for the engineering required to permit and plan for the re-
opening of Idaho-Maryland Mine. The Company is now focusing its resources on engineering work to 
advance the project. The Company has temporarily curtailed surface exploration drilling. 

The Company has commenced engineering work to support an application for a Use Permit from Nevada 
County to allow the following activities: 

1) Dewatering of the underground mine workings. 
2) Underground exploration drilling. 
3) Full commercial mining with onsite mineral processing at the historic throughput of 1,000 tons per 

day. 
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Information on regulatory and environmental aspects of the Idaho-Maryland Gold Project was previously 
released on May 17, 20191. 

The Initial Exploration Target is estimated to range between 2,280,000 tons – 3,410,000 tons of 
mineralized material, as detailed in Table 1. Approximately 50% of the mineralized material is hosted in 
wide zones, estimated to average ~29 feet (9 m) in true width, and potentially amenable to high 
productivity sub level long hole mining methods. The remaining mineralized material is estimated to 
average ~10 feet (3 m) in true width and would likely require more selective mining methods such as cut 
and fill mining. 

The grade of this mineralized material cannot reliably be estimated without more extensive sampling. 
However, Rise Gold’s drill core assays in conjunction with historic geological information show high 
grade gold values similar to grades that were encountered in historic operations at the Idaho-Maryland 
Mine. 

Past production of the Idaho-Maryland for the period from 1866 to 1955 is estimated at 2,414,000 oz of 
gold at an average mill head grade of 0.50 oz per ton (17 grams per tonne) gold. Over the five years from 
1937-1941 before the mine was forced to shutdown during WWII, the mine produced an average of 
941 tons per day at an average head grade of 0.34 oz per ton (11.6 grams per tonne) and 116,000 oz gold 
per year2. 

The Company cautions investors that the potential quantity and grade of the Initial Exploration Target is 
conceptual in nature and there has been insufficient exploration to define a mineral resource. The 
exploration target therefore does not represent, and should not be construed to be, an estimate of a mineral 
resource or mineral reserve. It is uncertain if further exploration will result in the target being delineated 
as a mineral resource. 

The Initial Exploration Target is derived from Rise Gold’s drill intercepts where geology can be correlated 
to historic workings. Many of Rise Gold’s recent drill intercepts are excluded from the estimate until 
further drilling can allow the full and reliable interpretation of this data. An exceptionally high gold 
intercept encountered below the modeled exploration target in drill hole I-18-10 was excluded from the 
Initial Exploration Target. This interval assayed 4.35 oz per ton gold over 22.4 feet and included 63.85 oz 
per ton gold over 1.5 ft. This high-grade interval may represent a new and significant high-grade discovery 
but further drilling in this area is required to understand the orientation and nature of the mineralization. 

                                                 
1 
https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/content/May17RiseGoldProvidesInformationonTechnicalRegulatoryandEnvironment
alAspectsoftheIdahoMarylandGoldProject.pdf 
2 
https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/content/APR4RISEPROVIDESESTIMATEOFHISTORICGOLDPRODUCTIONFO
RIMMINE.pdf 

 

https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/content/May17RiseGoldProvidesInformationonTechnicalRegulatoryandEnvironmentalAspectsoftheIdahoMarylandGoldProject.pdf
https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/content/May17RiseGoldProvidesInformationonTechnicalRegulatoryandEnvironmentalAspectsoftheIdahoMarylandGoldProject.pdf
https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/content/APR4RISEPROVIDESESTIMATEOFHISTORICGOLDPRODUCTIONFORIMMINE.pdf
https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/content/APR4RISEPROVIDESESTIMATEOFHISTORICGOLDPRODUCTIONFORIMMINE.pdf
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Numerous known veins shown by historic drilling and mapping, pillars, and broken ore inventory in 
historic shrinkage stopes are excluded from the Initial Exploration Target. The Company believes there is 
significant potential in these tertiary targets that will be best targeted, in the future, from underground. 

The large mineral potential to depth, as described in Rise Golds news release dated May 21st 20193, is not 
included in the Initial Exploration Target and justifies extensive exploration. The Company believes that 
the potential for gold mineralization to depth is very significant and that it may be possible to delineate 
resources similar to or greater than the past production achieved at the Idaho-Maryland Mine. 

 

TABLE 1 – Initial Exploration Target Summary 

      
Tons Mineralized 

Material 
Estimated True 

Width 

Block Zone Level 
Low 
Case 

Base 
Case feet meters 

A Idaho #2  I2700L - B3280L 540,000 810,000 33 10.1 
B Idaho #2  I2700L 200,000 300,000 16 4.9 
C Idaho #2 - Splays I2400L  170,000 250,000 8 2.4 
D Idaho #1 Morehouse  I2400L - B3280 L 170,000 250,000 8 2.4 
E Idaho #1  I2400L - B3280 L 320,000 480,000 8 2.4 
F Brunswick #1  B1600L - B1880L 290,000 440,000 26 7.9 
G Brunswick #32 B1300L-B1880L 120,000 180,000 11 3.3 
H Brunswick #10HW  B1600L - B1880L 80,000 120,000 8 2.5 
I Brunswick #10 FW  B1600L - B1880L 90,000 130,000 9 2.7 
J Brunswick #41 B1880L - B2650L 300,000 450,000 23 6.9 

  TOTAL   2,280,000 3,410,000     
 

  

                                                 
3 
https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/content/May21RiseGoldIntersectsHighGradeGold600mBelowLowestLevelofExplorat
iononIdaho1VeinatIdahoMaryland.pdf 

https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/content/May21RiseGoldIntersectsHighGradeGold600mBelowLowestLevelofExplorationonIdaho1VeinatIdahoMaryland.pdf
https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/content/May21RiseGoldIntersectsHighGradeGold600mBelowLowestLevelofExplorationonIdaho1VeinatIdahoMaryland.pdf
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FIGURE 1 – Location of Areas Included in Initial Exploration Target 

 

 

IDAHO #2 VEIN & RECENT DRILL RESULTS 

Recent drill hole I-19-14A provided important geological information to prepare a substantial exploration 
target estimate for a portion of the Idaho #2 Vein. This zone of mineralization is estimated to have a true 
width of ~33 ft (10 m) and range in size from 540,000 – 800,000 tons.  

Drill hole I-19-14A assayed 1.4 gpt gold over 14.9 m (0.04 oz per ton / 49.1 ft) including 6.2 gpt gold 
over 1.9 m (0.18 oz per ton / 6.3 feet).  
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Information from Drill hole I-19-14A provides geological context to previous intersections and historic 
information in this area of the Idaho #2 Vein. Drilling shows two important veins of the Idaho #2 zone 
which should be composited into a single zone.  

Therefore, the previously released intersection for this area from drill hole I-19-13A is restated as 27.1 
gpt gold over 14.8 m (0.79 oz gold per ton over 48.7 feet) with a true width of 14.1 m (46.4 ft). All drill 
hole intersections in this area of the Idaho #2 Vein are shown in Table 3. 

A diabase dike is consistently present in the hanging wall of the mineralized zone. A gold-quartz vein is 
present immediately adjacent to the diabase (hanging wall vein). A second vein is separated from the 
hanging wall vein by approximately 18 ft (the center vein). The rock between the two veins is intensely 
altered and contains persistent but lower grade gold values. A weaker vein (footwall vein), occurs at a 
distance of approximately 20 ft from the center vein. 

Historic drill hole I-2800-5 shows a similar style of mineralization with a hanging wall, center, and 
footwall vein. The historic operator did not assay the mineralized material between the veins and therefore 
31 feet of the 63-foot mineralized interval in historic drill hole I-2800-5 is assigned a zero-gold grade.  

Drill hole I-19-13 and I-19-13A are closely spaced, approximately 1.5 m (5 ft) apart, and show consistent 
geology but differ in grade substantially due to the coarse nature of the gold occurrence in this zone. For 
example, a section of the center vein in I-19-13A assayed 458 gpt gold over 0.81 m (13.35 oz per ton 
gold / 2.7 feet) and showed coarse gold in the retained half of the drill core as shown in Figure 2. The 
corresponding sample from I-19-13 assayed 12.5 gpt gold over 0.85 m (0.36 oz per ton gold / 2.8 feet). 
Rise Gold geologists inspected the retained half core from the corresponding I-19-13 interval and noted 
gold just below the surface of the drill core. This retained sample was split and revealed coarse gold 
present (shown in Figure 3), which may have resulted in a much higher assay if the entire core was 
submitted for assay. 

Drill hole I-19-14A intersected the Idaho #2 Vein ~25.9 m (~85 feet) north of the mineralized intervals in 
drill holes I-19-13 and I-19-13A. 

Drill hole I-19-14 intersected the Idaho #2 Vein 19.8 m (~65 feet) north of I-19-14A. The vein shows a 
sharp change in strike in this location, mirroring the historic drifting above on the I2700 level, and results 
in a significant decrease in vein widths, intensity of alteration, and gold grades. Based on historic records 
from the I2700 level above, it is suspected that gold grades may improve as the strike of the Idaho #2 Vein 
turns towards the Idaho #3 Vein, approximately 70 m (230 ft) north of the I-19-14 intercept. 
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FIGURE 2 – Visible Gold in Drill Intercept I-19-13A (in retained half core) 

(Assayed 13.35 oz per ton / 2.7 feet) 

 

FIGURE 3 – Visible Gold in Drill Intercept I-19-13 (in retained half core)  

(Assayed 0.36 oz per ton / 2.8 feet) 
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INITIAL EXPLORATION TARGET 

The Company prepared an estimate of potential tonnages for a number of exploration targets where recent 
drill results can be correlated with historic geology and operational data. Each zone was modelled using 
Rise Gold’s drill hole information along with historic mapping and historic drilling where it was available. 
To account for uncertainty in geometry, a low case value of 67% of the base case value is presented in the 
exploration target summary. The historic mineralized material density of 12 ft3 / ton was used for tonnage 
estimates.  

The Initial Exploration Target only includes mineralization above the B3280 level which is the lowest 
level of the existing historic mine. Rise Gold has drilled several important intersections much deeper than 
the B3280 level which suggests important gold mineralization extends well below the B3280 level. The 
historic operator also anticipated that gold mineralization continued well below the B3280 level and 
invested significant capital to upgrade the mine hoist and was actively sinking the shaft towards the 5000 ft 
level below surface. The historic operator reached a depth of 3470 ft below surface when the mine was 
forced to close in 1942. 

Drawings showing the location and geometry of the zones included in the Initial Exploration Target can 
be downloaded from the following link. All drawings are in imperial units and shown in mine grid 
coordinates. The mine grid uses an elevation of 10,000 ft as the datum for sea level. Mine grid north is 
similar to true north. 

https://riseg.sharefile.com/d-s59c224538744036b 

The estimated dimensions used for the calculation of the Initial Exploration Target is displayed in Table 2. 
Drill intersections used for the modelling of the Initial Exploration target are displayed in Table 3 through 
Table 5. Important Rise Gold drill intersections which were excluded from the Initial Exploration Target 
are presented in Table 6. 

 

TABLE 2 – Estimated Dimensions for Initial Exploration Target 

    Estimated 

Block Zone 
Strike Length 

(ft) 
Dip Length 

(ft) 
True Width 

(ft) 
Dip 

(deg) 
A Idaho #2  574 510 33 30 
B Idaho #2  454 485 16 0 (flat) 
C Idaho #2 - Splays 454 421 2 x 8 = 16 0 (flat) 
D Idaho #1 Morehouse  497 754 8 35 
E Idaho #1  1340 533 8 45 - 90 
F Brunswick #1  438 461 26 35 
G Brunswick #32 300 659 11 60 
H Brunswick #10HW  480 378 8 60 
I Brunswick #10 FW  480 378 9 60 
J Brunswick #41 222 1085 23 45 

 

https://riseg.sharefile.com/d-s59c224538744036b
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TABLE 3 – Rise Gold & Historic Drill Intersections within Idaho #2 Initial Exploration Target 

Hole From 
(ft) To (ft) From 

(m) To (m) Gold 
(gpt) 

Gold 
(oz 
per 
ton) 

Intercept 
Length 

(ft)  

Intercept 
Length 

(m)  

Estimated 
True 

Width (ft)  

Estimated 
True 

Width 
(m)  

Vein 

I-19-13 3273.0 3323.8 997.60 1013.09 2.9 0.09 50.9 15.50 44.75 13.64 I2 - Bk-A 

     Including 3307.0 3323.8 1007.97 1013.09 5.5 0.16 16.8 5.12 14.78 4.51 center vn 

I-19-13A 3263.6 3312.3 994.75 1009.57 27.0 0.79 48.7 14.83 46.40 14.14 I2 - Bk-A 

    Including 3298.3 3312.3 1005.31 1009.57 90.4 2.63 14.0 4.27 13.35 4.07 center vn 

    Including 3309.6 3312.3 1008.77 1009.57 458.0 13.35 2.7 0.81 2.53 0.77 center vn 

I-19-14A 3328.2 3377.0 1014.42 1029.31 1.4 0.04 48.8 14.89 44.60 13.59 I2 - Bk-A 

     Including 3328.2 3334.5 1014.42 1016.36 6.2 0.18 6.3 1.94 5.80 1.77 hw vn 

I-2800-5 (hist) 348.1 411.3 106.10 125.38 6.1 0.18 63.2 19.27 20.80 6.34 I2 - Bk-A 

     Including 348.1 358.6 106.10 109.30 7.3 0.21 10.5 3.20 3.45 1.05 I2 - Bk-A 

     Including 381.1 400.1 116.15 121.94 13.8 0.40 19.0 5.79 6.25 1.91 I2 - Bk-A 

     Including 408.8 411.3 124.61 125.38 19.2 0.56 2.5 0.76 0.82 0.25 I2 - Bk-A 

I-18-10 3168.0 3189.0 965.61 972.01 3.2 0.09 21.0 6.40 18.40 5.61 I2 - Bk-B 

I-2400-31 (hist) 623.6 668.9 190.07 203.87 11.1 0.32 45.3 13.80 13.89 4.23 I2 - Bk-B 

     Including 634.3 664.3 193.33 202.47 16.5 0.48 30.0 9.14 9.21 2.81 I2 - Bk-B 

I-18-11 3197.4 3204.4 974.57 976.70 10.9 0.32 7.0 2.13 5.77 1.76 I2- Bk-C 

I-18-11 3255.4 3262.6 992.25 994.44 11.9 0.35 7.2 2.19 5.87 1.79 I2- Bk-C 

    Including 3256.9 3258.6 992.70 993.22 35.6 1.04 1.7 0.52 1.39 0.42   

 

 

TABLE 4 – Historic Drill Intersections & Channels within Idaho #1 Initial Exploration Target 

Hole From 
(ft) To (ft) From 

(m) 
To 
(m) 

Gold 
(gpt) 

Gold 
(oz 
per 
ton) 

Intercept 
Length 

(ft)  

Intercept 
Length 

(m)  

Estimated 
True 

Width (ft)  

Estimated 
True 

Width 
(m)  

Vein 

I-2400 W  
historic channels 0.0 497.0 0.00 151.49 16.3 0.47 497.0 151.49 8.00 2.44 I1 - Mh 

     Including 0.0 37.3 0.00 11.37 37.3 1.09 37.3 11.37 8.00 2.44 I1 - Mh 

     Including 93.2 205.1 28.41 62.51 17.7 0.52 111.9 34.11 8.00 2.44 I1 - Mh 

     Including 248.6 329.4 75.77 100.40 47.3 1.38 80.8 24.63 8.00 2.44 I1 - Mh 

     Including 317.0 329.4 96.62 100.40 187.3 5.46 12.4 3.78 8.00 2.44 I1 - Mh 

I-2400-40 (hist) 191.1 204.5 58.25 62.33 6.5 0.19 13.4 4.08 8.54 2.60 I1 

     Including 195.7 198.4 59.65 60.48 24.0 0.70 2.7 0.82 1.72 0.52   

I-2400-40 (hist) 217.1 233.1 66.17 71.05 2.9 0.08 16.0 4.88 8.85 2.70 I1 
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TABLE 5 – Drill Intersections within Brunswick Initial Exploration Target 

Hole From 
(ft) To (ft) From 

(m) 
To 
(m) 

Gold 
(gpt) 

Gold 
(oz 
per 
ton) 

Intercept 
Length 

(ft)  

Intercept 
Length 

(m)  

Estimated 
True 

Width (ft)  

Estimated 
True 

Width 
(m)  

Vein 

B-17-01 2096.1 2145.0 638.89 653.80 12.2 0.36 48.9 14.90 26.00 7.92 B1 

     Including 2112.0 2121.0 643.74 646.48 62.7 1.83 9.0 2.74 4.79 1.46 B1 
Center  

          Including 2116.0 2118.0 644.96 645.57 266.0 7.76 2.0 0.61 1.06 0.32 B1 
Center  

B-18-04 1696.0 1709.2 516.94 520.96 8.0 0.23 13.2 4.02 10.80 3.29 B32 

     Including 1696.0 1699.5 516.94 518.01 23.0 0.67 3.5 1.07 2.86 0.87   

B-18-04 2051.4 2060.5 625.27 628.04 4.0 0.12 9.1 2.77 7.30 2.23 B10 HW 

B-18-04 2090.0 2100.0 637.03 640.08 4.4 0.13 10.0 3.05 8.10 2.47 B10 FW 

B-18-07 2449.1 2461.1 746.49 750.14 4.0 0.12 12.0 3.66 9.10 2.77 B10 HW 

B-18-07 2488.4 2501.1 758.45 762.34 2.2 0.06 12.8 3.89 9.70 2.96 B10 FW 

B-18-06 2509.5 2544.3 764.90 775.50 4.2 0.12 34.8 10.61 26.90 8.20 B41 

 

TABLE 6 – Important Rise Gold Drill Intersections Excluded from the Initial Exploration Target 

Hole From 
(ft) To (ft) From 

(m) To (m) Gold 
(gpt) 

Gold 
(oz 
per 
ton) 

Intercept 
Length 

(ft)  

Intercept 
Length 

(m)  

Estimated 
True 

Width (ft)  

Estimated 
True 

Width 
(m)  

Vein 

I-18-10 3240.7 3263.1 987.77 994.58 149.3 4.35 22.4 6.81  ? I2 
footwall 

    Including 3259.3 3260.8 993.42 993.88 2190.0 63.85 1.5 0.46     

B-18-05 5212.0 5258.0 1588.62 1602.64 8.8 0.26 46.0 14.02 ? ? I2/3 
(deep) 

    Including 5217.0 5231.5 1590.14 1594.56 23.7 0.69 14.5 4.42 ? ?   

    Including 5228.3 5229.7 1593.59 1594.01 230.0 6.71 1.4 0.43 ? ?   

B-18-05 6192.5 6202.2 1887.47 1890.43 10.9 0.32 9.7 2.96 ? ? I3/5 
(deep) 

    Including 6198.7 6200.3 1889.36 1889.85 61.0 1.78 1.6 0.49 ? ?   

I-19-12B 4485.8 4505.3 1367.27 1373.22 9.4 0.27 19.5 5.95 ? ? I1 (deep) 

     Including 4485.8 4495.1 1367.27 1370.11 18.5 0.54 9.3 2.84 ? ? I1  

     Including 4491.6 4495.1 1369.04 1370.11 46.3 1.35 3.5 1.07 ? ? I1  

     Including 4493.9 4495.1 1369.74 1370.11 111.5 3.25 1.2 0.37 ? ? I1  

B-18-05 3209.0 3226.0 978.10 983.28 22.4 0.65 17.0 5.18 ? ? B40? 

   Including 3209.0 3213.0 978.10 979.32 93.2 2.72 4.0 1.22 ? ?   

B-17-01 3647.0 3697.0 1111.61 1126.85 4.5 0.13 50.0 15.24 ? ? ? 

    Including 3648.5 3653.5 1112.06 1113.59 40.6 1.18 5.0 1.52     
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Quality Control and Assay Methods 

Richard Lippoth, M.Sc, Reg. SME, the qualified person for the exploration drill results disclosure 
contained in this news release, has studied the drill core discussed in this news release and has reviewed 
the analytical and quality control results. Mr. Lippoth has reviewed and approved the scientific and 
technical contents of this news release. 

Benjamin Mossman, P.Eng, CEO of Rise Gold, is the qualified person for the historic production 
disclosure and exploration target estimate contained in this news release. Historic production at the Idaho-
Maryland Mine is disclosed in the Technical Report on the Idaho-Maryland Project dated June 1st, 2017 
and available on www.sedar.com.  

Rise has implemented a quality control program for its drill program to ensure best practice in the sampling 
and analysis of the drill core. This includes the insertion of blind blanks, duplicates and certified standards. 
HQ- and NQ-sized drill core is saw cut with half of the drill core sampled at intervals based on geological 
criteria including lithology, visual mineralization, and alteration. The remaining half of the core is stored 
on-site at the Company’s warehouse in Grass Valley, California. Drill core samples are transported in 
sealed bags to ALS Minerals analytical assay lab in Reno, Nevada. 

All gold assays were obtained using a method of screen fire assaying. This procedure involves screening 
a large pulverized sample of up to 1 kg at 100 microns. Any +100 micron material remaining on the screen 
is retained and analyzed in its entirety by fire assay with gravimetric finish and reported as the Au (+) 
fraction result. The –100 micron fraction is homogenized and two sub-samples of 30-50 grams are 
analyzed by fire assay with AAS finish. If the grade of the material exceeds 10 gpt the sample is re-assayed 
using a gravimetric finish. The average of the two results is taken and reported as the Au (-) fraction result. 
All three values are used in calculating the combined gold content of the plus and minus fractions. 

About Rise Gold Corp. 

Rise Gold is an exploration-stage mining company. The Company’s principal asset is the historic Idaho-
Maryland Gold Mine located in Nevada County, California, USA. Past production of the Idaho-Maryland 
for the period from 1866 to 1955 is estimated at 2,414,000 oz of gold at an average mill head grade of 17 
gpt gold. Historic production at the Idaho-Maryland Mine is disclosed in the Technical Report on the 
Idaho-Maryland Project dated June 1st, 2017 and available on www.sedar.com. Rise Gold is incorporated 
in Nevada, USA and maintains its head office in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors: 
 
 
Benjamin Mossman 
President, CEO and Director 
Rise Gold Corp. 
 
 

http://www.sedar.com./
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For further information, please contact: 

 
RISE GOLD CORP. 
Suite 650, 669 Howe Street 
Vancouver, BC V6C 0B4 
T: 604.260.4577 
info@risegoldcorp.com  
www.risegoldcorp.com 
 
 
The CSE has not reviewed, approved or disapproved the contents of this news release. 
 
Forward-Looking Statements 
 
This press release contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable securities 
laws. Forward-looking statements are frequently characterized by words such as “plan”, “expect”, 
“project”, “intend”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “estimate” and other similar words or statements that certain 
events or conditions “may” or “will” occur.   
 
Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are 
reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. Such forward-
looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions related to certain factors including, 
without limitation, obtaining all necessary approvals, meeting expenditure and financing requirements, 
compliance with environmental regulations, title matters, operating hazards, metal prices, political and 
economic factors, competitive factors, general economic conditions, relationships with vendors and 
strategic partners, governmental regulation and supervision, seasonality, technological change, industry 
practices, and one-time events that may cause actual results, performance or developments to differ 
materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements.  Accordingly, readers should not place 
undue reliance on forward-looking statements and information contained in this release. Rise undertakes 
no obligation to update forward-looking statements or information except as required by law. 
 

mailto:info@risegoldcorp.com
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1 AMEC Foster Wheeler Americas Limited. Technical Report on the Idaho-Maryland Project. June 2017 
2 Rise Gold news releases Jan 3, Jun 28, Jul 23, Aug 7, Dec 13 2018 & Mar 19, May 21 2019  
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Rise Gold Submits Permit Application to Reopen Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine 

 
November 21, 2019 – Vancouver, British Columbia – Rise Gold Corp. (CSE: RISE, OTCQB: 
RYES) (the “Company”) is pleased to announce that it has submitted an application for a Use 
Permit to Nevada County to allow the re-opening of the Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine (the “IM 
Mine”). The Company is fully financed to complete the County permitting process. 

Background 

The IM Mine is a past producing gold mine which produced 2,414,000 oz of gold at an average 
mill head grade of 17 gpt gold from 1866-1955.1 

The IM Mine was the second largest lode gold producer in the United States before being forced 
to close under War Production Board Order L-208 during World War II. The mine produced a 
substantial amount of gold in the years before the forced closure. In the two years before closure, 
1940 and 1941, mine production averaged 920 tons per day with a mill head grade of 0.38 oz per 
ton (12.9 gpt) and 121,000 oz of gold production per year.1  

The Company has recently completed 67,500 feet (20,600 meters) of exploration core drilling at 
the IM Mine. Numerous high-grade gold intercepts have been encountered, both near the existing 
mine workings and to depths significantly below historic mining areas.2 

The Company believes its drilling program has been successful but cautions investors no current 
mineral resources or mineral reserves have been defined. The Company’s submission of an 
application for a Use Permit from Nevada County requires information regarding planned 
throughput and material quantities. The Company cautions investors that no technical report has 
been filed to support that this rate of production can be achieved. The Company has not completed 
a feasibility study to establish mineral reserves and therefore has not demonstrated economic 
viability of the IM Mine. The Company has not made a production decision for the IM Mine. 

Project Design 

The Use Permit application proposes underground mining to recommence at an average 
throughput of 1,000 tons per day. The existing Brunswick Shaft, which extends to ~3400 feet depth 
below surface, would be used as the primary rock conveyance from the IM Mine. A second service 
shaft would be constructed by raising from underground to provide for the conveyance of 
personnel, materials, and equipment. Gold processing would be done by gravity and flotation to 
produce gravity and flotation gold concentrates. Processing equipment and operations would be 
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fully enclosed in attractive modern buildings and numerous mature trees located on the perimeter 
of the Brunswick site would be retained to provide visual shielding of aboveground project 
facilities and operations. 

The Company would produce barren rock from underground tunneling and sand tailings as part of 
the project which would be used for creation of approximately 58 acres of level and useable 
industrial zoned land for future economic development in Nevada County.  

A water treatment plant and pond, using conventional processes, would ensure that groundwater 
pumped from the mine is treated to regulatory standards before being discharged to the local 
waterways. 

Detailed studies by professionals in the fields of civil and electrical engineering, biology, 
hydrology, cultural resources, traffic, air quality, human health, vibration, and sound have guided 
the designs of the project. 

Approximately 300 employees would be required if the mine reaches full production.   

Nevada County Use Permit 

The application and permitting process are being managed by Benchmark Resources, a California 
based planning and environmental consulting firm with substantial experience in the permitting of 
mining projects. Benchmark’s track record of success has resulted in the development of numerous 
environmentally sensitive and socially accepted mining projects across the state. 

The IM Mine Property is 100% owned by the Company and located on private land in Nevada 
County, California. As a result, the Project is subject to the Nevada County Land Use and 
Development Code. Subsurface mining and aboveground processing is an allowed use subject to 
County approval of a Use Permit. The Company will also be required to obtain approval of a 
Reclamation Plan, variance, and rezone from the County for any surface component of the 
underground mining operation before mining operations can commence. 

In order to approve the requested entitlements, the County must satisfy the requirements of the 
California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”).  CEQA requires that the County study the 
environmental impacts of any discretionary action, disclose the impacts to the public, and mitigate 
unavoidable impacts to the extent feasible.  CEQA is triggered whenever a California 
governmental agency is asked to approve a discretionary project. The project application will 
require an Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”). 

A general outline of milestones in the process to approval of the permit is outlined as follows; 

1) County reviews application and hires a 3rd party environmental consultant; 
2) County’s consultant prepares a Draft EIR; 
3) Draft EIR is published for public comments; 
4) County’ s consultant publishes a Final EIR including responses to comments; and  
5) County decisionmakers review the Final EIR and consider approval of the Use Permit and 

Reclamation Plan at a public hearing. 
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The timeline from application to land use approval is expected to range from 12-18 months.  
Construction and operational permits would follow as needed. 

The Company will provide further information, updates, and details throughout the process. 

About Rise Gold Corp. 

Rise Gold is an exploration-stage mining company. The Company’s principal asset is the historic 
past-producing Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine located in Nevada County, California, USA. The 
Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine produced 2,414,000 oz of gold at an average mill head grade of 17 gpt 
gold from 1866-1955. Historic production at the Idaho-Maryland Mine is disclosed in the 
Technical Report on the Idaho-Maryland Project dated June 1st, 2017 and available on 
www.sedar.com. Rise Gold is incorporated in Nevada, USA and maintains its head office in 
Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors: 
 
 
Benjamin Mossman 
President, CEO and Director 
Rise Gold Corp. 
 
 
For further information, please contact: 

 
RISE GOLD CORP. 
Suite 650, 669 Howe Street 
Vancouver, BC V6C 0B4 
T: 604.260.4577 
info@risegoldcorp.com  
www.risegoldcorp.com 
 
 
The CSE has not reviewed, approved or disapproved the contents of this news release. 
 
Forward-Looking Statements 
 
This press release contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable 
securities laws. Forward-looking statements are frequently characterized by words such as “plan”, 
“expect”, “project”, “intend”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “estimate” and other similar words or 
statements that certain events or conditions “may” or “will” occur.   
 
Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements 
are reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. Such 
forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions related to certain 

http://www.sedar.com./
mailto:info@risegoldcorp.com
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factors including, without limitation, obtaining all necessary approvals, meeting expenditure and 
financing requirements, compliance with environmental regulations, title matters, operating 
hazards, metal prices, political and economic factors, competitive factors, general economic 
conditions, relationships with vendors and strategic partners, governmental regulation and 
supervision, seasonality, technological change, industry practices, and one-time events that may 
cause actual results, performance or developments to differ materially from those contained in the 
forward-looking statements.  Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements and information contained in this release. Rise undertakes no obligation to 
update forward-looking statements or information except as required by law. 
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Rise Gold Reports Favorable Draft Environmental Impact Report for Idaho-

Maryland Project 
 
• Independent Report by Nevada County concludes no significant air, biologic, water, 

vibration or noise impacts from the project 
• Report represents major milestone towards approval to re-open Idaho-Maryland Mine 
• Strong local support: majority of residents support the mine re-opening 

 
January 4, 2022 – Grass Valley, California – Rise Gold Corp. (CSE: RISE, OTCQX: RYES) 
(the “Company”) is pleased to announce that the Nevada County government has released a much 
anticipated and highly favorable Draft Environmental Impact Report (the “DEIR”) for the Idaho-
Maryland Mine Project (the “IMM Project”). The report’s release represents a major milestone 
toward the approval of the Company’s Use Permit application to reopen the historic past-producing 
Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine.  

The independently prepared DEIR is the culmination of two years of intensive study by the Nevada 
County government with the support of its consultant Raney Planning & Management Inc., an 
experienced firm located in Sacramento1, and contributions from many qualified technical experts 
and scientists. The DEIR concludes that there are no significant impacts to air quality, biological 
resources, water quality, groundwater, vibrations, or noise from operations from the proposed re-
opening of the Idaho-Maryland mine.  

The DEIR found only three significant unavoidable impacts from the project:  

• Temporary construction noise from the installation of a water pipeline 
• Addition of traffic to an intersection currently operating at an unacceptable level of service2 
• Aesthetics due to noticeable changes to the existing visual character of the project sites 

The Company believes that the project’s substantial economic and community benefits 
significantly outweigh the three unavoidable impacts identified in the DEIR.  

 
1 Raney has completed over 1,000 CEQA, NEPA, and planning-related projects, ranging from unique and complex 
projects necessitating the management of multi-disciplinary team of experts to publicly controversial projects 
requiring involvement and coordination of project stakeholders and concerned citizens.  
2 Intersection at Brunswick Road and highway SR 174. The project would add ~10 additional vehicles to ~1015 vehicles 
currently traveling through this intersection during the 3:30 – 4:30 PM time period.  
 

https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/content/Nov21RiseGoldSubmitsPermitApplicationtoReopenIdahoMarylandGoldMine.pdf
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• Construction noise from the installation of the water pipeline is a temporary daytime 
activity and is exempt from Nevada County’s noise regulations. The pipeline’s installation 
will provide a reliable water source and increased fire protection to 30 properties in the 
East Bennett area. Construction in public roadways is a common and necessary activity. 

• The traffic intersection at Brunswick Road and Highway 174 currently operates at an 
unacceptable level of service and is not included in a government traffic improvement 
program. Any addition of traffic would be considered a significant and unavoidable impact. 
The Company will pay its fair share contribution to improve this intersection which will 
reduce costs to the county when it decides to include the intersection in its traffic 
improvement program. 

• The County’s DEIR determined that the aesthetics impact to the two sites would be 
significant and unavoidable due to noticeable changes to the existing visual character of 
the project sites. Attractive modern buildings are proposed at the Brunswick site and 
numerous mature trees located on the perimeter of the Brunswick Site would be retained 
to provide visual shielding of aboveground project facilities and operations. The Company 
believes that the creation of usable flat land at the Centennial site greatly outweighs any 
negative aesthetic impact from the placement of engineered fill.  
 

Preparation of the DEIR, in accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”), 
is a major approval process milestone. A general outline of remaining milestones in the Use Permit 
process are as follows:  

1) Draft Environmental Impact Report public comment period of 60 days;  
2) After review of the public comments on the DEIR, Nevada County publishes a Final 

Environmental Impact Report (the “FEIR”) which will include responses to public 
comments; 

3) The Nevada County Planning Commission holds a public hearing to consider the FEIR and 
makes a recommendation on project approval to the Nevada County Board of Supervisors;  

4) The Board of Supervisors holds a public hearing to consider and make a final decision on 
the IMM Project. A majority vote of the five supervisors is required to approve the project. 
 

The timeline to complete the Use Permit process is largely dependant on the Nevada County 
government. The most recent mining related EIR process completed in 2019 by Nevada County 
was the Boca Quarry Expansion. In that case, the Nevada County Board of Supervisors approved 
the project approximately five months from the release of the DEIR. Based on this recent 
precedent, the Use Permit process for the IMM Project could be completed by June of 2022. 

The Nevada County Board of Supervisors have approved three mining projects in recent years. 
The Boca Quarry Expansion, a surface aggregate mine with production up to 1 million tons per 
year, was approved in 2019. The Greenhorn Creek Mining Expansion, a surface aggregate mine 
with production of up to 600,000 tons per year, was approved in 2017 and the Blue Lead Gold 
Mine, a surface placer gold mine with production of up to 400,000 tons per year, was approved in 
2015.  
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A recent survey of Nevada County conducted by J. Wallin Opinion Research demonstrates strong 
local support for the IMM Project. A majority (59%) of respondents supported the re-opening of 
the Idaho-Maryland Mine with only 34% of respondents opposed. Majority support for the project 
is consistent across all the county’s five districts.  

A summary of the Nevada County DEIR for the Idaho-Maryland Mine Project is provided in Table 
1 and the entire document is available on the Nevada County website. 

 

TABLE 1 – Summary of IMM Project DEIR 
 

Subject Potential 
Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Aesthetics  
 
Aesthetics 

 
Significant and Unavoidable 
 
The project would result in noticeable 
changes to the existing visual character of 
the project sites.  
 

 
Applicant must submit a Final Landscape Plan 
prepared by a licensed professional for review 
and approval by the Nevada County Planning 
department. Plan must include larger (24 gallon) 
tree plantings for screening purposes. 
 

 
Light or Glare 

 
Less than significant  
 
Pole and building mounted exterior LED 
lighting at the Brunswick Industrial Site is 
fully shielded and “dark-sky approved”. 
Photometric model shows no illumination 
from lighting beyond property boundary.  
 

 
None Required 
 

Agricultural and Forestry Resources 
 
Agriculture 

 
No Impact 
 

 
None Required 
 

 
Timberland  

 
Less than significant  
 

 
None Required 

Air Quality  
 
Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions - 
Construction 
 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
The project would exceed threshold of 
1,100 tonnes CO2 during construction 
activities  
 

 
Applicant would maintain equipment in 
accordance with manufacturers specifications, 
employ the use of alterative fueled construction 
equipment where feasible, provide onsite utility 
electricity hookups, encourage use of carpools or 
other methods to reduce construction worker 
commutes, use locally sourced or recycled 
material with goal of 20% based on cost of 
building materials and volume for paving 
materials, minimize concrete use for paved 
surfaces or utilize low carbon concrete. 
 
Purchase carbon offsets for CO2 emission of 
2,664 tons above the threshold prior to issuance 
of grading permits. 
 

https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/content/June24RiseGoldReportsStrongPublicSupportforIdahoMarylandProject.pdf
https://www.mynevadacounty.com/3195/Idaho-Maryland-Mine---Rise-Grass-Valley
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Subject Potential 
Impacts Mitigation Measures 

 
Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions - 
Operations 
 

 
Less than significant  
 
The project would not exceed threshold of 
10,000 tonnes CO2 per year during 
operations.  
 

 
None Required 
 

 
Odors 

 
Less than significant  
 
The project would not result in odors that 
would adversely affect the public 
 

 
None Required 
 

 
Air Emissions  

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
Estimated emissions of ROG, NOx, & PM10 
are all below significance threshold level C 
of the local air quality district. 

 
Use of alternatives to open burning of vegetation, 
grid power shall be used where feasible, and 
temporary traffic control during construction to 
improve traffic flow. Activities scheduled to 
direct traffic to off-peak hours when practical. 
Diesel engines over 50 hp to be certified Tier 4F 
engines when commercially available. 
 

 
Human Health 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
Health risk assessment, using extremely 
conservative thresholds of the local air 
quality district, shows that the project effect 
on human health is less than significant. 

 
Asbestos dust mitigation plan required. Plan 
requires dust control measures on grinding mills, 
crushers, conveyors and transfer points. Dust 
mitigation plan required including removal of 
track-out material from vehicles, tire washing of 
earthwork vehicles exiting site, wetting or 
covering active storage piles, onsite speed limit of 
15 mph on unpaved surfaces, watering as 
necessary to prevent visible dust emissions from 
leaving property boundary. 
 
 

Biological Resources  
 
Special Status Plants 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
Pine Hill Flannelbush located on 
Centennial Industrial Site. 

 
Preservation of majority of Pine Hill Flannelbush 
plants and conservation easement over area of 
plant preservation. 
 
Compensatory mitigation of disturbed plants to 
ensure no net loss. 
 

 
Special Status Wildlife 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
No Special-Status Wildlife observed in 
field studies. 
 

 
Pre-construction surveys for bat roosting, coast 
horned lizard, yellow and red-legged frog, 
western pond turtle, California black rail, and 
nesting raptors. 

 
Wetlands 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
~0.57 acres of wetlands to be filled by 
construction at Brunswick Site. 
 

 
Compensatory mitigation of permanent wetlands 
impact to ensure no net loss. 
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Subject Potential 
Impacts Mitigation Measures 

 
Stream & Riparian 
Zones 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
~0.11 acres of permanent impacts for 
construction and installation of storm water 
system.  
 
Temporary impacts to install discharge pipe 
and culverts. 
 
No biological impact from discharge of 
treated water to South Fork Wolf Creek. 
 
 

 
Compensatory mitigation of permanent stream 
impact to ensure no net loss. 
 
Management plans for work within 100 ft non-
disturbance buffer zone. 
 
 

Cultural Resources  
 
Cultural Resources 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
Underground mine workings are 
contributing elements of the Idaho-
Maryland Mine Historic District. 
 

 
Rise to share historic documentation with the 
public. Sharing will consist of providing GIS 
output and copies of historic diagrams with 
California State Library, California Geology and 
Mining Library, or the Searls Library. 
 
Following initial mine dewatering and prior to 
commencement of mining, a qualified historian 
will perform a historical study of accessible 
underground mine workings. The study would be 
provided to the library selected.  
 
If archaeological resources are discovered during 
construction or mining, activities within 200 feet 
would be halted, the county will be notified, and 
an archaeologist will investigate and provide 
recommendations for further evaluation and 
treatment. Work would recommence after 
authorization of the Nevada County Planning 
Department. 
 

Geology and Soils  
 
Geotechnical  

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
Removal and replacement of sawdust in 
portion of berm of existing clay-lined pond 
at Brunswick site. Installation of 
geomembrane over existing clay liner. 
 
Existing 48-inch culvert running 
underneath Brunswick site is near the end 
of its life and will be replaced. 
 
Rock and sand tailings produced by mine 
will meet the geotechnical criteria for 
structural fill. Engineered fill to be 
composed of 100% sand tailings or up to 2-
parts rock to 1-part sand tailings. 
 
Risk of seismically induced hazards are 
remote (negligible).  

 
Submission of engineered final grading plans 
which incorporate recommendation from 
submitted geotechnical reports and best 
management practices from submitted 
management plans. 
 
Closure of historic East Eureka and Idaho Shafts 
prior to mine dewatering. 
 
Submission of a final onsite sewage disposal 
design report. 
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Subject Potential 
Impacts Mitigation Measures 

 
 

Hazards & Hazardous Materials 
 
Use of Hazardous 
Materials 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
All explosives will be stored and used 
underground. Explosive’s storage, 
transport, and use are heavily regulated and 
have an extremely safe track record. 
 

 
The mine operator and its contractors and 
suppliers will comply with all applicable 
regulations governing the transport storage and 
use of explosives. A risk assessment and 
hazardous materials business plan will be 
prepared before the storage of explosives 
underground. 
 
The mine operator will prepare a Hazardous 
Materials Business Plan which will be approved 
by the County prior to use or storage of hazardous 
materials onsite. 
 

 
Release of Hazardous 
Materials  

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
Extensive mining and saw milling activities 
have taken place historically at the 
Brunswick Industrial Site. 
 

 
A portion of existing mine waste under paving 
shall not be removed from the site without 
approval from state agencies RWQCB or DTSC 
and specific handling procedures will be 
developed by a Certified Industrial Hygienist 
before excavation.  
 
If unidentified contaminated soil is encountered 
during construction work shall stop and a 
qualified professional will investigate and prepare 
a report for remediation. Work shall not 
recommence in contaminated area until necessary 
remediation is complete and approved by the 
Nevada County Planning Department. 
 
Prior to commencement of construction all 
existing wells onsite will be identified. Any 
identified wells will be properly closed prior to 
disturbance within 50 feet distance. 
 

Hydrology and Water Quality  
 
Geochemistry – 
Engineered Fill 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
Use of barren rock and sand tailings 
produced by mine as engineered fill. 
 
Sand tailings are environmentally benign. 
Mineral process plant removes +93% of 
sulphide sulphur from sand tailings. 
Geochemical test work shows sand tailings 
have minimal metal content, similar to 
average crustal abundance. Leachate 
samples from waste extraction tests (WET-
DI) show metal content less than all 
California regulatory thresholds. 
Sand tailings are shown to be net-acid 
neutralizing with neutralizing potential 
ranging from 100-159 times acid potential. 
 

 
Approval of a Report of Waste Discharge prior to 
placement of engineered fill from the California 
State Water Resources Control Board.  
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Subject Potential 
Impacts Mitigation Measures 

Barren rock is environmentally benign. 
Geochemical test work shows barren rock 
to have minimal metal content. Leachate 
samples from 96% of barren rock mined 
from waste extraction tests (WET-DI) show 
metal content less than all California 
regulatory thresholds. 
Barren rock samples are shown to be net-
acid neutralizing with neutralizing potential 
ranging from 7 -107 times acid potential. 

 
 
Geochemistry – 
Cemented Paste 
Backfill 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
Use of cemented sand tailings produced by 
mine as underground backfill. 
 
The use of cemented paste backfill is an 
environmentally favorable disposal 
alternate for tailings as it significantly 
limits solute release, eliminates bleed water 
from placed backfill, and reduces the 
surface footprint of the mine. 
 
 

 
Approval of a Report of Waste Discharge prior to 
placement of backfill from the California State 
Water Resources Control Board. Strength, 
rheological, and geochemical testing of cemented 
paste backfill mixture to be completed. 

 
Surface Water Quality   

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
Discharge of treated groundwater from 
underground mine to South Fork Wolf 
Creek. 
 
Water treatment plant using conventional 
methods validated over years of application 
in facilities worldwide. 
 
Treatment of mine water to standards of 
California Regional Water Quality Control 
Board Limited Threat General Order R5-
2016-0076 (NPDES No. CAG995002). 
Water temperature, pH, and dissolved 
oxygen to be maintained within limits of 
General Permit. 
 
Mineral process plant to run on a closed 
water circuit. 
 

 
Approval of Notice of Intent for coverage under 
Limited Threat General Order R5-2016-0076 
(NPDES No. CAG995002) prior to discharge 
from the California State Water Resources 
Control Board.  
 
Approval of a Report of Waste Discharge prior to 
discharge from the California State Water 
Resources Control Board for use of water 
treatment pond. An upgrade to the existing clay 
liner to a synthetic liner will be required. 
 
Approval of Notice of Intent for coverage under 
the Industrial General Permit for the Brunswick 
Industrial Site prior to commencement of 
operations from the California State Water 
Resources Control Board.  
 
 

 
Groundwater 
Drawdown 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
Itasca Denver prepared a sophisticated 
groundwater model and simulation which 
was calibrated with historic groundwater 
inflows. EMKO Environmental prepared 
analytic solutions to confirm results and 
determine potential effects on domestic 
water wells. 
 

 
Monitoring wells will be constructed and well-
level monitoring data will be collected for 12 
months prior to commencement of dewatering. 
 
Hydrologic data will be collected according to 
project stages. Prior to dewatering, monitoring 
wells and piezometers would be installed to 
measure water levels. The Itasca groundwater 
model would be updated periodically after 
dewatering commences to incorporate changes to 
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Subject Potential 
Impacts Mitigation Measures 

One domestic water well located above the 
historic mine workings could be impacted, 
with an ~40% reduction in the well water 
column, due to the groundwater drawdown 
from dewatering of the mine. With the 
assumption of a 100% safety factor, an 
additional six domestic water wells could 
be impacted, with a reduction in the well’s 
water column of ~7% – 12% . All 
potentially impacted wells are located in the 
E. Bennett Road area. Domestic water wells 
outside this area will not be impacted. 
 
No significant effects to surface water flow 
in streams are anticipated. 
 
 

the long-term mining plan, data from monitoring 
wells, and measured pumping rates. 
 
Rise will construct an extension to the Nevada 
Irrigation District (NID) potable water line along 
East Bennett Rd. to connect 30 properties to the 
NID system prior to dewatering. Construction 
costs and NID capacity charges would be fully 
funded by Rise. Property owners would be 
allowed to continue using their domestic wells in 
addition to the NID potable water supply. NID 
water charges would be paid by Rise until the 
property is sold by the owner or annexed in the 
City of Grass Valley. 
 

 
Storms & Flooding 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
Storm water detention ponds will be 
constructed at both the Brunswick and 
Centennial sites. 
 
Post project storm-water discharge from 
both the Centennial and Brunswick Sites, 
including, in the case of the Brunswick 
Site, the treated mine water discharge of 5.6 
cfs will be equal to or less than the 
estimated pre-project storm-water discharge 
levels.  Therefore, with the construction of 
the storm-water detention ponds, the project 
will have no impact or increase of flows in 
creeks during storm events. 
 
No work is proposed within a floodplain 
but is within 100 feet of a floodplain at the 
Centennial site. 
 
 

 
A final drainage design and report will be 
completed by a qualified professional before 
approval of grading and building permits. 
 
Grading and land disturbance within the 100-year 
floodplain shall be avoided and proposed designs 
for the Centennial site shall be followed.  

 
Channel 
Geomorphology 

 
Less than significant  
 
Field sampling and calculations indicate 
that increasing the base flow of South Fork 
Wolf Creek by the discharge of treated 
mine water (maximum 5.6 cfs) will have no 
significant impact on erosion or 
sedimentation to the creek.  
 

 
None Required.  
 

Land Use and Population and Housing  
 
Nevada County 
General Plan 

 
Less than significant 
 
The project is consistent with the Nevada 
County General Plan goals, objectives, and 
policies.  
 

 
None Required.  
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Subject Potential 
Impacts Mitigation Measures 

 
Nevada County 
Zoning Code 

 
Less than significant  
 
Subsurface mining is allowed in all base 
districts, surface access to subsurface 
mining is allowed in the M1 base district 
(Sec. L-II 3.21) and surface mining is 
allowed in the M1 district (Sec. L-II 3.22). 
 
The Brunswick Industrial Site will be 
rezoned from M1-SP to M1-ME.  
 
A variance for buildings heights exceeding 
45 ft will be required for the headframes 
and process plant building. 
 
Boundary line adjustments will be required 
for three parcels of the Brunswick 
Industrial Site so that parcel lines do not 
cross proposed buildings. 
 

 
None Required. 
 

 
Population and 
Housing 

 
Less than significant 
 
 

 
None Required.  
 

Noise and Vibration  
 
Noise - Construction 

 
Significant and Unavoidable 
 
Construction noise is exempt from Nevada 
County noise regulations. However, noise 
from construction of the NID potable water 
line extension is considered significant and 
unavoidable under CEQA criteria. 
 
All other construction noise is less than 
significant. 
 

 
Annotations will be added to improvement plans 
for the potable water line along E. Bennett Road 
requiring advance notification of construction 
dates to nearby residents, utilization of the 
quietest equipment capable of performing 
required construction, locating staging areas 
distant from residences, and shielding air 
compressors and portable generators. 
 
 

 
 
Noise - Operations 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
Consultant collected ambient noise and 
vibration levels at representative sensitive 
receptors and modelled noise from the 
project elements including machinery and 
truck traffic. 
 

 
Use of jake brakes by trucks will be prohibited. 
 
All on-site mobile equipment will be fitted with 
broad-band “growler” type back-up warning 
devices rather than conventional “beeper” 
devices.  
 
A noise monitoring program will be implemented 
to ensure compliance with regulations. 
 
 

 
Blasting Vibrations 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
The majority of planned mining is greater 
than 1000 feet from surface. The 
anticipated impact from drilling and 
blasting surrounding the proposed mine is 
negligible. 

 
A monitoring program will be implemented to 
establish background levels, record ground 
vibrations, and model ground vibration. 
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Subject Potential 
Impacts Mitigation Measures 

 

 
Drilling Vibrations 

 
No Impact 
 
The community will experience no ground 
vibration from the drilling activities at the 
mine. The drilling produces no 
longstanding ground vibration and has no 
effect a few feet from the hole being 
drilled. 
 

 
None Required. 

Public Services and Utilities 
 
Fire, Police, and other 
government services. 

 
Less than significant 
 
No new fire, police, parks, waste, or other 
government facilities are required. 
 

 
None Required. 

 
Water Supply 

 
Less than significant 
 
There is sufficient water supply available to 
serve the project in normal, dry, and 
multiple dry years. 
 

 
None Required. 

 
Electrical Supply 

 
Less than significant 
 
There is sufficient electricity supply 
available from PG&E to serve the project. 
 

 
None Required. 

Transportation and Traffic  
 
Traffic Intersections 

 
Significant and Unavoidable 
 
The majority of traffic from the project is 
scheduled during off peak hours.  
 
One intersection at Brunswick Road and 
highway SR 174 is currently operating at a 
level of service E. The project would add 
10 additional vehicles to this intersection 
during the 3:30 – 4:30 PM time period. 
This intersection is not currently identified 
in a traffic improvement program and 
therefore the impact to this intersection is 
considered significant and unavoidable 
despite the payment of a fair share for the 
installation of a traffic light. 
 
Traffic delay shall not be considered a 
significant impact on the environment in 
recent changes to CEQA. However, the 
addition of additional vehicles to 
intersections currently operating at an 
unacceptable level of service is considered 
an impact due to the policies of Nevada 
County.  

 
Rise will enter into a Traffic Mitigation 
Agreement with Nevada county regarding the 
Brunswick Road / SR174 intersection which will 
require the payment of a fair share of 14.9% 
towards the improvement of this intersection. 
Rise estimates this fair share to be approximately 
$67,000.  
 
Rise will pay a fair share payment of 8.5% to the 
City of Grass Valley for the future retiming of 
traffic lights at Brunswick Road and Sutton Way. 
Rise estimates this fair share payment to be 
negligible. 
 
Rise will pay the Western Nevada County 
Regional Transportation Mitigation Fee, Nevada 
County Local Traffic Mitigation Fee, and Grass 
Valley Traffic Impact Fee, based on the square 
footage of buildings constructed. 
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Subject Potential 
Impacts Mitigation Measures 

 
 
Road Improvements 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
Truck traffic will utilize Brunswick Road, a 
minor arterial road, to access State 
Highway 20/49. Engineered fill trucks 
would use Whispering Pines Drive from 
Brunswick Road to access the Centennial 
site. 
 
Employees would enter and exit the site 
from the main gate on Brunswick Road.  
 
Trucks would enter the site from the main 
gate on Brunswick Road and exit the site 
from the gate on E. Bennett Road. Exiting 
trucks would turn right on E. Bennett Road 
to the 4-way intersection at E. Bennett, 
Brunswick, and Greenhorn Roads. 
 

 
A construction signing and traffic control plan 
will be prepared and approved by Nevada County 
prior to the commencement of construction. 
 
A road maintenance agreement will be negotiated 
between Rise and Nevada County and the City of 
Grass Valley to provide the project fair share of 
funding for maintenance of a portion of E. 
Bennett Road and Brunswick Road where truck 
traffic may impact pavement conditions. 
 
The driveway at the E. Bennett Road gate from 
the Brunswick site will be widened to allow right 
hand turning of trucks exiting the property. 
 
A left-hand turn lane will be constructed on 
Whispering Pines Lane for queuing of trucks 
turning into the Centennial site. 
 
Two traffic signs will be installed on Brunswick 
Road. 
 
Any landscaping or vegetation over 2 feet in 
height inside the sight line from the project 
driveway to Brunswick Road will be removed. 
 

 
Vehicle Miles 
Travelled 

 
Less than significant 
 
The daily vehicle miles travelled per 
employee of 13.9 daily VMT per employee 
is less than the Nevada County threshold of 
15.9 for the Grass Valley subarea. 

 

 
None required. 

 

Wildfire 
 
Emergency 
Evacuation 

 
Less than significant 
 
The project will not impair an adopted 
emergency response or evacuation plan. 
 
 

 
None required. 
 

 
Wildfire Risk 

 
Less than significant after mitigation 
 
 

 
A comprehensive Vegetation Management Plan 
will be submitted for review and approval by the 
Nevada County Fire Marshall Office before 
construction commences. 
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Project Design 

The Idaho-Maryland Mine is a past producing gold mine which produced 2,414,000 oz of gold at 
an average mill head grade of 17 gpt gold from 1866-1955. 

The Idaho-Maryland Mine was the second largest lode gold producer in the United States before 
being forced to close under War Production Board Order L-208 during World War II. In the two 
years before closure, 1940 and 1941, mine production averaged 920 tons per day with an average 
mill head grade of 0.38 oz per ton (12.9 gpt) and 121,000 oz of gold production per year. 

The Company has recently completed 67,500 feet (20,600 meters) of exploration core drilling at 
the IMM Project. Numerous high-grade gold intercepts have been encountered, both near the 
existing mine workings and to depths significantly below historic mining areas. 

The Use Permit application proposes underground mining to recommence at an average 
throughput of 1,000 tons per day. The existing Brunswick Shaft, which extends to ~3400 feet depth 
below surface, would be used as the primary rock conveyance from the underground workings. A 
second service shaft would be constructed by raising from underground to provide for the 
conveyance of personnel, materials, and equipment. Gold processing would be done by gravity 
and flotation to produce gravity and flotation gold concentrates. Processing equipment and 
operations would be fully enclosed in attractive modern buildings and numerous mature trees 
located on the perimeter of the Brunswick Site would be retained to provide visual shielding of 
aboveground project facilities and operations. 

The Company would produce barren rock from underground tunneling and sand tailings as part of 
the project which would be used for creation of approximately 58 acres of level and useable 
industrial zoned land for future economic development in Nevada County. 

A water treatment plant and pond, using conventional processes, would ensure that groundwater 
pumped from the mine is treated to regulatory standards before being discharged to the local 
waterways. 

Approximately 300 employees would be required when the mine reaches full production, the 
majority of which will be drawn from the local Nevada County population.  

The Company believes the drilling program has been successful but cautions investors no current 
mineral resources or mineral reserves have been defined. The Company’s submission of an 
application for a Use Permit from Nevada County requires information regarding planned 
throughput and material quantities. The Company cautions investors that no Technical Report has 
been filed to support that this rate of production will be achieved. The Company has not completed 
a feasibility study to establish mineral reserves and therefore has not demonstrated economic 
viability of the IMM Project. The Company has not made a production decision for the IMM 
Project. 
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About Rise Gold Corp. 

Rise Gold is an exploration-stage mining company incorporated in Nevada, USA. The Company’s 
principal asset is the historic past-producing Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine located in Nevada 
County, California, USA. To learn more about the company, visit www.risegoldcorp.com. 

About Rise Grass Valley Inc. 

Rise Grass Valley, a subsidiary of Rise Gold Corp., proposes to reinitiate underground mining and 
gold mineralization processing at the Idaho‐Maryland Mine in unincorporated Nevada County. 
State-of-the-art facilities utilizing the environmentally friendly technology will be located on the 
Brunswick Industrial Site. To learn more about the project and community, visit 
www.risegrassvalley.com.  

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors: 
 
 
Benjamin Mossman 
President, CEO and Director 
Rise Gold Corp. 
 
 
For further information, please contact: 

 
RISE GOLD CORP. 
Suite 215, 333 Crown Point Circle 
Grass Valley, CA 95945 
T: 530.433.0188 
info@risegoldcorp.com  
www.risegoldcorp.com 
 
 
The CSE has not reviewed, approved or disapproved the contents of this news release. 
 
 
Forward-Looking Statements 
 
This press release contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable 
securities laws. Forward-looking statements are frequently characterized by words such as “plan”, 
“expect”, “project”, “intend”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “estimate” and other similar words or 
statements that certain events or conditions “may” or “will” occur.   
 
Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements 
are reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. Such 
forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions related to certain 

http://www.risegoldcorp.com/
http://www.risegrassvalley.com/
mailto:info@risegoldcorp.com
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factors including, without limitation, obtaining all necessary approvals, meeting expenditure and 
financing requirements, compliance with environmental regulations, title matters, operating 
hazards, metal prices, political and economic factors, competitive factors, general economic 
conditions, relationships with vendors and strategic partners, governmental regulation and 
supervision, seasonality, technological change, industry practices, and one-time events that may 
cause actual results, performance or developments to differ materially from those contained in the 
forward-looking statements.  Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements and information contained in this release. Rise undertakes no obligation to 
update forward-looking statements or information except as required by law. 
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Rise Gold Reports Favorable Final Environmental Impact Report for  
Idaho-Maryland Mine Project 

 
• Final Independent Report by Nevada County confirms no significant air, biological, 

water, vibration or noise impacts from the project. 
• Hearings for approval of Use Permit to re-open Idaho-Maryland Mine upcoming. 
• Strong local support: The majority of residents support the mine re-opening, as well as 

associated economic development and well-paying jobs. 
• County economic report shows substantial economic benefits provided by the Project. 

 
December 16, 2022 – Grass Valley, California – Rise Gold Corp. (CSE: RISE, OTCQX: RYES) 
(the “Company”) is pleased to announce that Nevada County has released the Final Environmental 
Impact Report (the “FEIR”) for the Idaho-Maryland Mine Project (the “IMM Project”). The 
report’s release represents a major milestone toward approving the Company’s Use Permit 
application to reopen the historic past-producing Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine.  

The independently prepared FEIR is the culmination of three years of intensive study by the 
Nevada County government with the support of its consultant, Raney Planning & Management 
Inc., an experienced firm located in Sacramento1, and contributions from many qualified technical 
experts and scientists. The FEIR concludes that there are no significant impacts to air quality, 
biological resources, water quality, groundwater, vibration or noise from operations from the 
proposed re-opening of the Idaho-Maryland Mine. The FEIR builds upon the Draft EIR issued on 
January 4, 2022) by responding to comments from the public and government agencies. Through 
this open, transparent and public process, the Project has been further improved by strengthening 
several mitigation measures, as well as minor clarifications and corrections.  

The FEIR confirms only three significant unavoidable impacts from the project:  

• Temporary construction noise from the installation of a water pipeline 
• Addition of traffic to an intersection already operating at an unacceptable level of service2 

 
1 Raney has completed over 1,000 CEQA, NEPA, and planning-related projects, ranging from unique and complex 
projects necessitating the management of multi-disciplinary team of experts to publicly controversial projects 
requiring involvement and coordination of project stakeholders and concerned citizens.  
2 Intersection at Brunswick Road and highway SR 174. The project would add ~10 additional vehicles to ~1015 vehicles 
currently traveling through this intersection during the 3:30 – 4:30 PM time period.  
 

https://www.nevadacountyca.gov/3655/Idaho-Maryland-Mine-Final-EIR
https://www.nevadacountyca.gov/3655/Idaho-Maryland-Mine-Final-EIR
https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/content/Nov21RiseGoldSubmitsPermitApplicationtoReopenIdahoMarylandGoldMine.pdf
https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/content/Nov21RiseGoldSubmitsPermitApplicationtoReopenIdahoMarylandGoldMine.pdf
https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/news_item/article/ARTICLE_85.pdf
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• Aesthetics due to noticeable changes to the existing visual character of the project sites 

The County’s recently released Independent Economic Study confirms the Project will have 
substantial economic and community benefits. The Company believes these benefits significantly 
outweigh the three unavoidable impacts identified in the FEIR.  

Preparation of the FEIR as per the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”), is an 
important approval process milestone. A general outline of the remaining milestones in the Use 
Permit process are as follows:  

1) The Nevada County Planning Commission holds a public hearing to consider the FEIR and 
makes a recommendation on project approval to the Nevada County Board of Supervisors;  

2) The Board of Supervisors holds a public hearing to consider and make a final decision on 
the IMM Project. A majority vote of the five supervisors is required to approve the Project. 
 

The timeline to complete the Use Permit process depends primarily on the Nevada County 
government. However, the Company believes that the Use Permit process for the IMM Project 
could be completed over the next several months, likely during the first quarter of 2023. 

The Nevada County Board of Supervisors has approved three mining projects in recent years. The 
Boca Quarry Expansion, a surface aggregate mine with production of up to 1 million tons per year, 
was approved in 2019. The Greenhorn Creek Mining Expansion, a surface aggregate mine with 
production of up to 600,000 tons per year, was approved in 2017 and the Blue Lead Gold Mine, a 
surface placer gold mine with production of up to 400,000 tons per year, was approved in 2015.  

A recent survey of Nevada County conducted by J. Wallin Opinion Research demonstrates strong 
local support for the IMM Project. A majority (59%) of respondents supported re-opening the 
Idaho-Maryland Mine with only 34% of respondents opposed. The majority support for the project 
is consistent across all the county’s five districts. In addition, a majority of public comments during 
the Draft EIR comment period expressed support for the project.  

 

Project Design 

The Idaho-Maryland Mine is a past producing gold mine which produced 2,414,000 oz of gold at 
an average mill head grade of 17 gpt gold from 1866-19553. 

The Idaho-Maryland Mine was the second largest lode gold producer in the United States before 
being forced to close under War Production Board Order L-208 during World War II. In the two 
years before closure, 1940 and 1941, mine production averaged 920 tons per day with an average 
mill head grade of 0.38 oz per ton (12.9 gpt) and 121,000 oz of gold production per year. 

The Company has completed 67,500 feet (20,600 meters) of exploration core drilling at the IMM 
Project. Numerous high-grade gold intercepts have been encountered, both near the existing mine 

 
3 Amec Foster Wheeler, 2017 Technical Report on the Idaho Maryland Project 

https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/news_item/article/ARTICLE_96.pdf
https://ceqanet.opr.ca.gov/2012022024/4
https://ceqanet.opr.ca.gov/2017032040/2
https://ceqanet.opr.ca.gov/Project/2013112054
https://www.risegoldcorp.com/uploads/news_item/article/ARTICLE_83.pdf
https://www.risegoldcorp.com/technical-report
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workings and to depths significantly below historic mining areas. Additional exploration drilling 
is planned upon approval of the Use Permit.  

The Use Permit application proposes underground mining to recommence at an average 
throughput of 1,000 tons per day. The existing Brunswick Shaft, which extends to ~3400 feet depth 
below surface, would be used as the primary rock conveyance from the underground workings. A 
second service shaft would be constructed by raising from underground to provide for the 
conveyance of personnel, materials, and equipment. Gold processing would be done by gravity 
and flotation to produce gravity and flotation gold concentrates. Processing equipment and 
operations would be fully enclosed in attractive modern buildings and numerous mature trees 
located on the perimeter of the Brunswick Site would be retained to provide visual shielding of 
aboveground project facilities and operations. 

The Company would produce barren rock from underground tunneling and sand tailings as part of 
the project which would be used for creation of approximately 58 acres of level and useable 
industrial zoned land for future economic development in Nevada County. 

A water treatment plant and pond, using conventional processes, would ensure that groundwater 
pumped from the mine is treated to regulatory standards before being discharged to the local 
waterways. 

Approximately 300 employees would be required when the mine reaches full production, the 
majority of which will be drawn from the local Nevada County population.  

The Company believes the drilling program has been successful but cautions investors no current 
mineral resources or mineral reserves have been defined. The Company’s submission of an 
application for a Use Permit from Nevada County requires information regarding planned 
throughput and material quantities. The Company cautions investors that no Technical Report has 
been filed to support that this rate of production will be achieved. The Company has not completed 
a feasibility study to establish mineral reserves and therefore has not demonstrated economic 
viability of the IMM Project. The Company has not made a production decision for the IMM 
Project. 

 

About Rise Gold Corp. 

Rise Gold is an exploration-stage mining company incorporated in Nevada, USA. The Company’s 
principal asset is the historic past-producing Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine located in Nevada 
County, California, USA. To learn more about the company, visit www.risegoldcorp.com.  

 

About Rise Grass Valley Inc. 

Rise Grass Valley, a subsidiary of Rise Gold Corp., proposes to reinitiate underground mining and 
gold mineralization processing at the Idaho‐Maryland Mine in unincorporated Nevada County. 
State-of-the-art facilities utilizing the environmentally friendly technology will be located on the 
Brunswick Industrial Site. To learn more about the project and community, visit 
www.risegrassvalley.com.  

http://www.risegoldcorp.com/
http://www.risegrassvalley.com/
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On behalf of the Board of Directors: 
 
 
Benjamin Mossman 
President, CEO and Director 
Rise Gold Corp. 
 
 
For further information, please contact: 

 
RISE GOLD CORP. 
Suite 215, 333 Crown Point Circle 
Grass Valley, CA 95945 
T: 530.433.0188 
info@risegoldcorp.com  
www.risegoldcorp.com 
 
 
The CSE has not reviewed, approved or disapproved the contents of this news release. 
 
 
Forward-Looking Statements 
This press release contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable 
securities laws. Forward-looking statements are frequently characterized by words such as “plan”, 
“expect”, “project”, “intend”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “estimate” and other similar words or 
statements that certain events or conditions “may” or “will” occur.   
 
Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements 
are reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. Such 
forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions related to certain 
factors including, without limitation, obtaining all necessary approvals, meeting expenditure and 
financing requirements, compliance with environmental regulations, title matters, operating 
hazards, metal prices, political and economic factors, competitive factors, general economic 
conditions, relationships with vendors and strategic partners, governmental regulation and 
supervision, seasonality, technological change, industry practices, and one-time events that may 
cause actual results, performance or developments to differ materially from those contained in the 
forward-looking statements.  Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements and information contained in this release. Rise undertakes no obligation to 
update forward-looking statements or information except as required by law. 
 

about:blank
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Rise Gold Reports Planning Commission Recommendation  
on Idaho-Maryland Mine Project 

 
May 12, 2023 – Grass Valley, California – Rise Gold Corp. (CSE: RISE, OTCQX: RYES) (the 
“Company” or “Rise Gold”) announces the result of the Planning Commission hearing on the 
Idaho-Maryland Mine Project (the “IMM Project”).  
 
The Nevada County Planning Commission held a public hearing on May 10 and May 11, 2023 to 
consider the Final Environmental Impact Report (the “FEIR”). At the conclusion of the public 
hearing the Planning Commission recommended to the Nevada County Board of Supervisors that 
the FEIR not be certified and that the Use Permit be denied.  
 
The remaining milestone in the Use Permit process, including the consideration of the FEIR will 
take place at a Board of Supervisors public hearing to consider and make a final decision on the 
IMM Project. A majority vote of the five supervisors is required for approval. The County has 
stated that the Board of Supervisors hearing will take place no sooner than August 2023. 

 
About Rise Gold Corp. 

Rise Gold is an exploration-stage mining company incorporated in Nevada, USA. The Company’s 
principal asset is the historic past-producing Idaho-Maryland Gold Mine located in Nevada 
County, California, USA.  

 
On behalf of the Board of Directors: 
 
Benjamin Mossman 
President, CEO and Director 
Rise Gold Corp. 
 
 
For further information, please contact: 

RISE GOLD CORP. 
Suite 215, 333 Crown Point Circle 
Grass Valley, CA 95945 
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T: 530.433.0188 
info@risegoldcorp.com  
www.risegoldcorp.com 
 
 
The CSE has not reviewed, approved or disapproved the contents of this news release. 
 
 

mailto:info@risegoldcorp.com
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Raise adyan.ced 31.5 ft. ,total 43o5 ft. ,following 6 to 
18 inches of quartzo 

Coordinates : N E 

Raise started a..i.-id advanced 30 ft., total 42 feet. 
Coordinates : H E 

Drift advanced 97 fto, total 271 fto,following an erra­
tic quartz vein that sho,Ned from 4 to 12 inches of 
quartz o 

coordinates : E 

Drtft advanced 61 ft., total 15905 ft., along a 10-inch 
vein to its intersection with the 4 vein. 

Coordinates : .N 5825 E 11,025 

Raise started and advanced 8 feet. 
Coordir..ates: N E 

Drift advanced 107 fto, total 528 ft., along a vein that 
has varied from. 4 to 50 inches in quartz width and 
showed some good values. 

Coordinates : H 5315 E 11,242 

Cross-cut started and advanced 6805 feet, intersecting 
the weak 13 vein and a fev; smalllstrin15ers o 

Coordinates : N 5955 E 10,370 

Cross-cut advanced 9 feet, total 152 feet. 
Coordinates: N 4864 E 11,486 

Cross-cut was driven 37 feet to furnish a place for the 
installation of a ventilating f.ano 

coordinates H E 

Raise advanced 72 fto, total 201 ft., following 5 to 
14 inches of quartzo 

coordinates N E 

.At the B:;:ounsv1ick Unit, during the month of April, there 
was done 372 feet of diamond drilling, averaging 20.6 
feet per drill shift. Drilling was done northwesterly 
from. the 800 level., locating 5 feet of quartz between 
7 and 12 veins, and a strong foot,;ra.11 branch of the 4 
vein • 
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Crosscut advanced 32.5 ft., total 61.5 ft., and was stouped. 
Excavation of 900 cu ft., connected the crosscut to Idaho# 
2 Shaft a.11d has practically corr£oleted the station. 

Coordinates : N 9010 - E 8827 

Crosscut started and advanced. 43.5 feeto This develonment 
vtlll connect the 800 L to Idaho #2 Shaft; the connection 
should be n:aa.e this montho The "L1

' fault v1as cut by this 
head.inc; and shows a little auartz. After the connection with 
the shaft, drifting on the fault to the east will connect to 
the 800 L-603 D, driven from. the to:p of the 850 L-5 R. A 
length of 75 ft·., of quartz· on the ha.nging wall of the fault 
will be developed by this heading. 

Coordinates : N 8959 E 8816 

Drift from the top of the 850 L-5 R, ·was dri van 5 ft., total 
20 fta, and was suspended. Development of the exce~lent ore 
on the hanging wall of the ''L" fault will be pursued from the 
800 L-4 XC, after the latter heading has connected with Idah6 
#2 Shaft/) 

Coordinates: N 8925 E'8865 

Crosscut advanced 38 ft., total 52 fto, cutting several dia­
base masses and a small quartz vein. 

Coordinates: N 8866 E 8446 

Crosscut started and advanced 29 feet. This crosscut will 
connect the 850 L with Idaho #2 Shaft. The crosscut penetra­
ted two ft o, of quartz on the foot·wa.11 of the "L" fault. 

Coordinates : N 8917 E 8827 

Drift resumed and advanced 10. 5 ft. , total 326 • 5 feet. Twelve 
inches of ribboned quartz scows in the face on the hanging 
v.ra.11 of the ''L" fault. 

Coordinates : N 8?30 E 9250 

Crosscut advanced 44o5 ft., total 1?28.5. The face is in gab­
bro-diori te" Two diamond drill stations were cut 15 ft. ,and 
a 380 cu ft.,excevation vvill provide swit:rm room tor several 
cars. 

Coordinates H E 

There v,as 2850 cubic feet excayated for the 1000 shaft sta­
tion. The station vvill be completed. in !Jay. 

Drift advanced 28o5 ft., total 284.5 ft., 1500 cu fto, was 
excavated for a switch. Developments on the 10 vein are very 
encouraging. The character of the vein has changed from coar­
sely crystalline quartz containing abundant pyrophyllite and 
carbonate to fine grained typical quartz with a little car­
bonate and prominent sulfides. colors of gold have been ob-
served on every face and the stringers accomp~ying the vein 
show colors occasionally. The walls of the vein are stronger. 
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Assa~rs of the vein during the :::n.onth ranged from j3ol0 to 
:)7 5. 00 at the old l)rice. An ore shoot is indicatedo 

Coordinates: N E 

Dri:rt adva1:ced 530 5 ft .. , total 251. 5 feet. The strong 
structure has split and there are now two parallel 
stru.ct·_1rcs vii tll diabase betvreen the:!!1 and C!l the footvre.11. 
Samples of the diabase are encouraging. 

Coord.:.nates : H E 

Raise advanced 39.5 fto, total 113 ft .. , ~ollowing from 
three to seYen feet of cmartz .. The 1100 level elevation 
has been reached and drifting will be started immediately .. 
The 1100 L-3 D, vrill break into the 1000 Level, 1 winze 
and give access for supplies. 

Coordinates : 
of start : N B500 E 8950 

Raise advanced 33 ft., total 49 ft., alon8 the intersec­
tion of the 3 and 13 vei1:s .. The total quartz width has 
vELried fron1 four to ten feet, and diabase on the foot,·re.11 
carries sulfide bearing stringers. 

Coordinates : 
of start : N 8508 ~ 8878 

Raise ad,ranced 43.5 ft., tot-al 81.5 ft., follovtlng from 
24-12 inches of quartz. 

Coordinates: 
of start · : F 8512 E 8?75 

Drift advanced 10.5 fto, total 478.5 ft., and was stopped 
with the face in ankerite. 

coordinates: ·N 8550 E 8569 

Oro sscut advanced 72 ft o, total 101. 5 feet. It ha.s pene­
trated a diabase dike in serpentine and the present face 
shows a sna.11 mineralized diabase dike and altered ser­
pentine. The crosscut v!ill re.a.em tlfa pitojected position 
of the 1000 L -1 w, during the month and excavation for 
the vrinze station will start o 

Coordinates : N 8240 E 8970 

Raise advanced 14.5 fto, total· 94 fto, and was stopped. A 
station is being cut and timbered at the top of the raise 
75 feet vertically above thel500 level, and the stringer 
bearing diabase dike will be developed from this new 
"1460" level. 

Coordinates : 
at· start E 9136 E 9863 

Drift advanced 58 fto, total 252.5 ft., and was suspended 
with a strong structure and 2-5 inches of broken quartz 
in the face. 

coordinates : N 7971 E 9853 
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f'!l'O~s c:it started and advanced 24 feet 1'1·00 the end. cf the 
l.90~ L-·1 D. 'l1hi s crosscut :i. s e~'J lo:-ing for possible ~)::' ,...e._ 
:a.al Ye.:..11 stru~tt1.1·es . J .... 11ke1·i te shovrs in the present face. 

Goord.i.nates : H ?~14 E 9840 

"Ju:-5.nc the :r..ontJ Zl . o :'eet of o}.d ca.ired drift i'i8.S recov­
e:::-ed a??.d the ol q fe.ce r8achcd. Drifting ·was started. on the 
1 zeirt and 14 fJet ~dvanced . On tee foot;;al l of the l vein 
a strir.ger zone was er..ccuntered. •.:hich ca!'ried ha a,ry gold 
anci. acme.ant su .:!.'ides. \ssayc o-: this zone were very en­
coura;ir-s and ~4,;e up to '750 .oo , over widths rangill{:; from 
24· t o 48 inchesL The 1 vein shows as a str onb structure 
1,rith b!""J1:~n qua'·t~. 

Coo ~inates N E 

~·rir.:::~e dez:pened '.1:0 . 5 "eet dur::.ng the mcnth , total 75 . 5 feet. 
It i::; expected :... .t vhe old 125 foot leYel vdll be re­
covered ei.t:!::cr urin,:; the latte1· Jurt of :~a:t or the first 
:>9.rt of June . samnJ.e s of -t:10 · 2 vein 1' roru t he si : es of the 
,rinze are very encouraging . This heading is :,ci:· r; consi­
dered ac~ual development r&.the1· than recaptt:re · ecause o~ 
t:1e enlar:;in3 of tho olrl 30 Hinze and its bac:Uy caved con­
dition . 

Ooordin:...te<:; : N" E 

The "3heuve rui::;cu for the new winze la.~rout has been i'in­
i shed . __ dvance du::-ir . .; the month was 47 ft ., total 96 feet . 
'.I1he heist room excavation ht:ts ,.__ ~n ~inished. 1750 cubic 
feet "-'ere excavated during :"arcl and ·1.pri l . '11ile nhoi s t 
raise 11 v:ill be driven to co:r.. ::.dt.:.on durin~ 1:ay. ii.t pres­
ent the hoist r or.m is be.:.nc timbered. 

Ra i.$e ac.ire.nced 21 feet , total 42 feet , follo·vin~ a quartz 
~.-ein ·::h.:.cn hus varied. :'ro~ fou2· to three feet. 

CoorJ.ins.te.; : , -,.\j E 

:::i;incerin.:; ,t,; ..... :·\:uent 
Rollin FarI!li n :nc111 

- L_-~----~---
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Idaho-Maryland Vested Right Petition

Rise Grass Valley Inc.

PO Box 271

Grass Valley, California, USA 95945

Overview of Vested Area

Sheet 3

Showing underground mine and explorationRise Grass Valley - September  1st 2023

SCALE 5,000 ft

LEGEND

Vested subsurface mineral estate

(Owned by Rise and owned by Idaho Maryland

Mines Corporation on Vesting Date

Vested surface estate

(Owned by Rise and owned by Idaho Maryland

Mines Corporation on Vesting Date

Brunswick Mine

1100L - 8XC

Exploration Tunnel

Idaho-Maryland Mine

Union Hill Mine

Mitchell Crosscut

Exploration Tunnel

Surface Exploration drilling

Surface Exploration drilling

Surface Exploration drilling

Underground Exploration drilling

Underground Mine Tunnel

Underground Mine Stope

Exploration drill hole

(completed by historic mine operator)
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IDAHO UNIT 

GEOLOGIC SUMMARY OF MINE DEVELOPMENT 

During September, 1941 

800L-3D has been advanced about 100 feet eastward 

across the top of the stope above 850L. A short lens of 

faulted quartz was developed in this drive, but no ore. Only 

a short distance remained to the 800 intermediate level to 

the east so the drive was stopped. 

1000L-3D- 4R has reached the 900L which now is being re­

captured, preparatory to stoping the east block of vein 

between 900 and 850L. 

1100L-613D- 1R has been driven to develop the low-grade 

13 vein in this panel . The quartz contains little gold, 

although otherwise the vein has the appearance of most of our 

ore . 

1200L-2D has been changed to the number of lD because it 

has curved to the south instead of to the north. A consider­

able length of quartz of fair width has been developed, most 

of which is low- grade but in the last few rounds colors have 

been seen and the grade has improved somewhat. The branches 

of vein seen here probably can be correlated with those exposed 

in the Dorsey winze at the 1500 and 1600 levels. 

1350L-3D is an intermediate being driven at the bottom of 

the quartz below 1300L , where it is cut off by "K" fault. 

Attempts to raise from 1400L, below this intermediate elevation , 
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have been disasterous due to the running ground encountered 

at the fault. 

1400L- 16D- 1R has connected the Morehouse 1300L, and 

narrow quartz of good grade was found along the drive. A 

program is being prepared for the development of the upward 

extension of the Morehouse shoot. 

1500L-11XC is bei ng driven toward the junction of the 

Idaho 1 vein and the Brunswick 31 vein. The crosscut has 

traversed broken serpentine thus far. A strong structure now 

appears, marking the contact with the porphyrite block, and 

showing that the serpentine lies as a sill in a porphyrite. 

Two or three more months of driving should place us at the 

objective. 

2000L-1D-4R has been resumed above 1800L with the objective 

the Idaho 1600L off the Canyon shaft. 2000L-23D has been follow­

ing a very irregular vein in which free gold is seen commonly. 

A belt of transverse struct ures was rea ched during the l atter 

part of the period and drifting will be turned along these 

because the 23 vein has disappeared at the junction. Most of 

the ground along t his drift is hi ghly a ltered serp entine in 

which abundant talc contains small colors of gold, remote from 

quartz. The 2000L- 23D- 2R has exposed quartz of good grade for 

about half of the l engt h of t he raise. The patches of quartz are 

separated by barren fault structure. The manner in which these 

quartz lenses appear i ndicates t hat t he original vein has been 

separated by reverse f aulting . At the present time, excellent 

ore shows in t his r aise and it is a most encouraging development. 
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2000L- 19XC is continui ng through barren porphyrite and will 

soon reach its objective, the Brunswick 31 vein. 

2070L- 3D has followed a remarkable zone of mineralized 

porphyrite and of branching irregular quartz veins. The 

grade of this ore is low but promise of large volume lends 

considerable interest to this development. 

2400L-5D-1R connected to 2140 level and has provided 

ventilation and access to a considerable block of ground. The 

results of this raise have been disappointing in that the 5 

ore body has not been increased much through the raise, which 

will provide facilities for driving a 2300 intermediate level 

from which we should learn more about the faulted ore body. 

2400L- 3D is following a barren vein, marginal to "H11 

f ault . 

2700L- 202D has been extended along a zone of heavy stringers 

which are generally parallel to a good structure in prolongation 

of the 2 vein. Free gold has been seen frequently i n the 

stringers and we are developing a zone of low- grade stoping ore. 

A side- swipe to the hanging wall of the 202D has opened a zone 

of stringers in which tellurides and free gold has been abundant , 

and this zone is being extended now as 402D. The 602D, which is 

a footwall branch of 202D, continued on large frozen quartz vein 

of very low grade . 

2700L-602D-1R is nearing the 2400 level and is following a 

rather irregular quartz vein. 

The 2700L-4XC has been turned toward the 5 vein and is still 

in porphyrite, which occupies an anomalous position through faulting. 
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Diamond Drilling in the upper levels of the Idaho has 

shown a hanging wall branch vein in which some colors have 

been cored, but which is so narrow that it is doubtful if 

stoping will be practical. On the surface, the drilling has 

been at the north end of the Macari Ranch property where 

barren quartz veins have been cored . The drill will continue 

to delineate these veins for several months, according to the 

present plan, and will be moved eastward to prospect the veins 

east of the Conti Ranch. 

BRu1\JSWICK UNIT 

The Gold Point Tunnel recapture continues. One hundred and 

twenty feet i n a branch adit was encountered, turning the heading 

to the northeast along a narrow quartz vein. This reentry will 

give us information concerning the veins in the upper part of 

the block between Union Hill and Old Brunswick Mine. 

490L- 34D and - 634D have developed a stringer zone and quartz 

vein which lies principally west of the 1 crosscut. As we drive 

eastward this zone seems to drop below the elevation of the 490 

level . 

580L- 7D has followed a narrow , low- grade vein . The 107D is 

a branch that is developed further to the west and has been 

extended in hope of finding 4 vein but it also has been barren 

thus far. 

580L- 636D has reached the 600L- 36D- 1R and has continued 

beyond in ore of excellent grade vlhich has shown some heavy free 

gold. This ore is narrow, however, and may not continue far . 

700L- 16D and - 216D have continued to develop a hanging- wall 



-5-

branch of narrow width and rather low- grade . While this has 

offered some promise continually, no ore of stoping grade has 

been developed . 

700L- 16D- 8R has connected to .580 level . It followed a 

steep quartz vein most of the distance , but the quartz left 

the steep structure below the .580L and branched into the foot ­

wall in a very intricate pattern. 

700L- 816D has been resumed , followi ng westward on a strong 

16 vein . Thi s drive continues to develop ore. 

An intermediate level. is being extended at 7.50 elevation , 

where the 2 vein ·will be followed eastward to the projection 

of the 36 vei n . 

800L- 8D has followed i negular quartz vein and branching 

stringers of good grade for more than one hundred and fifty feet 

from the stope , but the structure is breaking up and appears to be 

ended at present . A raise has been started from 900L- 11D on what 

is the downward . continuation of 8 vein in all probability. 

The 900L- 7XC has been continued through barren porphyrite in 

the drive toward the Independence shaft . The 900L- 3XC is being 

extended along the diamond dr ill hole towar d the wide ore cored 

l ast month. 

1000L-7D followed a good vein in vmich heavy free gold was 

found several times during the month. At pr esent, this heading 

has been suspended until New Brunswick milli ng is resumed . The 

10001- lXC is bei ng driven t oward a minerali zed zone in a hanging 

wall of 32 vei n where diamond drill cores showed excellent ore . 

1300L- l.5D is developing a strong structure which bounds 

erratic quartz of good grade . The 61.5D, in the opposite direction 
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on 15 vein , has developed wider quartz, but most of it has 

been of rather low grade. The development of this vein 

continues to claim much attention. 

2300L- 616D has followed a ne arly barren vein through 

several splits and now the quartz is becoming wider . 

2300L- 33D has been suspended in favor of diamond drilling . 

During the diamond drilling period the 32D has been started to 

reach wide quartz cut earlier by the drill. The #1 crosscut 

was extended a short way to explore the weak carbonate vein 

which had been disclosed recently. Drilling into the footwall 

block from the 33D has proved a promising ore zone which 

probably is the 28 vein . It appeared nearly barren in our 

original crosscut. In the course of the last month, diamond 

drilling has indicated tha t our 2300 level ore shoots will lie 

east of our crosscut, and that the eastward plunge of the ore 

zones has continued to this depth . 

GRASS VALLEY BULLI ON UNIT 

The 1500L- 3XC has rea ched the Alaslca-Pacific vein , the 

objective of this long drive . The vein is barren where it was 

i ntercepted , but shows a good structure and has the proper dip_ 

and attitude to complete the correlation with the vein at the 

surface. After penetrating this vein, the footwall crosscut 

encountered a steep, crossing- type structure which is almost in 

prolongation of the direction of the crosscut, and the decision 

was made to follow this crossing far enough to be certain that 

no additional branches of our new vein lie ahead. The crossi ng 

has carried as much as three inches of quartz from place to 
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place , and provi des an excellent route for exploring the 

footwall country . Unless something new is found work will 

be diverted to the Alaska- Pacific vein at the end of the 

month. 

In the surface work, being performed by Grass Valley 

Bullion Company for Idaho ~aryland, the Great Eastern Tunnel 

has been extended a short distance on nearly barren structure 

and has been suspended in favor of surface trenching for the 

more rapid forward development of this vein into the Allison 

Ranch country . Recently the old Syndicate Consolidated Tunnel 

was reopened to disclose the position of the vein . The work 

now will be transferred northward , nearer the Allison Ranch 

Mine. 

RF/t 

(Rollin Farmin) 
Engineering Department , 
October 15 , 1941. 
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Ma., 24th., 1950 

!~. E. L . Oliver, President 
Idllho ?l.urylnnd Mi.nee Corpora~ion 
807 Uewhall Building 
San Franci3co, California 

Dear Mr. Oliver: 

I wish to aclmowledco receipt of your letter of V.ay 17th, 1950. 

South Africa, I believe, will withdraw from the Fund . Since I 
wrote you Havenga h!ls statert tln t too;y will sell gold in the free market. 
I think our 'L'rea.our.r is dumping r,old t,-, force the pxice do,a1 - or civo 
Russia fewer dollars - it ' s hard to ouy which . I am enclosin,: three art­
icles cut from tho Nortl-ern l:.iner, which cover rotoo of the recent activity 
en the gold scene. Obviou::ily , there will be fireworks when the Fund meets 
in September 1n Paris . 

Hulin knew of tile cu ttin_; of 53 Vein "hen he a.::iked that the JO 
and J6 hol13 be surveyed . Hie point, is that accurate projections are h.<!.rd 
to ma.ke whon uainc de.ui fron unaurveyed holoa. I •m sure that s1 me of the 
lonGer holoe r.J.ght well be surveyed. t:e rave .evidence that tt.ey are not 
alwaya where tbey are sup. aod to be . 'fr.ore is no surveying oquip.."lOnt here 
and tl.ey aurveyin[! is slow work, about one shif t per setup, and in <m 800 
foot holo ono ,..,"O ltl need a survoy determinaticn ovory 100 foet • 

• c are drivine a crosscut on 2700 in the .footwall of No . 2 Vein 
to otra.ighten out the haulage . Al.moat from the ata.rt it nlso has been on 
a dde quartz vein for 130 feet . Now the vein ia turning out of the cross­
cut und where it ia t,:rning another vein branch apr,ee.rs to be taking off in 
tho tootwnll., ~lich roy be the 53 Vein. .c shall drive on it and see . One 
of our holes might have drilled throu{!h the llo . 2 and 53 \tithout realizing 
that there wer e two veins there . f notr:er holo which s!1ould ha.ve cut this 
now branch apparently nti.sGed, but such thinBa are possible . 

Hulin lns recorm:isnded a down hole fron 2400) hich we are drilling. 
Ao IJOl;n as that ia finished we will drill two others on 240J which should 
exter.d the known length of 53 Vein from 700 feet to 160J feet on 2400 Level. 

If the branch we rave in the f'ootwall of 2 Vein is the 53 Vein wo 
\dll drive t'roc there, if not , tie must crosscut into t.hc footwall or 2 Vein 
and raise for it. 
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'lne valoo s cut in the 53 Vein arc ei ven uelo,,; to d!l. te: 

llole No. Len5th Sample Oz . Au. Hole No . Length Samole Oz . Au. 

35 '£40 ( Sampled 072' , 30 Fl.o.t (Sampled 572 ', 
739', 67 1 .) 67f3' in hole.) 

5' .06 1.7' ,03 
5' .02 .16 1 .o6 
5' .04 1.6• .ll 
l' .os 3.1• .29 
4' .12 1.6' .08 
,. t .03 1.0• .14 
I+ ' .03 3.5, .09 
4 ' .09 l.0' .34 
5' .05 1.11 .07 
5' .03 2.41 .12 
5' .01 2 .2 1 .13 
5' .01 3.61 .38 
5' .05 2.11 .10 
5' .02 l.l' .05 
.5' .01 4. 7 ' .53 

5.7' .01 
J6 19° ( Sampled 384' , 14.4' .15 

419', 3;• .) 10,5 ' .05 
3' .03 
2' .04 31 Flat (Sampled 633 ', 
2' .02 657 ' in hole.) 
2• .. 01 1.0' .16 
l' .ll 1.0• .04 
l' .02 l.O' .12 
l' .06 1 .0• .22 
l' .44 2 .0 • .01 
l' .04 4 ,0 1 .09 
1' 1.72 3.0 • .18 
l' ,05 2.0 • . 27 
1' .05 ~.o• 4,45 
l ' ,04 2 .0 1 .42 
2' .. 06 5.01 .08 
2' .03 
l' ,05 33 45° 

6 .0 1 ,04 
37 900 (198 I, ,Z04 I) (Uo saraplee ae yet , ) 1.5' .01 

\.j.uartZ 1 .0 1 .02 
2.0• .16 

10.0• .03 
s.o• .07 
5.0 ' .05 



.. . -~ .. 
Mr . E. L. Oliver Page .3 May 24th, 1950 

l:e lnve i:;ott on a s.w.ll .mot.mt cf higherade- from the junction of tho 
No . 2 Vein and tho branch on 27':I:) . There a.re black, or ~ray, slates ther o 
which augore well . 

Donald McLaughlin ia gi Vinti the Comnencermnt address a t Bu"tte on June 
9t h. It is their 50th anniversary. I expect to fl.:r up on the 8th, rettrning the 
10th. ! will lnvo an opportunity there to r,o over 1th him the next moves on the 
gold problem. Encourae;l.ng South Africa to withdraH iu one or thom. 

?JO :H 
f}icls . 

Sincerel.r""' 
ORIGINAL SluN~lJ 0 • 

NEIL O'DONNELL 
Neil c •::>onnell, 
Executive vie resident, 
ID:'!.HO H/\It Tu. D • cr:r ~s CORPORATION . 
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Mru Carlton D. Hulin 
26th Floor - Shell Bldg. 
San Francisco 4, California 

Dear Hr. Hulin:-

Aueuat 5th, 1949 

1949. 
I wish to acknowledge receipt of your memorandum of July 8th, 

needless to say, I agree with your statement relative to the 
policy of doing an insufficient amoW1t of development work at this property. 
I have spoken and written to the Directors m1phasizing the nooeesity of doing 
more developnent than we },.ave been doing, or in fa.ct , has been done in any 
year since 1939. _, 

I do not lmow whether or not you have seen an old file we have ; 
containing excerpts from the annual reports of the F:ureka. Mining Company 
between 1866 and 1876. T'1ia report is illumiM.ting relative to the west 
end of the Idaho vein. In 1871 tho ore was mined out, or largely so accord­
ing to the reports. I quote from some of the reporto: 

"February 1st, 1872: - The J:8Y ore fAiled between tho 5th and 6th 
levels. This f.:dlure io on the cast, running toward the Idaho . To the west 
there have been no develor:ments of a ledge which justifies running into the 
Roanna.ise ground, since the ledge in that direeti cn s:plita up very much and 
takes a very eccentric course . Yet explorations are being mde to the wost , with 
a view of testing t'1e led 10 on that side. • • • • • • • • • . 

- In the bottom of the shaft, 854 feet bolow 
the surface, the ledge is very much split up and has shown no improV81'.:lent since 
tho pe.y ore was left . In short, tho shaft has been sunk through 273 feet of a 
ledee in l'Jhich there is not t.:old enough to pgy for ,rorking. ~le saw plenty of 
quartz, but we regret to eay that some new devol.o.flOOnts must be made before old 
Ajax takes her place aeain in the front rank of Csl.ifornia. t'.li.nes . " 

0 0 0 O 0 

11Auguat 1st, 1872: •• •• • • • A crosscut is being run from 
the fourth level on a northerly course to strike the Mobile ledgo. The I!obile 
is en under ledge to the Eureka and the theory is that the !'obile lodge at 
great depth, will be the gold carrier. " 

ooOoo 
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11 tlovember .3rd., 1872: - \le hnve struck nothing encouraging 1n the 
Eureka proper., but in the 1~obile crosscut we struck a atratwn of cround which 
has dralned the Roannaise sh,1f't; showing a connection between t ho two . In the 
bottom of the shaft (Roannaise) wtdch is 6S fetJt deep there is a ledpe 2~ feet 
wide with perfect walls, but the quartz is poor, and we are preparing to sink 
on the ledge near this point and prove it to greater depth, and as it is the 
most cheering proepact of all, I hope it will turn out equal to our e.xpecta.tione." 

O O O O 0 

"October 16th, 1873: - Annual Report for year ending September .'.3oth, 
187.3 • 

• • • • • • • • • • - We have driven 1,556 foot of drifts, 714 feet 
of crosacute and sunk 99 feet of winzee. 

• • • • • • • • • • - We have struck nothing very encouraging in 
either the Mobile or Roannaise. In the fonner we are running a drift east from 
the crosscut which shows bunches of quartz, good walls, and a good opening be­
tween therrt; in the latter we are sinking a shaft on the ledco uhich is two feet 
wide, but as the shaft is only d°"J!l sixteen feet, I cannot determine tho quality 
or extent of the ore. Regarding the future prospects or the mine, I can form no 
decided opinion, as the solution of the question lies deeper than we have been; 
although in the eighth level the walls aro good and regular, and four .feet apart, 
the ledge is small and very poor. • • • • • • • 11 

"October, 1874: 

0 O O O 0 

- Annual Report for year ending September 30th, 
1874. 

- In the Eureka Mine we have driven 735 feet o.f 
drifts, 42 feet of riao, 191 feet of crosscuts ana sunk 207 feet of shaft. Sunk 
53 of No. 3 aha.ft on the R03Maise and 107 feot of Eureka LF.ldge Uo. 2 . 

- Tho future prospect of tho mine is one of great 
doubt, although the dead work and exploration have been irnrnonse., we have f ound no 
favorable developnent up to the present time. The twelfth level crosscut not 
boif16 in far enough to etrlke the ledge, we have reason to hope we may find pay 
ore yet. I a:i prospecting a front lcdee and hevo a shaft sunk on it 107 feet 
doep. The ledge is small and slious eold but I am afraid tho cross ledge will cut 
it off and disorder it, as it has done to the li:ureka on the wost.. I have stopped 
work on the 'tob1le, Roannaise and Great qestern, the indication in my opinion not 
warranting the company expendinc any more money. 11 (Supt ' a. Report-lfilliam Watt) 

"October, 1875 . -

0 O O O 0 

- Annual Report for year ending September 30th, 
1875 - President's Report. 

- Gentlemen: Referring to the Morehouse Claim 
o.f which mention is nnde by the Superintendent, it is proper to say to tho stock­
holders that the claim is loca ,ed south or and cuts the Eurel'..a ledge at right 
angles, comprising 1,800 feet in length and is covered by a U.S . Patent which 



.. . 
Mr. Carlton D. Hulin - 3 - August 5th, 1949 

includes 12 acres of surfacer.round. The e.xploratkno of tho .t!.uroka would ooem 
to indicate the probo.bility of the ledfte having turned south across Wol~ Creak 
into the Morehouse ground. • •• • •••• 

0 O O O 0 

"Superintendent William Watt's Report, September Joth, 1875. 

- In the iureka Mine proper we have driven 
196 faet of drif Ls, 879 feet of crosscuts and sunk 34 feet of winze • 

• • • • • • • • • • • • - I regret not being able to gl.ve a more 
favorable report of our last years workings, and the in.1.enae aroount of prospect­
ing that has been done and the large amount of rooney expended wi tnout me.king any 
favorable development m· kes me feel solicitous about the future prospects of the 
Company. There are still three places worth,r of prospect, viz: the 12th level, 
the Roannaise from no. 3 ahaf't and the Morehouse Claim." 

0 0 0 0 0 

"Armual Report for year ending Sept8T'lber 30th, 1876. 

- In the Eureka Mine we have driven 191 feet 
of drirt.s, 40 feet of crosscuts; h,"ve also sunk 99 feet of shaft and driven 579 
feet of crosscuts on the Roanna.ise; and sunk 159 feet of shaf.'t and driven 334 teat 
of dr.i.rt. and 58 feet of crosscuts in the Morehouse • . 

• • • • • • • • • • • • - I need not express my disappointr:iont at not 
having aucceded in tracing or finding the Eureka led re on the Host or south . I 
have abandoned prospoctine for it in the Y..'orohouso and on the south . The only 
chance now I see of finding it is in crosscutine north from ~o .3 shaft on Roannaiee 
ground and I advise the continuance of that crosscut. It is in 386 feet fran the 
aha ft:. and is beine run vory cheaply, • • • • • • • • • 11 

0 O O O O 

"May 5th, l?:77 - Contains announceAent of tho final closure of the 
property. 

- This record po·nts up oeveral things, the 
.first of which is that it, is not any easy thing to see a cine die. fecondly, 
considerable ,-rork was done on the Eureka, Morehouse, Mobile and Roannaise proper­
ties before abandonmmt. None of the maps are available but it is appa.rmt that 
those mon were real miners and looked at everything possible before abandonment. 
Thirdly, these notes might well become fX..rt of your tile for future reference. 

The other parts of your reconmendations I hr ve gone over with care, 
point by point. When you return I shall go over these with you. 

NO:H 

Sincerel,y 
ORIGINAL s(GNEO tn 
MEIL O'DONNELL 
Neil O'Donnell, 
Executive Vi oo President, 
ID\HO MARYLAND MINES CORPORATION. 
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IDAHO UNI T: 

GEOLOG-IC SU: IiARY OF :.JEE DEVELCP:..ENT 

for 

NOVEilil3ER , 1941 . 

Stonint of the 10 vein from the :~tchel l crosscut has gradually 

devel oued a better picture of this ore shoot I shov1ing that i t is 

relatively low- grade but is c~eauly mined and may contribute 

considerable vol ume . Plans h8ve been outlined for sinking on 

this vein to develou it below the 1000 level , where it seems to be 

stronger than in the u_pv;ard extensions . 

1050L-13D- 1R has develo9ed q barren vei:1 which is improving i n 

grade as the 1000 level i s npnroached . 

1200L- 1D has follor;ed irregular quartz. in muc~1. altered porphyri te 

and has reached the fault which terminated the Dorsey vein on lower 

l evels . Suffi ci ent quartz hns been present to make thi s attracti ve 

exol orntion but no ore has been develonea for several months . 

The raise on the i.~orehouse shoot above 1300 level has found 

only narroVJ quartz of high- 1:;rade . The raise should be extended to 

the 1200 level because of its strate6ic position . 

15001-llXC, pointed i nto the Brunswick block , has continued 

through barren uorphyri te and i n about one hundred feet the I daho 

-#=l vein will be reached . T'!1e vein will be encountered at a point 

near the urojected position of the BrunsTiick #31 vein . 

2000L- 63D has continued on the hani;ing wall branch of the 6-3 

vein structure which gradually became bRr:r•en . This heading has 

been turned to lace back acl'oss the 6- 3 and wil l cut the 111 " fa.ul t 



and #5 vein on the footviall side of the structure . The only ore 

develoued bY the 63 drift was that .qt t11.e junction v:i t h the 23 vein . 

2000L- 23D- 2R v:as extended somev;hat e.~)ove the 1950 level and 

a 1950 drift has been collared from it . The higher part of the 

raise was barren but the drift is showin6 nhrro\1 quartz and free 

gold on the north side of the r aise . 

2000L-19XC reached the BrunsHick 31 vein and found as sort 

lens of quartz contnining heavy free gold . Eastward on t his 31 

drift the quartz p inc~ed out and only a weak , barren structure 

remains to follow . It is only one hundred and fifty feet from the 

present drift face to the wide quartz of an earlier drill hole so 

we know that ore is nearby . 

2300L- 5D is an intermediate level, establ ished from the 

2400L-5D- 1R, and is following two feet of quartz that is fairly 

well mineralized but of spotty value . 

2400L- 3D has been followin~ widenin~ quartz rangin~ from 

six inches to a foot ; visible gold and good a ssays have characterized 

the l ast thirty feet of the drift . It ~s too early to interoret 

this new shoot but it could be the 11 3 11 shoot with a flat eastward 

plunge or it may be a oarallel shoot . At the 24DO level from the 

45 winze , crosscuts are being driven to t:ne pocket in the hanging 

wall and to the vein in the foot~all . Both of these crosscuts 

are nearly complete . 

2700L- 202D has follov, ed an undul::1tin[; flat vein and the resulting 

drift is curved like a river bed . ~ost of the quartz along this 

structure has been of good width but the assays 11ave been spotty 

- 2 -



so that the ore is low grade in general. So far , no intersecting 

structures have been encountered that were of' notable strength . 

Diamond drilling parallel to the 2 drift has failecl to disclose 

neArby veins to date . 

BRU~!SWICK UNIT : 

490L-34D continues to c.evelop favorably with a stringery vein 

that samules well . The 63~ vein,nowever, has pinched out and no ore 

was developed here in the last month . 

5~0L- 16D- 5R connected to the 1 crosscut at the ~901 and soon 

#1 crosscut may be resumed to the quartz drilled in the Unian Hill 

block . From the 5SOL-4D a vein, perhaps tne 3 vein, was cored in 

a drill hole pointed towar d the footwall . The vein was twenty 

inches wide and sampled well so we are starting a crosscut to 

develop it furtner . 5~0L- 636D broke up in a stringer zone just 

across the 2 vein . The 602D was started along the 2 vein , swinging 

under t11e Old Brunswick "Anticline II stopes . A short shoot of goocl 

ore has been developed in the 602D. 

670L-60lD and a #1 crosscut into the han£;ing wall was started 

near the 1D- 5R, A considerable volume of quartz has been developed 

in tnis zone . 'fwo branches of t:r~a #1 vein and another vein which 

is nrobably the #2 vein , have entered tne pict~re . The hanging 

wall crosscut will develop the 34 vein which earlier was nroved by 

drill cores . 

750L-2D has been driven from the intermediate level on the 32 

vein and is nearing the Junction ~1th the 36 vein, near the 6-3 

structure . Tne ore has been narrow but we hope that a drive to the 

- 3 -



north on the 36 vein ~ill be productive and will lead across the 

#6 and #28 veins . 

700L-4D and 604 Dare being started . By driving 6o4D, 

turning along the 7 vein to the so called 11 s.1icide raise" we will 

OJen up a useful intermedi8te level . 

At SOO elevation, a drive to the 42 vein failed to encounter 

the 42 vein but developed a good branch of 4 vein which is 

leading to~ard the 22 vein . Stopes from 900 level show a good 

ore shoot is ahead , From thi s general position a number of veins 

may be developed . 

900L- 3XC encountered the 19 vein and we turned a drift 

westward a lone; it . Gold has been seen and excellent samoles taken 

from the narrow vein quartz . 900L- 7XC is continuing in hard 

norphyrite and gabbro near the contact with tne serpenti ne mass . 

llo mineralization has appeared in the course ot this drive , 

With the reopening of the New Brunswick Shaft , develonment 

of the lower levels is under way again . The 1300L-15D and 615n 

has been driven almost continl.1ously during the p eriod w::-ien most 

of the lower l evels were inactive . In the last month both of 

these headings have been barren . Owing to the eA-ploratory nature 

of this work the 15 drift snould be continued beyond showings of 

ore . 

14501-lD has been resumed in u program to develop the 

do~nward extension of 1, vein as Tiell as the ~ood shoot of ore 

that may lie at the east end of 1 vein . 
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23001- 32D has follo•.•.red a '.1.'ide quartz vein of rather low 

ass3.y value . It is now branching £,nd ,,e know from a drill hole 

a few hundred feet ahe.qd that several good. veins lie aheaa. . The 

2300L- 4XC reached the Brunswick 28 vein Rnd found it widening at 

the east side. It is a good solid vein and drifts will be 

collared on it before the crosscut is advanced to the additional 

veins known to lie ahead from drilling . 

GRASS VALLEY BULLIOL ur,:IT : 

Development of the 5 vein on 1500 level continued through 

the month and into the first week of December, wnen an order from 

the San Francisco office terminated development at this mine . The 

5 vein has showed only poorly in our work to date . Up to half an 

inch of gouge and one to four inches of vein carbonate and chlorite 

is all that has been developed . Considerable water passed from 

the structure , however , and there is little doubt but tri..at this 

correlates with the vein containing the ore shoot at the surface . 

In a ll probability further development ,•rould reach this shoot which , 

insofar as we know , is only a small one . Advance in the Allison 

Ranch Tunnel v,as commenced and it will be driven to the Great 

Eastern vein , which snould lie only a few hundred feet ahead . 

Engineering Department 
December 9 , 1941 . 
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Aueu,rt. 2a,d, 1949 

I vi to ccknoul • . ~pt ot JO'Ul" letter of July 12tJ1, 
1949 to tho ~ c'9oyle option n.rnrrae~tt.. 

tJ.ve to tho 

"• 
(2) i'ho u:Jrcl "conta1n1n-c'• ould inoortod • . 

(3) tt %CO t.inc thOJ' ·-~ • 

(4) - Afire • 

(;) 1n90l"tion ot i«>rd 11 to'l- • 

(6) Insertion ot word " on o.ftor "roci111· - A • 

(7) Insort1..,n of for rood purpo 
• 

(8) 

(9) Cost of GUf'VOY• • mst cort.ru.nly :0ul.d not. incur tho 
cost of aurtac eurvey ch s this ia t this t.1.mo excopt for th 
purpo:: tor ich it. 1 ng used. liin~nvt'!1"1 I wmld ot • curt, e4Ch aide 

ono-hul.t of the oost in o t th tter bo ettlocl. 
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"r. • L . 011 .. 2 4-: 22nd, 1949 
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to to 

(16) I 
... .__,...,.,t uhich tMnt:,u-,: 
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:Ii 
cc: 
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est thut it b 

GP!NiC1Zle1'11:. wit..lJ Ho£ , vi 
th 8 project. 

. 
olfftiiNAl SfGNED b1 
KEIL O'DONNELL1 ,. 

RATl • 
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Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1973

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Centennial Site
10350 Centennial Drive
Grass Valley, CA 95945
Rise Gold Corp.

TP, Grass Valley, 1973, 7.5-minute

7387294 2 12
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Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1973

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Brunswick Industrial Site
East Bennett Rd
Grass Valley, CA 95945
Holdrege & Kull Consultants

TP, Grass Valley, 1973, 7.5-minute
E, Chicago Park, 1973, 7.5-minute

5940744 4 9
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Idaho-Maryland Vested Right Petition

Rise Grass Valley Inc.

PO Box 271

Grass Valley, California, USA 95945

Overview of Vested Area

Sheet 2

Showing parcels and land transfersRise Grass Valley - September  1st 2023

SCALE 5,000 ft

LEGEND

Vested subsurface mineral estate

(Owned by Rise and owned by Idaho Maryland

Mines Corporation on Vesting Date

Vested surface estate

(Owned by Rise and owned by Idaho Maryland

Mines Corporation on Vesting Date

Surface land retained in 1959

 (Surface Land totaling 78.5 acres retained

Idaho Maryland Mines Corporation in 1959 for

mining purposes)

M. Ghidotti purchased

two parcels in 1976

Bet Acres Lot 8

Sold to Bohemia in 1988

Bet Acres Lots 1-5

Sold in 1988 / 1989

Morehouse Lot

Sold in 1993

Surface land purchased in 1964

 (William and Marion Ghidotti purchased

surface land that was sold to Sum-Gold  by

Idaho Maryland Mines Corporation in 1959)

Bet Acres Lots 6 & 7
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5940744.8

1984

= 625'
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5940744.8

1987

= 625'

Subject boundary not shown because it exceeds image extent or image is not georeferenced.



EXHIBIT 347 

   



Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1995

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Centennial Site
10350 Centennial Drive
Grass Valley, CA 95945
Rise Gold Corp.

TP, Grass Valley, 1995, 7.5-minute

7387294 2 11
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Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1995

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Brunswick Industrial Site
East Bennett Rd
Grass Valley, CA 95945
Holdrege & Kull Consultants

TP, Grass Valley, 1995, 7.5-minute

5940744 4 8
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Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1998

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Centennial Site
10350 Centennial Drive
Grass Valley, CA 95945
Rise Gold Corp.

TP, Grass Valley, 1998, 7.5-minute

7387294 2 10
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